
 

 

 

AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

PLANNING COMMISSION – REGULAR MEETING 

June 10, 2019 7PM 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

2. PUBLIC REMARKS 

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES   

A. May 13, 2019 Regular Meeting 

B. May 20, 2019 Regular Meeting 

 

5. COMMUNICATIONS – listed separate page 

 

 6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC), rezone approximately 96.74 

acres located on the north side of Bennett Road, east of Hagadorn Road 

from RR (Rural Residential) and RAAA (Single Family-Low Density) to RA 

(Single Family-Medium Density) with conditions. 

B. Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation), establish 

private school in existing church at 3654 Okemos Road. 

C. Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), 

construct office building at 2827 Eyde Parkway. 

D. Special Use Permit #19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), construct office 

building greater than 25,000 square feet in size at 2827 Eyde Parkway.  

 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

A. Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034 (Meridian Township Parks 

Department), establish Marketplace on the Green/Farmers’ Market on the 

south side of Central Park Drive, west of Marsh Road. 

B. Special Use Permit #19031 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), develop 9,316 

square foot shopping center with drive-through window at 2085 Grand 

River Avenue. 

C. Special Use Permit #19071 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), work in floodplain 

to construct shopping center at 2085 Grand River Avenue. 

 

8. OTHER BUSINESS  

A. None. 

 

9. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCMENTS 

 A. Township Board update. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



AGENDA page 2 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

June 10, 2019 7:00 pm 

 

Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact: Principal Planner Peter Menser, 5151 Marsh Road, 

Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4576 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

10. PROJECT UPDATES 

A. New Applications 

1. Wetland Use Permit #19-02 (Meridian Township Parks 

Department), fill in regulated wetland to construct trail at 1990 

Central Park Drive. 

2. Special Use Permit #19061 (Meridian Township Parks 

Department), work in floodplain to construct trail at 1990 Central 

Park Drive. 

3. Prepreliminary Plat #19012 (Giguere), conceptual review of 

Sanctuary 3 plat on Robins Way. 

 

B. Site Plans Received 

1. Site Plan Review #19-07 (Singh), convert garage to single family 

residence and install parking lot at 1954 Saginaw Highway. 

2. Site Plan Review #19-08 (Haslett Holding LLC), develop Copper 

Creek planned unit development consisting of 88 single family 

residential lots on  44.470 acres located on the north side of Haslett 

Road, east of Creekwood Lane. 

 

C. Site Plans Approved – None  

 

11. PUBLIC REMARKS 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

13. POST SCRIPT: DAVID PREMOE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



AGENDA page 3 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

June 10, 2019 7:00 pm 

 

Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact: Principal Planner Peter Menser, 5151 Marsh Road, 

Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4576 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

TENTATIVE PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

June 24, 2019 

  

1. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Special Use Permit #19-99021 (Williams Volkswagen, Inc.), amend special 

use permit for new car dealership for building addition at 2186 Jolly Road. 

B. Special Use Permit #19041 (Williams Volkswagen, Inc.), construct building 

greater than 25,000 square feet in size at Jolly Road.  

 

2. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

A. Special Use Permit #19031 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), develop 9,316 

square foot shopping center with drive-through window at 2085 Grand 

River Avenue. 

B. Special Use Permit #19071 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), work in floodplain 

to construct shopping center at 2085 Grand River Avenue. 

C. Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC), rezone approximately 96.74 

acres located on the north side of Bennett Road, east of Hagadorn Road 

from RR (Rural Residential) and RAAA (Single Family-Low Density) to RA 

(Single Family-Medium Density) with conditions. 

D. Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation), establish 

private school in existing church at 3654 Okemos Road. 

E. Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), 

construct office building at 2827 Eyde Parkway. 

F. Special Use Permit #19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), construct office 

building greater than 25,000 square feet in size at 2827 Eyde Parkway.  

  

 3. OTHER BUSINESS 

  A. None. 



 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

PLANNING COMMISSION  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

May 13, 2019 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864-1198 

517-853-4560, Town Hall Room, 7:00 P.M. 

 

PRESENT: Commissioners Lane, Scott-Craig, Hendrickson, Trezise, Cordill, Premoe, and 

Shrewsbury 

ABSENT: Commissioner Richards 

STAFF:  Director of Community Planning & Development Mark Kieselbach, Principal 

Planner Peter Menser, and Economic Development Director Chris Buck. 

 

1.    Call meeting to order 

 
Chair Scott-Craig called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  

 
2.  Public Remarks  
 
A. James Spanos, 4648 Nakoma Drive, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
B. Barbara White, 2252 Hamilton Road, spoke with concerns of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
C. Kadri Wichman, 2236 Hamilton Road, spoke with concerns of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
D. Indrek Wichman, 2236 Hamilton Road, spoke with concerns of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
E. Tim Potter, 4632 Van Atta Road, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
F. Wei Li, 2565 Sophiea Parkway, spoke in opposition to the Zoning Ordinance #19030. 
G. Lynne Page, 3912 Raleigh Drive, expressed appreciation to Planning Commission efforts 

regarding Zoning Ordinance #19030 and expressed disappointment in the Township Board 
decision. 

H. Marna Wilson, 4545 Chippewa Drive, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit 
Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 

I. Jeanne Hendry, 4674 Nakoma Drive, spoke in concern regarding Mixed Use Planned Unit 
Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 

J. Cindy Liu, 1575 Maiden Lane, spoke in opposition to the Zoning Ordinance #19030. 
K. Gene Turnwald, 5586 White Ash, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
L. Elliot Welch, 2223 Hamilton, spoke in opposition regarding Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
 
3.  Approval of Agenda 

 

Commissioner Premoe moved to approve the agenda as written. 
Seconded by Commissioner Hendrickson.    
VOICE VOTE: Motion approved unanimously.  

DRAFT 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 13, 2019 

Page 2 
 

4.  Approval of Minutes 

 

A. April 22, 2019 Regular Meeting  
 
Commissioner Trezise moved to approve the minutes as written. 
Seconded by Commissioner Hendrickson. 
VOICE VOTE:  Motion approved unanimously.  
 
5.  Communications  
 
Chair Scott-Craig noted approximately forty-five communications had been received. 
 

6.  Public Hearings  
 
A. Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 (Village of Okemos, LLC), construct Village of 

Okemos mixed use project at Okemos Road/Hamilton Road. 
 
B. Special Use Permit #19051 (Village of Okemos, LLC), construct group of buildings greater 

than 25,000 square feet in size at Okemos Road/Hamilton Road. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig opened the public hearing at 7:47P.M. 
 
Principal Planner Menser provided a summary of the combined requests. 
 
Will Randle, 4409 Dobie Road, True North Developer provided an overview of the proposal and 
introduced some of the consultants working on the project who were in attendance for the meeting.   
 
Greg Presley, Lead Architect with Hobbs & Black Architects of Northville, provided an overview of 
the proposed development.   
 
Haley Wolfe with MKSK Studios provided an overview of the landscape plans. 
 
The traffic engineer with Hubbell, Roth & Clark Inc, provided an overview of the traffic impact 
studies to support the development and intersection improvements. 
 
Public Comments: 
 
Ann Alchin, 5972 Cypress, spoke in opposition to regarding Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 
#19024 and spoke about the Downtown Development Authority. 
 
Vance Poquette, 2226 Kent, spoke in opposition regarding Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 
#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
 
Jeanne Hendry, 4674 Nakoma Drive, expressed concern over the height and magnitude of the 
proposed structures. 
 
Kadri Wichman, 2236 Hamilton Road, asked if a scale model could be made for residents to view. 
She also expressed concern over the height of the building and stated five stories are too high. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 13, 2019 

Page 3 
 

Hella Wichman, 2236 Hamilton Road, asked if walkability only related to the residents of the 
 proposed development. 
 
Barbara White, 252 Hamilton Road, asked who the target market would be for the proposed 
development.  Ms. White asked about the future bus route for CATA.  She also commented on  
the increase of traffic and noise over the years. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion included the following: 
 

• The developers were complimented for their creative and thought out plans. 

• The community was thanked for attending the meeting and sharing feedback.   

• Mr. Randal was asked if the Capital Area Transportation Authority would operate on Hamilton 
Road and was told it would only run on Okemos Road.   

• They asked for clarification regarding what road improvements would be made during the 
initial proposed development. 

• The proposed project would create many jobs and would have many economic advantages to 
Meridian Township.  The residents of Meridian Township are reminded to voice their opinions 
through various forms of communication available because the Planning Commission does 
review before making decisions. 

• The developer was asked to talk about the environmental benefits that will happen as a result 
of the project and Eric Helzer with A.R.S. Consultants provided an overview of the 
redevelopment clean-up.  The total estimated cost for the cleanup activities would be $7.1 
million. 

• The developer was asked if they could provide 3D graphics for the next meeting so it would be 
easier to visualize the project as it is being discussed.  Mr. Randal mentioned they plan to 
provide a scale model of the proposal for the Township Board meeting but would be happy to 
provide graphics for the next Planning Commission meeting on May 20, 2019.  He also noted if 
the Planning Commissioners have specific questions for the consultant team it would be helpful 
if they could be sent to him in writing so they could be answered in detail. 

 
A straw poll indicated the Planning Commission would be in favor of recommending approval of 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051 at the next meeting. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig closed the public hearing at 9:18 P.M. 
 
C. Special Use Permit #19081 (Delta Dental), work in floodplain to construct deck at 4100. 

Okemos Road. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig opened the public hearing at 9:28 P.M. 
 
Principal Planner Menser provided a summary of the request. 
 
Andrew Parin, Landscape Architect, with Grissim, Metz, & Andriese, provided an overview of the 
project and said he was available to answer questions. 
 
Public Comments:  None 
 
A straw poll indicated the Planning Commission would be in favor of recommending approval of 
Special Use Permit #19081. 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 13, 2019 

Page 4 
 

Chair Scott-Craig closed the public hearing at 9:39 P.M. 
 
D. Special Use Permit #19031 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), develop shopping center with 

drive-through window at 2085 Grand River Avenue. 
 
E. Special Use Permit #19071 (Okemos Retail Mgmt. LLC), work in floodplain to construct 

shopping center at 2085 Grand River Avenue. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig opened the public hearing at 9:40 P.M. 
 
Principal Planner Menser provided a summary of the request. 
 
Gabe Schutnam and Heather Henika from AIRIG USA provided an overview of the proposed project. 
They noted the prior project they worked on in the Township was done ten years ago and is located 
on the Northwest Corner of Grand River and Okemos Road (Pet Supply Plus complex). 
 
David Pierson, on behalf of the applicant, Okemos Retail Management L.L.C., discussed the proposal 
and said he was available to answer questions. 
 
Jeff Kyes, KEBS, INC., discussed the floodplain proposed plans and reviewed the non-motorized 
access plans.  
 
Public Comments:  None 
 
Planning Commission Discussion included the following: 
 

• Mr. Kyes was asked about the cut needed for the floodplain or basin and if there might be a 
safety concern for pedestrians if accessed and he noted the access will not interfere with the 
detention area.  The area will be mow able and maintained basin will be surrounded by 
appropriate vegetation.  

• Pedestrian safety concerns were mentioned and Mr. Kyes was asked if someone were to cut 
through the area and if fencing should be considered.  Mr. Kyes said a natural barrier such as 
tall grasses or hedges would look better and be a more natural buffer.  There would also be a 
10-12 feet between the sidewalk and the floodplain area. 

• Traffic concerns were discussed for the area and how the proposed project might further 
impact the situation.  . 

• The number of business drive-thru windows in the immediate area is causing increased safety 
issues and traffic congestion.   

• A traffic engineer was suggested to be invited to attend the May 20, 2019 meeting for further 
discussion 

 
Chair Scott-Craig closed the public hearing at 10:21 P.M. 
 
7.  Unfinished Business - None 
 
 
 
 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 13, 2019 

Page 5 
 

8. Other Business 

 

A. Haslett Feasibility Study 
 
Chris Buck, Economic Development Director, spoke about commercial redevelopment in the Haslett 
area.  As a result of the Redevelopment Ready Committee Certification, funds were made available 
to conduct a study (up to $25,000) to collect pre-development data the Township would own to 
learn what businesses would be best suited for the Haslett area.  Director Buck noted the study 
results should be available in September.   
 
9. Township Board, Planning Commission Officer, Committee Chair, and staff comments or 

reports 

 

Commissioner Hendrickson provided an update from attending the April 24, 2019 Corridor 
Improvement Authority meeting. 
 
Commissioner Premoe provided an update from attending the Environmental Commission meeting 
on May 1, 2019. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig provided an update from attending the May 2, 2019 Economic Development 
Committee meeting and also reminded everyone the ground breaking for the new farmer’s market 
(Marketplace on the Green) will be May 22, 2019 and encouraged the Planning Commissioners to 
attend. 
 
10.  Project Updates 

 

A. New Applications – None 
B. Site Plans Received - None 
C. Site Plans Approved 

1. Site Plan Review #18-95-14 (Lansing Mart Associates LLC), parking lot 
reconfiguration at 2020 Grand River Avenue. 

2. Site Plan Review #19-05 (Fedewa Holdings), construct 13 unit townhouse complex 
comprised of two buildings totaling 18,955 square feet at 1730 Chief Okemos Circle. 

 
11.  Public Remarks - None 
 
12.  Adjournment 
 

Chair Scott-Craig moved to adjourn the meeting. 
Supported by all. 
VOICE VOTE: Motion carried unanimously.   
 
Chair Scott-Craig adjourned the regular meeting at 10:28 P.M. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Debbie Budzynski  
Recording Secretary 



 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

PLANNING COMMISSION  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

May 20, 2019 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864-1198 

517-853-4560, Town Hall Room, 7:00 P.M. 

 

PRESENT: Commissioners Lane, Scott-Craig, Hendrickson, Trezise, Richards, Premoe, 

and Shrewsbury 

ABSENT: Commissioner Cordill 

STAFF:  Director of Community Planning & Development Mark Kieselbach, Principal 

Planner Peter Menser, and Economic Development Director Chris Buck. 

 

1.    Call meeting to order 

 
Chair Scott-Craig called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  

 
2.  Public Remarks  
 
A. Bill Cawood, 2511 Raby Road, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
B. Ann Alchin, 5972  Cypress, spoke in opposition to the  Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024. 
C. Neil Bowlby, 6020 Beechwood, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034. 
D. Lora Pence, 4836 Kenmore, spoke with concerns of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
E. Don Romain, 5420 Jo Pass, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
F. Chaz Carrillo, 5201 Hughes Road, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 

#19024 and Special Use Permit #19051. 
G. Vance Poquette, 2226 Kent, spoke with concerns of Special Use Permit #19051. 
H. Jeanne Hendry, 4674 Nakoma Drive, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051 but expressed some concerns. 
I. Kadri Wichman, 2236 Hamilton Road, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 and Special Use Permit #19051 but expressed some concerns. 
J. Bob Homan, 1571 West Pond Drive, spoke in support of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19024 
 
3.  Approval of Agenda 

 

Commissioner Premoe moved to approve the agenda as written. 
Seconded by Commissioner Trezise.    
VOICE VOTE: Motion approved unanimously.  
 

4.  Approval of Minutes 

 

A. May 13, 2019 Regular Meeting minutes were not available. 

DRAFT 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 20, 2019 

Page 2 
 

5.  Communications  
 
Chair Scott-Craig noted the communications listed on the agenda and the several communications 
that were received after the packet was sent out . 
 

6.  Public Hearings  
 
A. Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034 (Meridian Township Parks Department), 

establish Marketplace on the Green/Farmers’ Market on the south side of Central Park 
Drive, west of Marsh Road. 

 
Chair Scott-Craig opened the public hearing at 7:29P.M. 
 
Principal Planner Menser provided a summary of the request. 
 
The applicant, LuAnn Maisner, Director of Parks & Recreation with Meridian Township provided 
the historical background of the Farmers Market and explained the vision for the future 
Marketplace on the Green. 
 
Public Comments - NONE 
 
Planning Commission Discussion included the following: 
 

• The cost of the project is $1.2 Million and all the funding is currently in place. 

• The setup for vendors in the new Marketplace on the Green was explained when questions 
were asked.  There would be 41 back-in spaces for vendors with trailers and approximately 30 
additional areas for vendors to set up under the pavilion. 

• Traffic access routes to the new Marketplace on the Green were discussed and Mr. Kyes 
explained the access would be all existing routes via near Studio C, Marsh Road, Central Park 
Drive, through Best Buy, and around the Meridian Mall.   

• Pedestrian traffic was a concern discussed and in addition to the Road Diet planned for Central 
Park Drive Mr. Kyes will work with the Ingham County Road Commission on a pedestrian 
pathway and signage to address the safety concerns. 

  
A straw poll indicated the Planning Commission would be in favor of recommending approval of the 
Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034 at the next meeting. 
 
Chair Scott-Craig closed the public hearing at 9:50 P.M. 
 
7.  Unfinished Business  
 
A. Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 (Village of Okemos, LLC), construct Village of 

Okemos mixed use project at Okemos Road/Hamilton Road. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Trezise to adopt the resolution recommending approval of Mixed Use 
Planned Unit Development #19024. 
Supported by Commissioner Lane. 
 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 20, 2019 

Page 3 
 

Planning Commission Discussion included the following: 
 

• The developer was thanked for addressing additional questions that were submitted in writing. 
A document was created with all of the responses and is available on the Meridian Township 
Website. 

• There was further discussion regarding traffic flow and upgrades during the different phases of 
the project.  The Ingham County Road Commission continues to work with the traffic engineers. 

• Details are not finalized yet but there is no planned closure on Okemos Road at this time just 
lane shifts.  Stage 1 construction is expected to begin June 1, 2019-July 31, 2019. 

• Parking is still an area of concern considering having 150 spaces below what the ordinance 
requires.  The developer stated the ultimate use will be determined and then adjustments will 
be made. 

• It has not been determined yet if the power lines will reside above or be buried underground. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 
YEAS: Commissioners Trezise, Lane, Premoe, Shrewsbury, Hendrickson, Richards and Scott-Craig. 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED: 7-0 
 
B. Special Use Permit #19051 (Village of Okemos, LLC), construct group of buildings greater 

than 25,000 square feet in size at Okemos Road/Hamilton Road. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Premoe to adopt the resolution to approve Special Use Permit #19051. 
Supported by Commissioner Hendrickson. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 
YEAS: Commissioners Premoe, Hendrickson, Richards, Shrewsbury, Lane, Trezise and Scott-Craig. 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED: 7-0 
 
C. Special Use Permit #19081 (Delta Dental), work in floodplain to construct deck at 4100 

Okemos Road. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Shrewsbury to approve Special Use Permit #19081. 
Supported by Commissioner Premoe. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 
YEAS: Commissioners Shrewsbury, Premoe, Trezise, Lane, Hendrickson, Richards and Scott-Craig. 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED: 7-0 
 
8. Other Business -None 

 
 

 

 

 

 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes  
May 20, 2019 

Page 4 
 

9. Township Board, Planning Commission Officer, Committee Chair, and staff comments or 

reports 

 
Commissioner Hendrickson asked if the Planning Commission should reconsider projects if they are 
changed from their original version and then proposed to the Township Board.  A recent project was 
not approved by the Planning Commission and changes have been made that reflect the input 
provided by the Planning Commission.   
 
Commissioner Shrewsbury noted it might be beneficial if there are substantial changes but it could 
also slow down the process if a review is needed again before going to the Township Board. 
 
Commissioner Lane stated the ordinance provision is written specifically for a good reason and it 
should not be changed. 
 
Principal Planner Menser noted there is training available provided by the Michigan Association of 
Planning in Mason on June 18th and June 25th and asked members that were interested in attending 
contact him. 
 
10.  Project Updates 

 

A. New Applications – None 
B. Site Plans Received - None 
C. Site Plans Approved - None 
 
11.  Public Remarks - None 
 
12.  Adjournment 
 

Chair Scott-Craig moved to adjourn the meeting. 
Supported by all. 
VOICE VOTE: Motion carried unanimously.   
 
Chair Scott-Craig adjourned the regular meeting at 8:42 P.M. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Debbie Budzynski  
Recording Secretary 



Communications 

Meridian Township Planning Commission – Monday, June 10, 2019 

 

1. Haarish Tekchandani RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

2. Rachael Young RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

3. Chuck Maniaci RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

4. Bob & Connie Nelson RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

5. Yangfan Liu RE: medical marihuana 

6. Chelsea Yao RE: medical marihuana 

7. Haarish Tekchandani RE: medical marihuana 

8. Mike Nevells RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

9. Holly Zhu RE: medical marihuana 

10. Tim Potter RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

11. Scott Weaver RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

12. Dianne Knepshield Deans RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

13. Don Romain RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

14. Marna Wilson RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

15. Yingxin Zhou RE: medical marihuana 

16. Lev Raphael RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

17. Candy Parker RE: Rezoning #19060 

18. Tom & Lora Pence RE: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19024 

19. Loren & Jessica Darling RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

20. Scott Fairmont RE: Rezoning #19060 

21. Jeff Jacobsen & Lisa Duffey RE: Rezoning #19060 

22. Jessica Darling RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

23. James & Carla Galligan RE: Rezoning #19060 

24. Alex & Chetta Johnson RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

25. Anu RE: Rezoning #19060 

26. Yingxin Zhou RE: medical marihuana 

27. Patrick Murphy RE: Rezoning #19060 

28. Janet Lawatsch RE: Rezoning #19060 

29. Dongman Choi & Hyeon Park RE: Rezoning #19060 

30. Jim Rundquist RE: Rezoning #19060 

31. Terry & Dawn Gawel RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

32. Gerry & Connie Broski RE: Rezoning #19060 

33. Tom & Martha Rand RE: Rezoning #19060 

34. Champion Woods Condo Association Board RE: Rezoning #19060 

35. Zhiheng Bi & Xiamei Xu RE: Rezoning #19060 

36. Matthew & Emery Dingee RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

37. Debra & David Gift RE: Rezoning #19060 



Planning Commission communications 

Monday, June 10, 2019 

Page 2 

 

38. Timothy Peng RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

39. Emma Setterington RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 

40. Jk Mir RE: Rezoning #19060 

41. Joyce Wiesinger RE: Rezoning #19060 

42. Earl Wiesinger RE: Rezoning #19060 

43. Yingxin Zhou RE: Rezoning #19060 

44. Yue Cui RE: Rezoning #19060 

45. Scott & Gwen Hummel RE: Special Use Permit #19-95151 



1

Peter Menser

From: Harish Tekchandani <harisht@comcast.net>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 9:48 AM

To: Frank Walsh; Peter Menser

Cc: Chris Buck

Subject: Re: Village of Okemos project (support)

Good Morning Mr Menser, Mr. Walsh and the Planning Committee; 

I wasn’t able to attend last Monday’s planning commission meeting where the new “Downtown Okemos” 

development was presented.  However, I’d like to express my support for the project, which will finally move 

us forward in the redevelopment of the corner of Okemos and Hamilton Roads. 

The development company (True North Development) have been very open and willing to meet with any 

neighborhood group to solicit input (and to gain support) about their project, including those in the Cedar Bend 

area who live in close proximity to the development.  

There have been several meetings to show the proposed development plan and all of their suggestions and 

comments have been incorporated. 

 Proposed development also takes care of the EPA concerns – soil contamination. 

This is a positive benefit of accomplishing this right away. 

Changes have been made to their proposed plan as they gathered input from Meridian Township 

residents. While I anticipate frustrating north/south Okemos Road and east/west Hamilton Road (west side of 

Okemos Rd) traffic flow while the project is under construction, it should prove to be very worthwhile for our 

community once it’s complete. 

All of our neighbors, friends who live in Okemos are very excited and have expressed their unconditional 

acceptance and happiness with the development. 

They all are excited and in fact several of them can not wait to take their grand kids to the down town. 

Proposed development will improve traffic flow. 

True North Development have listened to and have incorporated recommendations from neighbors and 

residents of our township.   

Please know there are many township residents who are looking forward to the new development. 

Sincerely, 

Haarish Tekchandani 

4183 Naubinway Road 

Okemos, MI  48864 



1

Peter Menser

From: Rachael Young <rachkost@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 9:25 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Project Support

 

Good morning, 

 

My name is Rachael Young and I am a citizen in the Okemos community.  I am writing in support of the 

new project for downtown Okemos. While we do live in a lovely area, I feel like it is lacking personality, 

beauty, and community.   

I grew up in Northville, a small town northwest of Detroit. I always loved the character of Northville, the 

small-town image it encompasses. I feel as though Okemos could greatly benefit from a“downtown” .  It 

could support local businesses and provide much needed jobs.  

 

From an outsider’s perspective, the city planning process seems relatively simple: create a walkable non-

branded retail center with attractive open green space. Include a city hall and small office spaces as 

needed. Encourage restaurants with large open patios, art stores with window displays, and support 

independent coffee shops.  

 

In conclusion, it’s all about community. We need change, and I look forward to seeing what the future of 

this project holds for Okemos.  

 

Thank you,  

Rachael Young  

 

Sent from my iPhone 



1

Peter Menser

From: Chuck Maniaci <chuckmaniaci@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 1:33 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG); Frank Walsh; Peter Menser

Cc: Chris Buck

Subject: Village of Okemos project (support)

Hello Mr Menser, Mr. Walsh and the Planning Committee; 

I wasn’t able to attend last Monday’s planning commission meeting where the new “Downtown Okemos” development 

was presented.  However,  I’d like to express my support for the project, which will finally move us forward in the 

redevelopment of the corner of Okemos and Hamilton Roads. 

 

The development company (True North Development) seems to have been very open and willing to meet with any 

neighborhood group to solicit input (and to gain support) about their project, including those in the Cedar Bend area 

who live in close proximity to the development.  Changes have been made to their proposed plan as they gathered input 

from Meridian Township residents.    While I anticipate frustrating north/south Okemos Road and east/west Hamilton 

Road (west side of Okemos Rd) traffic flow while the project is under construction, it should prove to be very worthwhile 

for our community once it’s complete. 

 

All of the neighbors I’ve talked to in Sundance Estates and elsewhere in Okemos are excited to hear a development is 

finally coming forward for consideration.  Most were not aware of the specifics because the LSJ article had not yet been 

published, but they looked forward to having some retail, restaurant and housing (but no housing that would attract 

college students – there is already an abundance being built along Grand River) brought to this area. 

 

Please know there are many township residents who are looking forward to the new development. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

CHUCK MANIACI 

2553 Sundance Lane 

Okemos, MI  48864 

517-256-9099 

chuckmaniaci@gmail.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1

Peter Menser

From: Meridian Township, MI <meridian-mi@enotify.visioninternet.com>

Sent: Friday, May 17, 2019 5:58 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Downtown plans

Message submitted from the <Meridian Township, MI> website. 

 

Site Visitor Name: Bob and Connie Nelson 

Site Visitor Email: bobconnie1528@gmail.com  

 

We were very pleased to see the front page article in Wednesday's LSJ concerning the proposed developement 

for downtown Okemos. It's wonderful to see something modern and exciting being presented to our township 

and downtown Okemos. The article mentioned some residents are concerned that "taller buildings don't fit the 

family oriented feel of the neighborhood." Does anyone think the vacant, run down buildings there now fit the 

family oriented feel? We sure don't. And, we don't believe a slightly longer travel time thru the downtown area 

would not be a problem, especially with the mentioned road changes. So, we heartily support moving forward 

with the project. Thank you. Bob and Connie Nelson, Okemos 



1

Peter Menser

From: Yangfan (Phoebe) Liu <liu.yangfan@gmail.com>

Sent: Friday, May 17, 2019 4:41 PM

To: Board; Peter Menser

Cc: yuying xie

Subject: Medical marijuana dispensary density

Attachments: medical marijuana dispensary density.xlsx

Dear members of the Township Board and Planning Commission, 

 

Medical marijuana facilities have been discussed for a while in both commission meetings and board meetings. 

The original proposal was 6 dispensaries plus others, Commissioner Premoe recommended limiting the 

number of facilities to 1 or 2, the commission agreed on 4, and then in last board meeting, the dispensary 

number was back to 6. I wonder what was the data and evidence behind all these numbers and changes. I 

went on did some research and would like to share the results with you. 

 

As you can see in my attachment, I looked at the density of medical marijuana dispensaries in 9 states, based on 

data from medicalmarijuana.procon.org. Three states (California, Colorado, and Hawaii) where medical 

marijuana was legalized first in the US are all included, based on the assumption that they have enough time to 

approve enough dispensaries to meet patient needs. Based on the number of patients in Meridian Township and 

the size of the town, we need 0.01 ~ 1.34 provision centers to meet the average density in 8 states (Colorado 

was not included as a statistical outlier) or to meet the average density in Michigan. 

 

Besides, the ratio of grower : processor : dispensary is 14:6:20 in Michigan. With fewer than 1.34 dispensaries, 

we don't need any grower or processor facilities, as Commissioner Premoe suggested. 

 

Therefore, my research shows that Commissioner Premoe's recommendation is most professional and 

evidence-based. As residents of the township, I and my family strongly hope the Township Board can respect 

the evidence and the professional recommendation from the Planning Commission. If you have any different 

opinions, please also provide your evidence. Decisions based on solid data are the best for all the residents, all 

the patients, as well as all the commission and board members. 

 

Thanks. 

 

Best, 

 

Yangfan Liu 

Yuying Xie 

2165 Long Leaf Trl, Okemos, MI 48864 

 

 



State

Pass of 

Medical 

Marijuana 

Bill

Pass of 

Recreational 

Marijuana 

Bill

Registered 

Patients

Estimated 

Number of 

Dispesarie

s

Size of State 

(Square Miles)

Number of 

Dispensaries per 

1000 Patients

Number of 

Dispensaries per 

1000 Square Miles note

California 1996 2016 915,845 261 155,973 0.28 1.67

Colorado 2000 2012 88,946 503 103,730 5.66 4.85 statistical outlier

Hawaii 2000 n/a 21,004 8 6,423 0.38 1.25

Vermont 2004 n/a 5,313 5 9,249 0.94 0.54 4 out of 4 offer state-wide home delivery

New Mexico 2007 n/a 52,260 30 121,365 0.57 0.25 application closed for additional dispensaries

Michigan 2008 2018 269,553 20 56,539 0.07 0.35

Illinios 2013 n/a 21,800 29 55,593 1.33 0.52

Florida 2016 n/a 108,981 121 53,997 1.11 2.24

Pennsylvania 2016 n/a 37,000 47 44,820 1.27 1.05

Average w/o CO 0.75 0.98

Meridian

Registered 

Patients

Size of State 

(Square 

Miles)

Number of 

Dispensaries 

Estimated 

According to 

Patient 

Number

Number of 

Dispensari

es 

Estimated 

According 

to Area 

Size

1,791 30 1.34 0.03 Average w/o CO

0.13 0.01 MI

Growers Processors Dispensaries

Michigan 14 6 20



1

Peter Menser

From: Chengyin Yao <chengyiny@hotmail.com>

Sent: Friday, May 17, 2019 4:24 PM

To: Board; Peter Menser

Subject: Oppose Setting Up a Marijuana Store at the Jolly Road and Okemos Road in the City of 

Okemos

To whom it may concern, 

 

I would like to express my opinion about a possible marijuana store at the Jolly Road and Okemos road in 

the city of Okemos. The site is close to Okemos high school, middle schools and elementary schools and 

the opening of the store there would have negative effects on our children. I will be so disappointed for 

board members to vote yes to set up a store at this location. As a resident here I don’t think those 

members can represent us anymore, and so for next board election I will definitely not voting them. 

 

I talked with lots of my friends and some new immigrants in my neighborhood. They hold the same 

opinion as me. Some of them who didn't plan to apply for US citizenship just changed their mind. This is 

because they also would like to be able to vote out the members who support a marijuana store at the 

Jolly Road and Okemos road in the city of Okemos. 

 

Thank you for your time and help. 

 

Chelsea Yao 

2586 Lupine Drive 

Okemos, MI 48864 



1

Peter Menser

From: Harish Tekchandani <harisht@comcast.net>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 9:48 AM

To: Frank Walsh; Peter Menser

Cc: Chris Buck

Subject: Re: Village of Okemos project (support)

Good Morning Mr Menser, Mr. Walsh and the Planning Committee; 

I wasn’t able to attend last Monday’s planning commission meeting where the new “Downtown Okemos” 

development was presented.  However, I’d like to express my support for the project, which will finally move 

us forward in the redevelopment of the corner of Okemos and Hamilton Roads. 

The development company (True North Development) have been very open and willing to meet with any 

neighborhood group to solicit input (and to gain support) about their project, including those in the Cedar Bend 

area who live in close proximity to the development.  

There have been several meetings to show the proposed development plan and all of their suggestions and 

comments have been incorporated. 

 Proposed development also takes care of the EPA concerns – soil contamination. 

This is a positive benefit of accomplishing this right away. 

Changes have been made to their proposed plan as they gathered input from Meridian Township 

residents. While I anticipate frustrating north/south Okemos Road and east/west Hamilton Road (west side of 

Okemos Rd) traffic flow while the project is under construction, it should prove to be very worthwhile for our 

community once it’s complete. 

All of our neighbors, friends who live in Okemos are very excited and have expressed their unconditional 

acceptance and happiness with the development. 

They all are excited and in fact several of them can not wait to take their grand kids to the down town. 

Proposed development will improve traffic flow. 

True North Development have listened to and have incorporated recommendations from neighbors and 

residents of our township.   

Please know there are many township residents who are looking forward to the new development. 

Sincerely, 

Haarish Tekchandani 

4183 Naubinway Road 

Okemos, MI  48864 



1

Peter Menser

From: Mike Nevells <Mike.Nevells@gosolutions.net>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 11:54 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Okemos Village Development

 

The Okemos Masonic Center Association (OMCA), owner of property at 2775 Hamilton Road is required by the 

township to have 55 parking spaces for the property and uses the spaces for Masonic use and rental income. 

About 26 of the OMCA spaces are under easement for Douglas J Salon customer and client use during business 

hours. This easement was required by the township in 1999, is intended to be perpetual and assigns to the 

heirs, assigns and successors of the owners of the 4663 Ardmore Avenue property and OMCA property. The 

1999 agreement also granted OMCA easement rights to park in spaces on the 4663 Ardmore Ave. The 1999 

agreement was modified in 2018 granting OMCA easement parking rights 25 days per year and that the 

agreement could be terminated by either party if the other conveys the property.  

 

OMCA has concerns that not enough parking will be available under the current development plan to meet 

increased demand, that trespass on OMCA parking spaces willl occur, that there will be trespass on our 

easement right to park on the 4663 Ardmore property, that we will incur higher parking control cost, and that 

our rental income for both the Mssonic Center building and parking will be negatively impacted due to limited 

parking and trespass. 

 

OMCA requests the current development plan be modified to insure OMCA parking rights are protected on 

both the OMCA property and the 4663 Ardmore Ave property. 

 

OMCA hopes development can occur, that OMCA will not experience significant trespass on their parking 

rights, that OMCA will not incurr significant parking control costs, and that OMCA will not suffer significant lost 

income due to trespass. 

 

If OMCA incurs development expenses for controling parking trespass, we hope to obtain TIF relief to 

compensate. 

 

 

Mike Nevells 

President, PMCA 

 

 



1

Peter Menser

From: Holly Zhu <hfzhu2002@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 1:20 PM

To: Board; Peter Menser

Subject: Regarding the Marijuana Facilities

Dear Board Members, 

 

I respectfully request that the Board postpone the decision of opening the marijuana facilities in our community 

until a full survey will be conducted to understand the Okemos residents' position on this matter. 

 

In my personal opinion, it is somehow disappointing to learn that the current decision is leaning toward opening 

a number of them in the near future. I am completed opposed to it.  

 

Please consider this a serious request from a long-term Okemos resident, a US citizen, and a long-term state 

worker.  

 

Best regards, 

 

Holly 



1

Peter Menser

From: Tim Potter <flyingdutchman63@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 1:36 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Cc: Frank Walsh; Peter Menser; Chris Buck

Subject: Village of Okemos support

Dear Planning Commissioners, 

 

I'm writing to give my support to the proposed Village of Okemos project.  As I stated in person last Monday 

I've lived in Meridian Township since the late 60's and have also raised my family here, so I'm very familiar 

with the nature and history of the Township.   

 

I've traveled thru the township as a motorist and a bicyclist for all those years and have deep concern for the 

safety of both modes of travel in mind with respects to the future of this part of our township as well as the 

generations of residents to come.  From what I've seen of the developer's plans for the Village of Okemos 

redevelopment I believe it will make it safer for all residents and visitors to this part of Township no matter 

their mode of travel. 

 

I'd also like to commend the developer and his consultants for their proactive outreach to everyone in the 

community who cared to learn more and provide input.  This was particularly true with Mr. Randle forming a 

small group of residents from the Four Corner's Alliance Facebook group to meet regularly with his team in 

order to work through the many details to the benefit of our community.  I've been involved with many other 

development projects over the years as a concerned citizen and have never felt that the developers really cared 

as much about what residents are concerned about as Mr. Randle has.  It's been much appreciated and I believe 

has resulted in a much better project for our community as a result. 

 

Thank you for considering my comments. 

 

Tim Potter 

4632 Van Atta Rd. 

Okemos, MI 48864 

517-706-9244 

 

 
************************* 

MSU Bike Advisory Comm. member 
Mer. Twp. Transportation Commission member 

TCBA Advocacy Comm. member 

Ride of Silence webmaster 

LCI #5207 

 

Ride of Silence:  www.rideofsilence.org 

 

2019 Ride of Silence: Wed. May 15th, 7:00 PM  
One day. One time. One world, world wide. 

Let the silence roar.... The Ride of Silence 

 

The 2018 Ride of Silence 

373 Locations World Wide 

47 U.S. States 

20 Countries 
7 Continents 

0 Words Spoken 

A Million Powerful Memories 



1

Peter Menser

From: Scott Weaver <scott.weaver@douglasj.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 12:08 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG); Frank Walsh; Chris Buck

Subject: Support for The Village of Okemos site plan

To the members of the Meridian Township Planning Commission, 
  
As the president of Douglas J Aveda Institutes and Salons, I have been invested in Okemos for decades, as 
was my father before me. We have supported this community for decades, but recent years have been hard on 
many downtown Okemos businesses and residents, including us at the Douglas J Salon and Spa. I am writing 
to voice my support of the proposed site plan for The Village of Okemos project. 
  
We need this as a community, and I will be candid – as the owner of Douglas J Salon and Spa, my company 
needs this. I am passionate about Okemos and play an active role in the decisions that are made through my 
service on the Meridian Township Downtown Development Association board. I do not make this expression of 
support from a completely unbiased place. 
  
Douglas J’s attempt at redevelopment in the past wasn’t financially feasible because of the cost of 
environmental contamination and clean-up. The scope and scale of this project allows for the necessary 
infrastructure improvements and environmental cleanup to finally bring revitalization to downtown Okemos. 
  
Douglas J Salon and Spa has committed to be the anchor tenant in the development. Without this downtown 
revitalization, a new space and the environmental clean-up – simply put – it will be difficult for Douglas J to 
survive at its current size. We have seen a significant decrease in traffic over the past few years because there 
is nothing else attracting people to downtown Okemos. 
  
My father always taught me to plan for the future, and I’ve been working diligently with the team at True North 
Development for more than a year to do just that through The Village of Okemos.  
  
I hope you will support us, and The Village of Okemos project. 
 

Thank you, 
 
 
Scott A. Weaver 
President 
Douglas J Companies | www.douglasj.com 
331 E. Grand River | East Lansing, MI 48823 
517.381.6485 
 
 

 

For important information about the educational debt, earnings, and completion rates of students who attended 

our programs, please visit our website at http://www.douglasj.edu/gainful-employment. 

This electronic message contains information which may be legally confidential and/or privileged. The 

information is intended solely for the individual or entity named above, and access or usage by anyone else is 

unauthorized. If you are not the intended recipient, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the contents 



1

Peter Menser

From: Knepshield Deans, Dianne <knepshie@hr.msu.edu>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 3:06 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG); Frank Walsh; Peter Menser

Subject: re; Okemos Village Proposal

Dear Planning Commission, 

 

I wanted to provide feedback regarding the proposed Okemos Village development.  I reside very close to the 

development zone and want to thank Mr. Will Randel and True North Development for their continued willingness to 

solicit feedback and to respond to residents concerns.  I feel they have made a very substantial effort to involve the 

community and to provide opportunities, outside of Board meetings, for residential feedback.   The have responded to 

criticism and concerns, and appear to be willing to adjust plans as they can, to incorporate the communities concerns.   

 

Although, this is a complex issue and will have a significant impact on the area, the environmental clean-up that will 

occur with this project if very significant.  I don’t believe the township should pass up an opportunity that provides for 

development and clean-up at the same time.  The risk of doing nothing or declining the proposal, could result in a 

forgotten corner in Okemos for too many years. 

 

Best Regards,  

 

Dianne Knepshield Deans 

2191 Clinton St. 

Okemos, MI 48864 
knepshie@hr.msu.edu 

 

 

 

 



1

Peter Menser

From: Don Romain <dromain1@comcast.net>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 3:30 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Cc: Chris Buck; Frank Walsh

Subject: Support for The Village of Okemos site plan

As a long time resident of Meridian Township, I am expressing my support for the Village of Okemos site plan, scheduled 

for vote at today’s Commission meeting. 

 

The current condition of the property comprising Downtown Okemos is not acceptable from the perspective of a 

resident. I believe the Plan, as has been presented in public forums, will not only restore and create the physical and 

economic aspects of a vibrant downtown, but will also restore community pride. My wife and I have discussed the value 

of remaining in this community,  considering not only our property but also our “living” experience, with the downtown 

in its current state. We are unsure if remaining here makes sense. However, we would be very excited to remain 

members of the community with the proposed development to bolster the area. 

 

Sincerely submitted, 

Don Romain 

5420 Jo Pass 

East Lansing 



1

Peter Menser

From: M <wilson.5065@yahoo.com>

Sent: Monday, May 20, 2019 4:06 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Village of Okemos Project Support

I am writing in support of the Village of Okemos Project.  I am Marna Wilson of 

4545 Chippewa Dr. Okemos.  I am a 33 year resident of Okemos.  I also was a 

Planning Commissioner and Township Trustee.   

As a long term resident, I have watched the steady deterioration of the four corners 

in downtown Okemos over decades.  Several renewal projects have been proposed 

over the years and none have come to fruition.  Now you have before you a viable 

project, with sufficient financial resources, designed by experts from all facets of 

the development process, that will reinvigorate our historic downtown and create a 

truly desirable village center. 

The Village of Okemos team has partnered throughout the process with state, local, 

county officials and the community to ensure that the Master Plan, mixed use, 

health and safety goals, pedestrian considerations, and community design needs 

are met…even exceeded.  There have been meetings with  DNR, county officials, 

CATA, CADL (the library consortium), the road commission, the regional airport 

authority, LCC, the DDA and the community to ensure all voices are heard in the 

development of this critical area.  And the neighborhoods surrounding this area 

have had meetings with the developer to address their specific questions and 

concerns. I’ve attended two of them and have seen how interested residents are in 

seeing this area rehabilitated and redeveloped.  The local developer, Will Randle, 

has engaged the community for more than a year.   I know this as I am part of a 

citizens advisory committee of residents invited and committed to local 

engagement in this development process.  

From my eight years of planning and development experience in Meridian 

Township sitting on this Commission and the Board, I have never seen the level of 

engagement that this developer has pursued with all interested parties to assure 

the project will bring quality development to Meridian Township.  I am especially 



2

pleased to know that the current brownfield situation will be addressed with proper 

mitigation of contaminated sites as part of the plan.   

The developer has been transparent and open to suggestions.  I am confident, 

based on my own experience, that the Village of Okemos plan will be a consistent 

and on-going priority that will set the standard as the best that Meridian Township 

has to offer its residents and the community at large.  Thank you. 
 

 

 

 

 

 



































1

Peter Menser

From: Lev Raphael <raphael1836@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 23, 2019 12:02 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Four Corners Development

As someone who's lived in Okemos for thirty years, I'm glad to see a proposal that would make the Four 

Corners central to our town. 

However, I don't see any benches in the artist's rendering, which makes me wonder how this could become a 

place for people to gather, in the developer's words. 

Sincerely, 

Lev Raphael 

Indian Hills 

State University of Murder 

is out & Nick Hoffman's back 

"The Borgias would not be 

bored at the State University 

of Michigan, that snake pit 

of academic politics." 

New York Times Book Review  
 

 



1

Peter Menser

From: Candy Parker <candypar@comcast.net>

Sent: Tuesday, May 28, 2019 3:05 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning#19060

Dear Commission Members, 

 

I read with dismay the notice that another attempt to rezone this area is in the works.  At the previous 
meeting regarding this property, it was clear that the proposed change would result in too heavy 
traffic near a grade school and place an increased strain on water drainage in the area.   

 

The current homeowners in this area purchased their homes with the existing zoning and it is not fair 
to those people to now change the zoning.  It seems that the proposed change is changing quality of 
life for a developer's profit.  This should not be what this community is about.   

 

It is  fine to develop the property as currently zoned, but it is unfair to now change the zoning and it is 
unnecessary. 

 

 Yours truly, 

Candy Parker 

4361 Aztec Way 

Okemos, Mi 48864 



1

Peter Menser

From: Lora Pence <loralpence@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, May 29, 2019 5:02 PM

To: Peter Menser

Subject: On Downtown Redevelopment

To the Planning Commission: 
            Thank you for your examination of the issues surrounding redevelopment of downtown Okemos.  I very much 
appreciate some of the comments and questions from the commission regarding density, height of buildings, traffic, and 
parking concerns. The proposed design for the downtown with added meridian, clock tower, lamps, benches, etc, are all 
great. I am supportive of downtown development and removal of toxic soil and water in this area.  
            My concerns regard traffic and density. 
I have been a resident of Cedar Bend Heights since 1987.  It is a beautiful and historic Heritage neighborhood where my 
husband and I have raised 2 children, utilized many of the downtown businesses and schools, and have met many 
neighbors and friends. 

The current design for the downtown is beautiful... however, the five-story 60 foot (with setback) structure is 
overwhelming and will detract from the downtown’s character in a way that won't be attractive to potential merchants and 
customers (please refer to the many small historic Michigan towns that are "coming back" from 2008-2009 with shops, 
brew pubs, coffeehouses, small stores, restaurants, etc).  Nearly all of them have a height limit of 3 stories (possibly 
added one setback). There is a reason for this: merchants and customers enjoy a calm, historic and fun atmosphere that 
is not overwhelming; which allows for fresh air and sunlight, and also feels accessible to them.  Most of these areas are 
successfully retaining or restoring downtown character. I realize that the builder for our area needs to satisfy his investors 
and will help with cleanup, so I am asking for a creative way to move the extra two stories projected for the Hamilton 
corner buildings. Perhaps, they could be moved somewhere within the planned corridor, or, additional condos could be 
created in the nearly abandoned Meridian Mall (something a number of US cities are doing with success)!  In any case, 
reducing density would not only help with the historic character but, critically, the safety of downtown Okemos leading into 
the surrounding neighborhoods.  

Regarding safety, I have lived near the corner of Kenmore and Hamilton for over 30 years and have witnessed 
the flow of cut-through traffic, with many cars running our stop signs to the degree that we need Meridian township officers 
policing the corners of Kenmore and Kent (thank you for your service, Meridian Police). I believe this issue would be 
compounded by allowing a left turn onto Hamilton to relieve backups moving north on Okemos road.  You will not only 
have an increase in delivery and service trucks as well as customer vehicles on Hamilton, but also increased danger, with 
people looking for a cut-through to Grand River. This not only endangers future residents of the apartments (seniors), but 
children getting on and off buses and families crossing the streets to utilize businesses downtown.  

This could be remedied by one or more of the following:   

•       Shut the West-to-East entrance on Hamilton behind Playmakers (as suggested last week).   

•       Make Hamilton a one-way road (done by many thriving, smaller historic downtowns).   

•       Keep the entrance into the neighborhood from Okemos closed except for emergency and service 
vehicles. 

            Allowing any and all traffic from the Okemos entrance at Hamilton is like waiting for not just one, but many 
accidents to happen.  This will not draw customers, merchants, and future residents to downtown; it will push them 
away.  Choosing any of the above options would also help remedy the safety situation. 
  

In closing, we believe that through addressing the safety, density, and character of the downtown, the new site 
will attract many interested merchants, residents and customers who will bolster a thriving, sustainable community.  

  
Thank you for your consideration -  
  

- Tom and Lora Pence 



1

Peter Menser

From: Loren Darling <loren.darling@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 30, 2019 10:36 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: support for Cedar Classical Academy

Dear Meridian Twp Planning Commission, 

 

My wife and I have been homeowners in Meridian Twp for nearly 4 years now, having moved to the area in 

2015 to work at MSU.   

 

I'm writing to express our support for Cedar Classical Academy as it plans to launch at Lansing Chinese 

Christian Church this fall.  Including a Christian Classical school among other educational options is certainly a 

benefit for the area.  My wife and I are planning to enroll our older two children at Cedar.  

 

Also, for what it's worth, I would urge you not to create any unnecessary administrative obstacles to CCA's 

launch this fall. 

 

Sincerely, 

Loren & Jessica Darling 

 

 

--  
Loren Darling 
m: 843.222.4532 















1

Peter Menser

From: Jeff Jacobsen <jeffsjake22@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, June 03, 2019 7:44 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning Application #19060

 

 

Register us as strongly against the rezoning (between College Field back 9 holes and the bus garage/Bennett 

Woods Elementary School/Champion Woods) to RA which would substantially and negatively impact this area 

and adjacent areas.  When we purchased our home we did the research to see what might be on the horizon in 

terms of other building in our area and knew there would be some, yet not as populated as this one 

proposed.  Multiple reasons for our objection are listed below: 

 

1) Rural and low density housing as is now would not impact the environment nearly as much as single family 

medium density housing even as a PUD with the new number of units at 210.  This area is full of surface 

waters, wetlands, wildlife and more natural features.  More people means more concrete, more surface area of 

roads/houses which will add to the pollutant load in this area.  Less density means less pollution in these 

sensitive areas.  With the proposed intensity of this PUD how would the hydraulic connections be changed with 

existing land uses in these watersheds? 

 

2) Bennett Road was completely redone not too long ago.  With its existing load of traffic, it is already 

exhibiting significant degradation to its surface due to the frequency and type of traffic. Increasing the amount 

and kind of traffic would accelerate its demise and it would be added to the deplorable list of unsafe roads.  In 

addition, the elevations on the road make any type of new access with more homes problematic as it is very 

busy during the peak periods and this would potentially exacerbate the problem.  What types of mitigation and 

enhancements is Mayberry Homes doing due to its impact with either scenario? 

 

3) In addition to #2, the increased traffic would substantially increase the safety risks to drivers, bike riders, 

children and pedestrians. 

 

4) I have no idea about its potential impact to water, electrical, sewer and other public services, yet wonder if 

they will overwhelm the infrastructure that already exists. 

 

5) Additional areas of infrastructure concerns:  can the school systems handle this increased volume, can 

fire/police handle this increased volume, etc?  We have already had new assessments over the last several years 

to pay for the services and obligations that were underfunded. 

 

There should be more to consider than pure profit by a developer by packing in more homes into a rural 

area.The existing zoning must remain the same and would provide viable options for a credible developer. 

 

I will not be able to attend the hearing as I will be out of town on business. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Jeff Jacobsen and Lisa Duffey 

4053 Highland Terrace 

Bennett Village 



1

Peter Menser

From: Jessica Darling <jessicaldarling@gmail.com>

Sent: Sunday, June 02, 2019 8:47 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Support for Cedar Classical Academy

Dear Meridian Township Planning Commission, 

 

I'm writing to share that I fully support Cedar Classical Academy and am excited for this new education 

opportunity for my children and the children in the greater Lansing area.  It will be a wonderful fit for the 

school to meet at the Lansing Chinese Christian Church because it's got plenty of suitable space, great outdoor 

space for nature study and recess, it's accessible from the highway and most of all because the Lansing Chinese 

Christian Church is fully on board with the mission of CCA and the pastor and his wife are planning to send 

two of their children there. 

 

Thank you for all you do for Meridian Township and thank you for considering this great opportunity.  

 

Jessica Darling 

Meridian Township Resident 

6074 Harkson Dr. 

East Lansing, MI 48823 

 

 



 

June 1, 2019 

 

Mr. Peter Menser, Principal Planner 

Meridian Charter Township 

5151 Marsh Road 

Okemos, MI 48864 

 

Dear Mr. Menser: 

 

We received notice of the Bennett Road Holding Company’s request to rezone property north of 

Bennett Road and east of Hagadorn Road to a high density housing development possibly 

including multi-family units.  We have lived on Aztec Way for 16 years and our home is 

adjacent to the planned development.  We are very concerned about the negative impact the new 

development will have on the Woods at Heron Creek, Sundance Estates and Champion Woods 

neighborhoods.  We are not against further housing development in Meridian Township or in the 

areas neighboring our home as we understand that the township is a very desirable place to live.  

However, we are opposed to the request for approval of medium density housing and the 

configuration of the planned development for the reasons listed below. 

 

1. The Woods at Heron Creek, Champion Woods and Sundance Estates neighborhoods are 

special with spectacular beech trees along with many other types of trees and shrubs.  The 

surrounding wetlands and wooded areas are the home to a plethora, of wild life including 

deer, wild turkeys, herons, bard owls, foxes and even coyotes have been sited.  The beech 

trees are home to the owls which breed in the trees and each spring we have new owl 

families.  The families that have bought or built homes in these neighborhoods did so 

because of this environment and it would tragic if the wildlife was driven away by the 

new development.  

 

2. Several years ago, Meridian Township Land Preservation purchased 60 acres of wooded 

area and wetlands on the west side of the planned subdivision.  This area is a rich habitat 

for a variety of wildlife and it is also an area that many people living in the area enjoy for 

walks and wild-life watching.  This area is accessed through a gate at the west end of 

Creekstone Trail.  The proposed development will be between the current access point 

and the land preserve.  This will reduce access to the land preserve which will be a 

disappointment to many Meridian Township residents.    

 

3. The existing plan may include an outlet from the new development onto Creekstone 

Trail. This will greatly increase vehicle traffic through the Heron Woods and Sundance 

Estates neighborhoods along Aztec Way as an outlet to Hulett Road making the streets 

less safe for the young families that live in this area.   

 

4. Higher density development will also negatively impact the wetlands which will be 

displaced by the new development and the remaining wetlands will be damaged by the 

run-off from the paved roads and roofs of the new houses.  We have already seen this 

result from  the Champion Woods development where water from the development drains 



into wetlands near the Woods at Heron Creek.  Since the completion of the Champion 

Woods development the former wetlands have now become ponds of standing water and 

this has killed off trees that have become surrounded by these ponds.  The proposed high-

density development will worsen this problem.    

 

As we indicated above we are not opposed to development in Meridian Township but we would 

like to propose an option that would allow development but preserve the unique and attractive 

features of our neighborhoods.    

 

1. We propose that the quality and density of the new homes to be built match the quality 

and density (RAA, medium) of the existing homes in the Woods at Heron Creek, 

Sundance Estates and Champion Woods neighborhoods. 

 

The goal of development zoning is to protect property values, the environment, and to provide a 

safe and enjoyable neighborhood for homeowners.  Construction of a high density development, 

possibly with multi-family housing, directly adjacent to existing neighborhoods of lower-density 

housing is not consistent with sensible planning.  This will hurt the existing and long-time 

residents of the Woods at Heron Creek, Sundance Estates and Champion Woods neighborhoods.  

We have proposed a sensible compromise that allows new development but also preserves the 

features of the surrounding neighborhoods that attracted the existing homeowners to these unique 

neighborhoods.  In the absence of implementation of the medium density proposal, we oppose 

the planned rezoning because it is not consistent with the goals of zoning regulations and will 

hurt the current homeowners.  

 

Thank you for considering our concerns and suggestions on the rezoning issue.  We would be 

happy to discuss our concerns with you in person.  You can contact us at the phone numbers 

below. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

James and Carla Galligan 

4367 Aztec Way, Okemos 

517-290-2160 

517-290-2196 

  

 

 



1

Peter Menser

From: Alex Johnson <amjohnson86@gmail.com>

Sent: Saturday, June 01, 2019 1:38 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Cedar Classical Academy hosted at Lansing Chinese Christian Church

Hello,  

 

We just wanted to share my support regarding Cedar Classical Academy being hosted at Lansing Chinese 

Christian Church. We are excited for the start of this new school and to be a founding family alongside others. 

We believe this school will enable our children to be better citizens in this community and the world. We hope 

that you would consider approving this connection between Cedar Classical Academy and LCCC. Thank you 

for your time and consideration! 

 

Regards, 

Alex and Chetta Johnson 

 

Senior Software Designer 

Jackson National Life 

Since August 2010 



1

Peter Menser

From: Anu <anujain1@yahoo.com>

Sent: Tuesday, June 04, 2019 1:56 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning application #19060

 

Hi my name is Anu and I have been living in Okemos preserve subdivision on Hullet rd for more than five 

years . I have witnessed stead decline in wildlife in wetlands preserve around my neighborhood for last 3 

years. I use to see lot of big turtles around and there couple years where I have found turtle eggs in my 

backyard. 

 

There are lots of house constructed on college field subdivision. I do understand the demand of housing is 

high but I am not sure if there are any studies being done on impact on wetland preserve.  

 

I just wanted to voice my concern with the rezoning application # 19060. 

 

Sent from my iPhone 



1

Peter Menser

From: Yingxin Zhou <zhou0824@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, June 05, 2019 10:51 AM

To: Board; Ronald Styka; Brett Dreyfus; Phil Deschaine; Patricia Herring Jackson; Dan 

Opsommer; Kathy Ann Sundland; Peter Menser; Courtney Wisinski

Subject: Medical Marijuana Costs

Hello Board and Planning Commission, 

 

I watched the June 4 board meeting online.  I strongly support Trustee Jackson's suggestion of tracking all 

costs/expenses related to medical marijuana.  To do so we may need to create a sub-ledger in the accounting 

system.  Please do track it and inform the public on a regular basis. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Yingxin Zhou  



Patrick Murphy 
2589 Sophiea Parkway 

Okemos, MI 48864 
Patrickjohnmurphy1@gmail.com 

 
 

June 5, 2019 

Charter Township of Meridian, Planning Commission 

c/o Peter Menser, Principal Planner 

5151 Marsh Road, 

Okemos, MI 58864 

 

Dear Members of the Planning Commission and Mr. Menser: 

 

When we met at the Planning Commission meeting in October, 2018 (just 9 months ago) to address the initial rezoning 

application (#18120), a number of significant concerns were raised by the community members of Champion Woods, 

Woods at Heron Creek, and Sundance Estates including: increased traffic volume, negative environmental impact, 

increased flood risk, and inconsistent zoning. Later that evening, these concerns were largely echoed by the members of 

the Planning Commission themselves. Representatives of Bennet Road Holding LLC (Mayberry Homes) were present at 

the meeting and had access to the letters of concern written by community members. We all sat (or stood) and heard 

directly as person after person went before the Planning Commission risking vulnerability and discomfort before a very 

large group in order to share their concerns and expertise as a home owner, a professional, a mother or a father, and a 

community member. Taking on this defense was not easy or quick, but was so vitally important that it made the 

discomfort and time involved necessary given the potential consequences to home, safety, and family.  

Now, here we are again less than a year later, and rather than address these concerns in a meaningfully responsive 

manner, Mayberry Homes has resubmitted their proposal (#19060) identical in spirit and nearly identical in letter to the 

original. Such a re-submission suggests a lack of consideration, a lack of stewardship, and a lack of goodwill toward the 

community and the environment they purport to develop. The primary points made 9 months ago in opposition to the 

rezoning request remain: that the current zoning allows for development that is consistent with the surrounding zoning, 

and a change to the current zoning will likely result in increased traffic volume, negative environmental impacts, and 

increased flood risk. Unless the rezoning laws, climate, or wetlands have changed over the past 9 months, there is again 

no reason to accept the current re-zoning proposal.  

 

Respectfully Yours, 

 

Patrick Murphy, Ed.S. 



1

Peter Menser

From: Janet Lawatsch <lawatsch65@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, June 05, 2019 8:19 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning app#19060

This letter is in response to another request by Mayberry builders to rezone land north of Bennett and 

east of Hagadorn. I am a resident of the Sun Rapids subdivision. This area has seen most every available 

parcel of land rezoned and filled with more subdivisions. Anyone driving Bennett Rd can testify to the 

number of nearly identical Mayberry homes lining the golf course. Enough already.  

Both my subdivision and Sunwind east and west are having flooding issues in our homes and yards. 

Drains are not taking water away. The last thing we need is more wetland disturbance, more water trying 

to find a place to go, more traffic and new homes that match the ones already built.  

I thank you in advance for representing us with a denial of this zoning request.  

 

Respectfully,  

Janet Lawatsch 

Sent from my iPad 



1

Peter Menser

From: David9633 <david9633@yahoo.com>

Sent: Wednesday, June 05, 2019 10:29 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG); Holly Park; David Choi

Subject: Our concerns regarding Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC)

Community Planning and Development 

Meridian Township 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 

 

RE: Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC) 

 

Dear Planning Commission and Mr. Peter Menser, 

 

Hello. We are the property owners at 4141 Usiak Circle, Okemos (Parcel ID: 4141 Usiak Cir, Okemos, Champion Wood sub-

div, Property # 33-02-02-29-402-052). Because we might not be able to attend the public hearing meeting held in the 

town hall office on June 10th, we are writing a letter to you on our concerns regarding this rezoning matter. 

 

We have concerns on rezoning the area beyond our Champion Woods subdivision and the potential opening up of 

Sophiea Pkwy to Bennett Road due to the additional traffic that would go thru our neighborhood and potential drainage 

problems. In fact, we purchased my property at above address because of the secluded area and having been told that 

Sophiea Pkwy would not be opened up except for emergencies. We are very concerned if the quality of our lives at my 

residence will be compromised in case that the township approves this rezoning application for 216 new home sites in the 

area which is adjacent to my subdivision. We would like to kindly ask you to consider our concerns above when you make 

the decision on this rezoning plan. 

 

Thank you very much. 

Sincerely, 

 

Dongman Choi & Hyeon Park 

4141 Usiak Circle, Okemos 



R U N D Q U I S T  
 

3 6 3 4  E A S T  A R B U T U S  |  O K E M O S ,  M I  4 8 8 6 4  
meridianrealestateinterests@comcast.net 

June 5, 2019 
 
Meridian Township Planning Commissioners 
Meridian Charter Township 
5151 Marsh Road 
Okemos, MI. 48864 
 
Re: Rezoning Request 19060       VIA: USPS 
 Parcels 29-251-009 ICD Properties LLC     email 

29-300-008 William | Ingrid Schultz 
   29-300-020 William | Ingrid Schultz 
   29-300-021 William | Ingrid Schultz 
   29-300-023 WI Properties LLC 
   29-300-025 Bennett Road Holdings LLC 
   29-300-026 Heron Creek Holdings LLC 
  
Commissioners, 
 
I recently viewed a Rezoning Pending notification along Bennett Road that referenced the property parcels 
above. I ask you to deny this request and allow the land to be developed as currently zoned. 
 
This is the same amalgamation of land and ownership that was before you in a Public Hearing October 22, 2018 
with exactly the same request now as before. The applicant has asked the Township to up-zone the property 
from a current mix of low-density RR, RAAA, and RAA, to a higher density use, RA.  
 
At the close of the October 22, 2018 Public Hearing, following the review of submitted written correspondence 
and discussion amongst the Commissioners, a straw vote was conducted by the Commissioners which 
recommended denial of the rezoning request to the Township Board and the owners delayed moving forward. 

Commissioner Trezise: Expressed concern with traffic and buildings. 
Commissioner Premoe: Expressed concern with water and buildings. 
Commissioner Richards: Noted that the property could be developed as zoned and expressed 

concern for storm drainage. 
Commissioner Lane: Noted that there was no site plan was submitted and RA zoning does not 

fit the area. 
Commissioner Stivers: Expressed concern over density, drainage, and pressure on wetlands. 
Commissioner Shrewsbury: Advised the Township listen to the current residents regarding flooding 

and density. 
Commissioner Scott-Craig: Stated that RA zoning is too dense. 

 
Nothing has changed in the time separating the original rezoning request last fall and this spring. All of the 
previously expressed concerns by commissioners and residents about traffic, density, surface drainage, flooding 
and spot zoning still exist. These parcels should be developed under the current zoning which would conform 
to the areas immediately adjacent and completely surrounding. 



3 6 3 4  E A S T  A R B U T U S  |  O K E M O S ,  M I  4 8 8 6 4  
meridianrealestateinterests@comcast.net 

Page 2 
 
 
By-Right development of these parcels is possible with the current zoning designation. When the ownership of 
parcel 29-300-025 changed from ICD Properties LLC to EL Holding Co. LLC in 2013 and then from EL Holding 
Co. LLC to Bennett Road Holding LLC in 2014, the by-right development potential remained unchanged. And 
with the exception of a small area of frontage on Bennett Road zoned RR, this parcel is zoned RAAA and will 
even allow a PUD overlay, which provides the owner opportunity to efficiently organize infrastructure while 
maximizing both existing and new site amenities. There is no hardship for the owners of this land, only greed. 
 
The Applicant has proposed a PUD overlay with a self-imposed limit of 210 residential units. Considering the by-
right density is approximately 100 units, the Applicant is pushing for more than double the number of units 
allowed on these assembled parcels. By any account, this is not a limit of density for the nearly 97 acres though 
it does represent an increase. The proposed up-zoning and its accompanying PUD providing 210 residential 
units is without merit.  
 
The proposed zoning is a classic and clear example of spot zoning. The parcels are surrounded by, and 
immediately adjacent to RR, RAA, and Township Preservation Land, essentially forming a donut hole surrounded 
by low density land use. Isolated and insulated without adjacent RA zoning, there is no need to zone this property 
to RA or for the Township to consider this as transitional area. 
 
It is my understanding that one of the current landowners of this cluster of land parcels for years excavated and 
sold sand from parcel 29-300-025 and parcel 29-300-026, filling in wetlands and floodplain while continuing to 
mine sand after permits were expired. The filled wetlands and floodplain to date have not been remediated. It 
is also my understanding that another of the current landowners of this cluster of land parcels began clearing 
and earth moving without Township approval or permit and without MDEQ approval or permit on an unrelated 
parcel of land north of Grand River Avenue adjacent to Powell Road [I.D.: 33-02-02-23-151-001]. Are these good 
developer bedfellows for the Township?  
 
What are the true, undeclared motives of these property owners? What happens when a later PUD is proposed 
that transfers much of the density to a concentrated area running parallel to Bennett Road? Is this an appropriate 
location for high density Senior Housing? 
 
Spot rezoning in which the density is increased is unprecedented in Meridian Township and I ask that you deny 
this request and allow the land to be developed, by-right under the current zoning. 
 
Best Regards, 

 
Jim Rundquist 
Meridian Township Homeowner 



1

Peter Menser

From: Dawn Gawel <anotherdgpro@att.net>

Sent: Thursday, June 06, 2019 9:34 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Cedar Classical Academy 

We are excited at the possibility of having a classical school (Cedar Classical Academy) in the area. There 

is much to commend the classical style of education and the Lansing Chinese Christian Church is such a 

good location. It is our hope that the Meridian Township planning commission will see its way clear to 

approve the establishment of Cedar Classical Academy at the Lansing Chinese  Christian Church.  

 

 

Terry and Dawn Gawel  



1

Peter Menser

From: Gerry Broski <gpbroski@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, June 06, 2019 10:55 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning #19060 Bennett Road Holding LLC

Planning Commission, 

We are writing to comment on the rezoning request #19060.  The issues with high density housing have 

not changed since the request by the developer in October.  The local roads are in bad shape and will be 

stressed further by higher traffic, the schools are at max capacity and will be stressed by higher student 

populations, -- basically all infrastructure cannot support high density housing.  There are also safety 

issues around Bennett Woods School (traffic patterns), and it is apparent that the quality of life will be 

negatively affected by high density housing.  Public sentiment and the existing neighborhoods are against 

it. The quality of life in Okemos is the reason people want to live in Okemos and high density housing will 

ruin the area. 

We oppose this request and urge the commission to deny it. 

Gerry and Connie Broski 

4332 Aztec Way 

Okemos MI 48864 



1

Peter Menser

From: Martha Rand <tomyrand44@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, June 06, 2019 4:37 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: rezoning request

Dear planning commission, Please do NOT give the OK for the developer to increase density for 
building more residences than the current zoning allows near Champion Woods. 
 
The traffic on Sophia parkwaywould become too much for our area to stay kid friendly.  We have 
many children in our neighborhood and it would cause our streets to become too crowded with traffic 
for their safety.  The zoning as it exists now was planned to continue this area to be acceptable to all 
and does not need to be changed.   
 
The only gain for a change in zoning would be to the developers wallet, an unacceptable price for the 
residents to pay.  Too much traffic in Champion Woods, and along Bennet road, wetland problems 
and our neighborhood losing it’s unique make up of families who feel safe. 
 
The plan is fine as is, keep it that way, please !! 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Tom and Martha Rand 
2617 Laforet Circle 
Okemos, MI  48864 



June 5, 2019 
Charter Township of Meridian, Planning Commission 
℅ Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
5151 Marsh Road, 
Okemos, MI 48864 
 
Dear Members of the Planning Commission and Mr. Menser: 
 
We first thank you again for your time and work on this important issue.  
 
As a neighborhood, Champion Woods fully supports the rights of the property owners to responsibly 
develop their land. However, as we were in October, 2018, Champion Woods is strongly opposed to this 
rezoning request #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC) which is fundamentally identical to the rezoning 
request #18120 (Bennett Road Holding LLC) the applicant originally submitted in 2018 and which the 
planning commission planned to deny before the original request was withdrawn. While the applicant has 
made some cosmetic changes to the request (PUD condition, revised traffic study), all of your reasons for 
expressing concerns and reservations with this request still hold. Namely, 
 

• As noted by Commissioner Richards, the property can be developed (with a PUD) as it is 
currently zoned. 

• As noted by Commissioners Richards, Lane, and Scott-Craig, the RA zoning is denser than the 
zoning of the neighboring areas (Champion Woods, The Woods at Heron Creek). 

• Commissioners Trezise, Premoe, Richards, Shrewsbury, and Scott-Craig all noted concerns 
regarding the environmental impact including drainage and flooding of this proposed rezoning. 
Champion Woods would like to emphasize that the RA zoning will lead to more units on a 
sensitive parcel with a significant percentage of wetlands and floodplains. While regulations are 
supposed to ensure that construction is done in a way that does not impact water flow, the reality 
is that more units means more hardscape and impermeable surface area that will likely impact 
water flow and drainage with a potentially negative impact on the existing neighborhoods close to 
the parcel. We fully acknowledge that the construction of the Champion Woods neighborhood, 
despite the regulations that this should not impact water flow on neighboring areas, has 
negatively affected drainage and water levels for Sundance Estates and The Woods at Heron 
Creek. 

• Commissioner Trezise expressed concerns with the potential increased traffic volume. The RA 
zoning will lead to more units and thus increase traffic volume. Of particular concern to 
Champion Woods is the increased traffic that will go through the Champion Woods 
neighborhood if the proposed neighborhood is connected to Sophiea Parkway, particularly in the 
morning and afternoon commutes when families are dropping off and picking up children from 
the Bennett Woods elementary school. Please do not be fooled by the revised traffic study which 
concludes “The traffic volumes generated by the proposed rezoning … are expected to decrease 
the total traffic trips from this property”. This conclusion assumes that 216 sites could be 
constructed on the parcel with the current zoning ignoring the fact that much of the property is 
wetlands and floodplain. We posit that any rezoning request that asks for a denser zoning does so 
in order to increase the number of units that can be built and thus will increase traffic volume, not 
decrease it. 
 

We organize the rest of this letter as follows. We first analyze the rezoning request #19060 and argue that 
it fails to meet the criteria laid out in the rezoning request form for adoption. We then close with a 
summary of key arguments against this proposed rezoning request. 



Analysis of the rezoning request #19060 and an argument that it fails to satisfy the necessary 
criteria for adoption 
 
The rezoning request form is broken up into two main sections: Part A focusing on why the current 
zoning for the area is unreasonable and Part B focusing on why the requested zoning is appropriate. Given 
the structure of the form, the applicant should satisfy at least one of the criteria in Part A to show that the 
current zoning is unreasonable, and the applicant should satisfy all seven of the criteria in Part B to show 
that the proposed zoning is reasonable. We will now show that the applicant has failed in both efforts. 
Specifically: 
 

1. The applicant has failed to demonstrate any of the six criteria that show the current zoning is 
unreasonable. 

2. The applicant has failed to show that the proposed zoning meets four of the seven criteria that the 
proposed zoning is reasonable.  

 
We start by showing the applicant still fails to show that the current zoning for the area is unreasonable. 
The rezoning application provides six possible reasons for why the present zoning is unreasonable. The 
applicant provides three responses to three of those reasons on their application: 
 

• A2) The conditions of the surrounding area have changed in the following respects: 
o Applicant response (split into two parts, this part addresses the actual criteria of A2): 

Sanitary Sewer was stubbed to this property close to 10 years ago. Since then the 
neighboring community (Champion Woods) was developed and completed. 
 CW commentary: This does not suggest that the present zoning is unreasonable. 

We also note and acknowledge that the completion of the Champion Woods 
neighborhood has worsened drainage and flooding conditions making the 
wetlands and floodplains more vulnerable. This would suggest that the conditions 
in the surrounding area have changed in a way to make less dense rezoning 
preferable rather than more dense zoning. 

o Applicant response (split into two parts, this part does not address the actual criteria of 
A2 and should actually be included in part B, Reasons why the requested zoning is 
appropriate): Current zoning allows for up to 216 units. The requested rezoning will be 
conditioned on a PUD with a minimum of 50% of open space and a maximum lot count 
of 210. The reduced lot count and increased open space will act to preserve natural 
features and lessen the burden on local roads and schools. 
 CW commentary: This reasoning is again based on the false premise that 216 lots 

could actually be built on the parcel with the current zoning. Given the 
prevalence of floodplain and wetlands, 216 lots cannot be built on the parcel with 
the current zoning and thus the request does not reduce lot count but increases it. 
We posit again that any rezoning request that requests denser zoning does so with 
the goal of increasing the number of units built. 

• A3) The current zoning is inconsistent with the Township’s Master Plan, explain: 
o Applicant response: The Township Master Plan allows for 3.5 units per acre. The 

requested rezoning will be just over 2 units per acre (2.17). 
 CW commentary: This argument is misplaced as it provides no evidence that the 

current zoning is inconsistent with the Township’s Master Plan. In fact, it does 
not even mention the current zoning. This argument should be located in part B, 
Reasons why the requested zoning is appropriate. 

• A6) The current zoning restrictions on the use of the property do not further the health, safety, or 
general welfare of the public, explain:  



o Applicant response: The conditions being offered with this rezoning request will offer 
flexibility in design to maximize open space, reduce density, reduce lot size and reduce 
the potential burden on municipal infrastructure. 
 CW commentary: This argument is again misplaced as it provides no evidence 

that the current zoning does not further the health, safety, or general welfare of 
the public. With respect to the argument made by the applicant, we note that most 
of the benefits result from developing with a PUD. We emphasize again that the 
applicant can develop this parcel with its current zoning with a PUD. The 
applicant is requesting the rezoning so that they can INCREASE density and 
build more units with the PUD.  

 
In summary, with its responses to part A, the applicant has provided no justification to argue that the 
current zoning is unreasonable. Instead, the applicant has provided some arguments why the proposed 
rezoning is appropriate, and these arguments do not hold up under scrutiny.  
 
The second part of the rezoning application focuses on why the requested zoning is appropriate. The form 
provides seven distinct criteria that must be satisfied in order for the requested zoning to be deemed 
appropriate; failure of even one criteria suggests that the proposed zoning is not appropriate. We argue 
that the rezoning application fails on at least four of the necessary seven criteria and thus fails to meet the 
standard that the requested rezoning is appropriate. Specifically, we discuss criteria B2, B3, B6, and B7 
with a minor note that B4 is not quite accurate. 

• B2) Requested rezoning is compatible with other existing and proposed uses surrounding the site, 
specifically: 

o Applicant response: East (Institutional and RAA w/PUD); West is 425 to City of 
Lansing: North is Township owned land. 
 CW commentary: This does NOT suggest the proposed zoning is compatible 

with existing uses surrounding the site. As many Commissioners noted 
previously, the zoning should be consistent with neighboring properties. Also, 
this listing is incomplete in that it does not note that the East includes also RAA 
zoning (no PUD) for the Woods at Heron Creek. We argue again that the 
requested RA zoning, even with PUD, is too dense and is not compatible with 
existing uses surrounding the site.  

• B3) Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on the natural 
environment, explain: 

o Applicant response: The proposed rezoning would be conditioned on a Planned Unit 
Development (“PUD”). The minimum open space requirement is 50%. The minimum 
open space, clustered design, smaller lots and reduced density encourages preservation of 
natural features. 
 CW commentary: The positive arguments here are all based on the PUD. 

Champion Woods fully supports the development of this property with a PUD. 
However, none of this applies to the key point of the request: RA zoning. The 
argument here incorrectly claims that the proposed rezoning will reduce density; 
with RA zoning, density will increase. All the benefits of a PUD can be achieved 
with the current zoning. The applicant provides no argument here to justify that 
the requested RA zoning is appropriate. On the contrary, the applicant is 
requesting RA zoning so that it can increase the number of units developed, that 
is increase density, which will increase the impact on the natural environment. 

• B6) Requested rezoning results in logical and orderly development in the Township, explain: 
o Applicant response: The Township Master Plan suggests 3.5 units per acre in this area. 

The conditions that we’re offering with this request will net a density of 2.17 units per 
acre. The Champion Woods and Okemos Preserve are great examples of well thought out 



PUD’s. The requested rezoning will allow for a future development that will be 
complimentary to neighborhoods in a rather close vicinity. 
 CW commentary: As noted before, Champion Woods and The Woods at Heron 

Creek have RAA with PUD and RAA zoning, respectively. Thus, the proposed 
RA with PUD zoning does not match the adjoining neighborhoods and thus fails 
to meet this criteria of logical and orderly development. 

• B7) Requested rezoning will result in better use of Township land, resources and properties and 
therefore more efficient expenditure of Township funds for public improvements and services, 
explain: 

o Applicant response: The requested rezoning will deliver increased open space, smaller 
lots, lower density, preservation of natural features and walkability with pedestrian 
connections to a township park and neighboring communities. 
 CW commentary: The argument given here by the applicant is a distractor and 

inaccurate in the key criteria (density) you must consider given this is a rezoning 
request. Because they are requesting RA zoning, this will result in higher density, 
not lower density. All the rest of the argument here is based upon a PUD which 
they can use with the current zoning.  

• B4) Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on traffic circulation, 
water and sewer systems, education, recreation, or other public services, explain: 

o Applicant response: Sanitary Sewer and Water are stubbed to the property. The original 
owners of this property have been paying sewer assessments since 2009. The sewer 
assessments were based on 400 lots. Our conditional rezoning application contemplates a 
maximum lot count of 210, thus not placing an undue burden on the infrastructure. A 
preliminary Traffic Study has been completed and concludes that no additional burden 
will be added to the road system in proximity to this land. The Okemos School District 
stated that there is capacity at the Elementary, Middle School, and High School that 
would service this property. 
 CW commentary: We cannot comment on most of this response except traffic. 

As noted earlier, please do not be fooled by the revised traffic study which 
concludes “The traffic volumes generated by the proposed rezoning … are 
expected to decrease the total traffic trips from this property”. This conclusion 
assumes that 216 sites could be constructed on the parcel with the current zoning 
ignoring the fact that much of the property is wetlands and floodplain. We posit 
that any rezoning request that asks for a denser zoning does so in order to 
increase the number of units that can be built and thus will increase traffic 
volume, not decrease it. 

 
In summary, the applicant fails to provide evidence that the proposed rezoning to RA is 
appropriate. The proposed RA zoning (with PUD) does not match adjoiniong areas, and the 
increased density will result in more units and more threat to the environment. It will also result 
in an increase in traffic despite their attempt to claim it will not increase traffic and even 
decrease traffic. Champion Woods is particularly concerned about the increase in traffic on Sophiea 
Parkway that will lower our property values. 
 
 
  



Summary of arguments against Rezoning request  #19060. 
We close by summarizing a few key points. 
 
The applicant has modified their original rezoning request with the addition of the PUD condition and a 
maximum lot count of 210 units. We fully support developing this property with a PUD. The current 
zoning allows for developing this property with a PUD. However, we are completely opposed to the RA 
zoning density which is the true crux of this rezoning request (as it was in the original request submitted 
last September). We believe we have demonstrated that the applicants have failed to show why the 
current zoning is unreasonable, and they have failed on at least four criteria (B2, B3, B6, B7) to show that 
RA zoning is appropriate.  
 
Second, the applicant will likely suggest they sought out neighborhood feedback including meeting with 
several Champion Woods and The Woods at Heron Creek families on April 30. However, while we 
appreciated the chance to talk with the applicant, we must emphasize that we did not have a real chance to 
offer any input into the rezoning application. We note that the rezoning application #19060 was dated 
April 16, 2019 and thus submitted prior to meeting with the neighborhoods and not modified at all based 
on the meeting. We further observe that the primary feedback that all in attendance gave to the applicant 
was that we supported the PUD but were opposed to the requested RA zoning density. They have not 
modified the application to remove the RA zoning density. 
 
Finally, we asked them several times why they could not develop this property with either the current 
zoning and a PUD or even RAA zoning and a PUD. They claimed this was not possible but could not 
give a concrete reason other than to say that it was not economically feasible.  We note the following. 
First, it must be the case that with RAA zoning, they could not build 210 units with a PUD. Otherwise, 
they could simply request RAA zoning with a PUD and face much less objection. Second, this implies 
that with RAA zoning and no PUD, given the fact that the PUD allows a developer to build more lots on 
parcels that have wetlands and floodplain, they could build significantly fewer than 210 units. Finally, 
this implies that with the current zoning, they could build that many fewer units than 210 units. In 
summary, this rezoning request is all about increasing density and the number of units they can build. 
While it is perfectly reasonable for a developer to want to be able to add density, it is also perfectly 
reasonable to argue this is not reasonable or justifiable in the current circumstances. Given the lower 
density of the adjoining neighborhoods, the increase in flooding and standing water that has arisen since 
the development of Champion Woods, we suggest that the Planning Commission should stay with its 
original decision to not approve rezoning request #19060. 
 
Respectfully yours, 
 
The Champion Woods Condominium Association 
 













1

Peter Menser

From: Zhiheng Bi <zhbi2000@yahoo.com>

Sent: Thursday, June 06, 2019 10:21 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC)

Dear Members of Planning Commission and Mr. Menser: 
 

We are writing to strongly oppose the rezoning #19060 proposed by Bennett Road Holding LLC. Because the rezoning is 
requesting a RA zoning, it will result in a higher density, not lower density of housing development in the area proposed. 
In our opinion, a higher density housing development is an OVER DEVELOPMENT for this area which should be avoided. 
Because:  

•        It will not be consistent with the township’s master plan  

•        It will have a negative impact on the environment, i.e. wetland and wildlife  

•        It will decrease the property value for the neighboring communities 

•        It will make the area less attractive and thus will not benefit the county/township economically and environmentally in 
the long             term  

We urge you to sincerely consider our concerns about the rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC).        

 
Sincerely, 

Zhiheng Bi & Xiamei Xu  

2694 Sophiea Pkwy 

Okemos, MI 48864 

517-203-0922 

Zhbi2000@yahoo.com 
 



1

Peter Menser

From: Emery Dingee <dingeemer@yahoo.com>

Sent: Thursday, June 06, 2019 10:39 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Cedar Classical Academy Consideration 

Dear Meridian Township, 

We believe CCA is more than just another private school. It’s an education that values teaching students about 

their creator, developing character to positively contribute to society, and forming a life long love of learning.  

Lansing Chinese Christian Church is a great partner with CCA, and an example of great collaboration of 

resources in meridian township! An eager group of parents, students and teachers to bring classical education to 

Lansing and a church lending support with an existing infrastructure and building in place. We thank you in 

advance for your consideration in this exciting endeavor.  

Sincerely,  

Matthew and Emery Dingee 

 

Sent from my iPhone 



Debra R. Gift and David A. Gift 
2563 Sundance Lane 
Okemos, MI  48864 

 
 
 
Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
Planning Commission 
Meridian Charter Township 
 
June 7, 2019 
 
Dear Mr. Menser and Members of the Planning Commission, 
 
I am writing to comment on the proposed request from Bennett Road Holding LLC to rezone 
96.74 acres from RR, RAA and RAAA to RA with conditions (#19060). 
 
As a homeowner in Sundance Estates since 1988, my family has enjoyed this beautiful and 
tranquil neighborhood for several decades and we hope to continue to do so for many years into 
the future. 
 
I firmly believe that rezoning the proposed property from low-density to medium density with the 
attendant increase in traffic, water runoff and drainage issues, as well as the insult to wildlife in 
the vicinity will negatively impact our safety, property value, and ability to continue enjoying our 
beloved neighborhood. 
 
The public response to the last rezoning request of the property in October 2018, both in person 
and as written documents, communicated loudly and clearly that the community emphatically 
opposed rezoning the property to higher density with traffic cut-throughs and streets that would 
compromise the safety of adjacent and currently existing subdivisions. 
 
I urge you to hear these pleas, reject this current proposed rezoning request and continue to 
work toward a more preferable compromise solution that would allow a win-win for all 
stakeholders. 
 
There have been several alternatives proposed by local residents, I encourage you to support 
one that would focus on matching the density of the undeveloped property with the adjacent 
developed properties as well as provide a green-space access to the nearby parcel already 
owned by the Land Preservation program. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of my comments. 
 
Debra and David Gift 
Sundance Estates 
giftdebr@gmail.com 
 



1

Peter Menser

From: Timothy Peng <timothy.peng@icloud.com>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 9:44 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Cedar Classical Academy SUP with Lansing Chinese Christian Church

Dear Meridian Township, 

 

We are writing on behalf of Cedar Classical Academy, as they seek to establish a school in Lansing Chinese 

Christian Church building.  

 

In accordance with our mission to serve God and people in the city, we are excited to partner with Cedar 

Classical Academy as they strive to bring classical education to Lansing and the surrounding area. We have 

been blessed with a wonderful building that  fits the needs of the school, and we welcome the opportunity to 

provide a safe, wonderful space for the students. 

 

We hope Meridian Township will graciously grant their application for Special Use Permit to use our building 

and provide the opportunity for us an educational partnership. 

Blessings, 

Timothy Peng 

Sr. Pastor 

Lansing Chinese Christian Church 

616-254-9611 

 

----- 

In essentials, unity.  

In non- essentials, liberty. 

In all things, charity. 



1

Peter Menser

From: Emma Setterington <emma@setterington.name>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 11:19 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Support for Cedar Classical Academy's application

To the Meridian Township Planning Commission:  

 

I am writing to voice my support for Cedar Classical Academy's request to conduct school in the Lansing 

Chinese Christian Church building on Okemos Road.  

 

Cedar Classical Academy (CCA) is a private school founded by local families for local families. Strong family 

units, and parents who are engaged in their children's formation are essential for building strong civic 

communities. CCA trains kids to not only serve themselves but to love and serve their neighbors. The staff, 

parents and students of CCA are a group of people whose presence in Meridian Township will be an asset to the 

local community of residents and businesses. 

 

Also, the Lansing Chinese Christian Church fully supports CCA's use of their building throughout the week, as 

their own activities in the building primarily occur on weekends. Sharing the building is an environmentally and 

economically smart choice. 

 

For all of these reasons, I urge you to enthusiastically grant a special use permit to Cedar Classical Academy. 

 

Thank you for your attention. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Emma B. Setterington 

Greater Lansing resident, parent of four, and school volunteer 



1

Peter Menser

From: Meridian Township, MI <meridian-mi@enotify.visioninternet.com>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 11:24 AM

To: Peter Menser

Subject: Rezoning Bennett Road Holding Co

Message submitted from the <Meridian Township, MI> website. 

 

Site Visitor Name: Jk Mir 

Site Visitor Email: mirj1116@gmail.com  

 

In regards to the rezoning request. is it possible to hear from Okemos school board and Police department 

regarding impact of rezoning. 

Roundabout at the school is very scary in the morning as parents try to drop kids and rush to their work.Also, if 

we could get clear explanation as to why they are requesting change.Last meeting they say to give them 

flexibility and I am uncertain what that means? 



1

Peter Menser

From: JOYCE WIESINGER <jwiesinger@comcast.net>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 11:44 AM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Cc: Peter Menser

Subject: Rezoning request #19060 for Bennett Road Holding LLC

Neighbors in Champion Woods have been gathering information regarding this proposal since last 
year and it has been interesting to see that the new proposal is not offering any solution to the 
concerns expressed regarding the original application. 

 

My husband, Earl, and I live on the corner of Sophiea and Benca Way.   We have grave concerns 
about the increase in traffic on Sophiea if the two neighborhoods are going to be connected.   We 
already have a fair amount of speeding on Sophiea and an increase in cars will likely add to the noise 
and danger.  I see no reason why the entrance and exit to the new neighborhood cannot be limited to 
Bennett Rd.  I realize that the traffic to the school will be an issue and perhaps a solution can be 
created to remedy this situation. 

 

I was an associate broker with BriarWood Realty, which is now CBHB, for many years and have 
served as the Co-Director of the New Homes Division working with local developers and builders.   I 
understand the need for more places to build new homes and the tremendous investment it takes to 
put in the infrastructure.    I have sold many Mayberry homes and have always felt they are a good 
value for the price point.   I have also experienced developments like Okemos Preserve and Hawk's 
Nest in East Lansing where the streets are dangerously narrow and the lots very small.    

 

I will not take up your time as I know the board and others are discussing many other concerns which 
I would only echo.   There has to be a solution that will be acceptable to all parties.   Perhaps a little 
more homework on the part of the developer would be most appropriate. 

 

Sincerely,   Joyce Wiesinger  4134 E. Benca Way 



1

Peter Menser

From: Earl Wiesinger <earlwiesinger@comcast.net>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 12:52 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG); Peter Menser

Subject: Objection to connecting Champion Woods subdivision to proposed subdivision due to 

traffic constraints

Gentlemen 

 

I would like to voice concern over the traffic constraints that will occur if the Champion Woods 
subdivision is connected to the proposed subdivision, and my concern is threefold; namely, the 
excess speed on Sophiea, the crossing of Sophiea outside the designated cross walk at Hullett, and 
the traffic congestion at the time of the morning bus stops at Hullett Road and Sophiea Parkway.  If 
these two subdivisions are connected, the traffic will more than double, which would only 
magnify these problems, and thus should be a major reason to NOT authorize this connection to 
occur. 

 

We live at the corner of Sophiea and Benca Way and have observed vehicles exceeding the posted 
speed limit on Sophiea, both east and westbound, which is of particular concern with children 
crossing back and forth on Sophiea to reach the small playground on Sophiea or to cross over 
Sophiea as they walk to the bus stop on Hullet Road, particularly in the darkened mornings during the 
winter months.   

 

The traffic congestion that already takes place at the time of the two morning bus stops at Hullett 
Road occurs in three incidents; namely, traffic is backed up on both Hullett and Sophiea, students are 
exiting cars to proceed to the bus stop and three, some automobiles are making U-turns at Sophiea 
and Benham.  This congestion will only increase if the subdivisions are connected and the traffic on 
Sophiea doubles.  These are the safety concerns that will surely increase if the Champion Woods 
subdivision is connected to the proposed subdivision and thus I object to any connection between the 
two subdivision. 

 

Thank you for sharing my concern. 

 

Sincerely yours, 

 

Earl Wiesinger, 517-749-5395 



	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 June	7,	2019	
	
Dear	Planning	Commission	Chair,	Vice	Chair,	Secretary,	and	Commissioners,	
	
	
I’m	a	resident	in	the	Champion	Woods	subdivision	in	Okemos,	MI.		First	I	want	to	
thank	you	for	your	service	to	our	community	and	appreciate	your	expertise	on	land	
use.		I’m	strongly	opposed	to	the	RA	zoning	density,	which	is	the	core	component	of	
rezoning	request	#19060	(Bennett	Road	Holding	LLC),	for	the	following	reasons.	
	
	
Fundamentally	identical	to	rezoning	request	#18120	
	
Request	#19060	is	identical	to	rezoning	request	#18120	(Bennett	Road	Holding	
LLC),	which	the	Planning	Commission	planned	to	deny	before	the	original	request	
was	withdrawn	on	10/30/2018.		While	the	applicant	has	added	some	conditions	in	
request	#19060,	all	of	your	reasons	for	expressing	concerns	over	rezoning	this	
parcel	still	hold.	
	
	
Wrong	assumption	used	by	the	applicant	and	traffic	study	
	
The	applicant	stated,	“Current	zoning	allows	for	up	to	216	units	and	the	requested	
rezoning	will	limit	the	number	of	dwelling	units	to	a	maximum	of	210.		The	reduced	
lot	count	will	act	to	preserve	natural	features	and	lessen	the	burden	on	local	roads”.		
I’d	like	to	emphasize	that	this	reasoning	is	based	on	the	false	premise	that	216	lots	
could	actually	be	built	on	the	parcel	with	the	current	zoning.		Given	the	prevalence	
of	floodplain	and	wetlands,	216	lots	cannot	be	built	on	the	parcel	with	the	current	
zoning	and	thus	the	request	does	not	reduce	lot	count	but	increases	it.		The	traffic	
study	concludes,	“	The	traffic	volumes	generated	by	the	proposed	rezoning	are	
expected	to	decrease	the	total	traffic	trips	from	this	property”.		The	traffic	study	is	
also	based	on	the	wrong	assumption	that	216	sites	could	be	constructed	on	the	
parcel	with	the	current	zoning	ignoring	the	fact	that	much	of	the	property	is	
wetlands	and	floodplain.	The	rezoning	does	not	decrease	the	traffic	volume	but	
increases	it.	
	
	
Zoning	goes	with	the	land,	not	the	owner’s	supposed	intent	
	
Zoning	decisions	are	specific	for	the	parcel	of	land	and	not	to	an	individual	person	
who	sought	the	zoning	approval.		Zoning	belongs	to	the	land,	not	the	owner.		
Owners	come	and	go,	but	the	land	stays	put.		When	an	owner	requests	a	change	in	
zoning,	they	will	often	tell	you	what	they	intend	to	do	with	the	land.	But	the	zoning	
stays	with	the	land.			
	



Rezoning	request	#19060	requested	the	RA	zoning	density	with	conditions	to	
develop	the	parcel	as	PUD	and	limit	the	number	of	dwelling	units	to	a	maximum	of	
210.		But	we	don’t	know	if	there	is	a	time	period	during	which	the	conditions	apply	
to	the	land.		Is	it	5	years,	10	years	or	20	years?		And	if	the	applicant	gets	the	
requested	RA	zoning	and	sells	the	land	to	a	new	property	owner	later	on,	do	the	
conditions	associated	with	this	rezoning	request	apply	to	the	new	landowner?		All	of	
these	are	unknown	to	the	public. 
 
 
Medical	marijuana	impact	
	
The	18	medical	marijuana	facilities	to	be	operated	in	the	township	will	put	strings	
on	police,	fire,	emergency	service	etc.		The	high	demand	on	public	safety	by	
marijuana	businesses	is	due	to	the	fact	that	cannabis	is	illegal	under	federal	law	and	
all	related	transactions	are	cash	only.		If	the	township	chooses	to	opt	in	for	
recreational	marijuana	in	2020,	there	will	be	even	more	demand	on	public	safety.		
The	township	just	doesn’t	have	enough	resources	to	support	the	RA	zoning	which	is	
very	dense	and	large	in	size	of	96.74	acres.	
	
Last	but	not	least,	the	applicant	needs	to	pay	application	fee.	The	application	form	
shows		$4,400	was	paid	in	September	2018	so	nothing	has	been	paid	this	time.		But	
application	#19060	is	a	new	request.		Section	E.1.	of	rezoning	application	form	
clearly	states	that	application	fee	is	nonrefundable.		Therefore	the	$4.4K	fee	paid	for	
request	#18120	can’t	be	refunded	and	applied	to	rezoning	request	#19060.	
	

	
	
	
The parcel can be developed as it is currently zoned.  I suggest Planning 
Commission stay with its original decision to not approve rezoning request 
#19060. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Yingxin	Zhou	
equities	trader,	CPA	



1

Peter Menser

From: Cui, Yue <cuiyue@msu.edu>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 3:34 PM

To: Peter Menser; Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Oppose the proposal for Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC)

Dear planning committees, 

 

I live in 2687 Sophiea PKWY. I am writing this letter to oppose the proposal of Rezoning #19060 (Bennett 

Road Holding LLC). 

 

This re-zoning application didn’t have a clear reason why the land needs to be rezoned.  There is no reason to 

approve the application based on the information listed in the application form.   

 

This re-submitted application didn’t have significant changes compared to the applications submitted last fall 

(dropped 6 units). The residents in Okemos raised many issues and potential negative impacts (safety, traffic, 

public health, dredging, environmental hazards, property value drops, inconsistent zoning to the existing zones, 

etc.) for this rezoning proposal. The applicant didn’t address any of these concerns in this re-submitted 

application. 

 

Since the concerns that the Meridian Township residents addressed in last fall’s public hearing were not 

mentioned in this re-submitted application, I can see that many residents may raise the same or similar questions 

in next Monday's meeting. The meeting might have a similar result. The applicant may withdraw the application 

and re-submit without significant changes later on even without paying an application fee. For the applicant, it 

is only one company's minor work (no significant changes for the application). However, the 

township, planning committee, and residents have to put a significant amount of time and resource for this 

matter each time without valuable outcome.  

 

We respectfully ask you to vote "no" on the proposed rezoning. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Yue Cui 

 

  



1

Peter Menser

From: Gwen Hummel <gwen.hummel@gmail.com>

Sent: Friday, June 07, 2019 3:45 PM

To: Planning Commision (DG)

Subject: Cedar Classical Academy

Dear Planning Commission members,  

 

Thank you for investing your time and talents to serve on the Planning Commission. It shows that you are 

concerned for your community and willing to take action to see that good decisions are made. 

 

A strong community is a result of strong families. Cedar Classical Academy (CCA) is designed to help parents 

teach their kids in an effective, structured way that will produce productive members of society. 54% of 

Americans either remain in the community in which they were raised, or return after college or early career 

work.  

https://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2015/03/staying-close-to-home-no-matter-what/387736 

Kids with self discipline, high standards and a hard work ethic will give back to your community in the short 

run and in the long run. 

 

Strong communities are built on freedom. Public education in the U.S. has been wonderful in many respects, 

and each of the families who choose to attend CCA will support their local public schools with many tax dollars 

every year. 

They have no choice about that. But if they choose to use their own finances to give their child a private 

classical education, there should be adequate schools available for them to do so.  

 

Meridian Township and the Chinese Christian Church is an excellent location for this freedom to be excercised. 

 

Thank you for considering this superb team of people who will invest positively in your community as you 

have. 

 

Respectfully, 

Scott and Gwen Hummel 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  

 

From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 

 

Date:  June 6, 2019 

 

Re: Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC), rezone approximately 96.74 

acres located on the north side of Bennett Road, east of Hagadorn Road from 

RR (Rural Residential), RAA (Single Family-Low Density), and RAAA (Single 

Family-Low Density) to RA (Single Family-Medium Density) with conditions. 

 

 

Bennett Holding, LLC has requested the rezoning of approximately 96.74 acres located on the 

north side of Bennett Road, east of Hagadorn Road, from RR (Rural Residential), RAA (Single Family-

Low Density), and RAAA (Single Family-Low Density) to RA (Single Family-Medium Density).  The 

applicant has offered to condition the rezoning on development of the property using the planned 

unit development (PUD) ordinance with a maximum of 210 residential units.   The current zoning 

consists of approximately 13 acres of RAA zoning, 75 acres of RAAA zoning, and eight acres of RR 

zoning.  The following table provides information on the seven parcels included in the rezoning:  

 

Property/Parcel I.D. Acreage Street Frontage 

2862 Bennett Road 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-008 
1.8 acres 264 feet 

2824 Bennett Road 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-020 
1.52 acres 201 feet 

2806 Bennett Road 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-021 
1.28 acres 200 feet 

2800 Bennett Road 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-026 
2.02 acres 0 feet 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-025 30.2 acres 263 feet 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-300-023 37.6 acres 198 feet 

Parcel I.D. #33-02-02-29-251-009 22.3 acres 
65 feet Creekstone Ln. 

60 feet Sophiea Pkwy. 

 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the same request, with the exception of the 

conditions now offered by the applicant, at its October 22, 2018 meeting.  At the meeting the 

Planning Commissioners shared concerns with the proposal related to density, environmental 

impacts, and traffic.  A straw poll taken at the end of the public hearing indicated a likely 

recommendation to the Township Board to deny the rezoning.  The applicant withdrew the request 

shortly after the public hearing. 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 2 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

In 2002, 75 of the 96.74 acres was approved by the Township Board for rezoning (Rezoning 

#02020) from I (Industrial) to RAAA (Single Family-Low Density).  A special use permit (SUP 

#81021) was granted in 1981 for a sand and gravel excavation operation on the property, which 

has since ceased operation. 

 

LOCATION MAP 

 

 
 

Future Land Use Map 

 

The Future Land Use Map from the 2017 Master Plan designates the subject property in the R-2 

Residential 0.5 – 3.5 dwelling units per acre (du/a) category.  The 2017 Master Plan shows the 

proposed RA zoning district as consistent with both the R-2 and R-3 Future Land Use Map 

categories.  With a maximum density of approximately 3.57 dwelling units per acre (du/a), the 

proposed rezoning to RA would be consistent with either the R-2-Residential (0.5-3.5 du/a) or R-3 

(1.25-3.5 du/a) Future Land Use Map designations.   

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 3 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

2017 FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

Zoning 

 

The subject site is located in the RR (Rural Residential), RAA (Single Family-Low Density), and 

RAAA (Single Family-Low Density) zoning districts.  The following table compares the required 

minimum lot width and lot area standards for the existing RR, RAA, and RAAA zoning districts with 

the proposed RA zoning district: 

 

ZONING DISTRICT 
MINIMUM 

LOT AREA 

MINIMUM 

LOT WIDTH 

 Existing RAA 13,500 sq. ft. 90 ft. 

Existing RAAA 20,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 

Existing RR 40,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

 Proposed RA 10,000 sq. ft. 80 ft. 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 4 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

ZONING MAP 

 

 
 

Physical Features 

 

Three of the parcels fronting on Bennett Road are developed with single family homes and related 

accessory buildings.  A parcel with no road frontage developed with a 7,840 square foot industrial 

building is also included in the proposed rezoning. 

 

Floodplain 

 

The Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for Meridian Township indicates there are areas of both 

floodway and floodway fringe on portions of the property.  The Herron Creek Drain and associated 

floodway runs south to north on the western edge of the subject site. 

 

 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 5 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

FLOODPLAIN MAP 

 

 
 

Wetlands 

 

Wetlands on a portion of the property proposed for rezoning were delineated by the Township’s 

wetland consultant in 2017.  The delineation identified three wetlands, designated by letters A, B, 

and C.  Two other wetland areas are shown on the Township’s wetland map, which were not 

included in the delineation provided by the applicant.  Of the three wetlands delineated, only 

Wetland A is regulated by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) 

and Meridian Township based on its size (9.06 acres) and the distance from a regulated water body 

(river, stream/drain, or inland lake).  Regulated wetlands equal to or greater than two acres in size 

require a 40 foot setback from the delineated boundary and wetlands greater than one quarter acre 

but smaller than two acres require a 20 foot setback.   

 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 6 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

Wetland B (0.83 acre) is not regulated by EGLE but could be regulated by Meridian Township if it is 

determined by the Township Board to be essential to the preservation of the natural resources of the 

Township.  Wetland C (0.16 acre) is not regulated by the Township or EGLE as it is below the 0.25 

acre standard established for regulation in the Wetland Protection ordinance. 

 

WETLAND MAP 

 

 
 

Greenspace Plan 

 

The Township Greenspace Plan shows a Priority Conservation Corridor (PCC) and Fragile Link on 

portions of the property.  A PCC is a network of ecologically significant open spaces.  A Fragile Link 

describes an area where the PCC is exceptionally narrow or fragmented.  The Greenspace Plan is a 

guide used by staff to identify areas of potential environmental features but was not adopted as a 

Township ordinance. 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 7 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

GREENSPACE MAP 

 

 
 

Streets & Traffic 

 

The subject site is located on the north side of Bennett Road.  Bennett Road is a two-lane road 

designated as a Collector Street on the Street Setbacks and Service Drives Map in the zoning 

ordinance.  The most recent (2010) traffic count information from the Ingham County Road 

Department (ICRD) for Bennett Road between Hulett Road and Hagadorn Road showed a total of 

6,010 vehicles in a 24 hour period. 

 

The 2017 Master Plan shows a proposed seven foot wide pathway along the north side of Bennett 

Road.  The applicant will be required to construct the portion of the pathway located along the 

Bennett Road property frontage should development be proposed for this site. 

 

 

 

 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 8 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

A traffic study is required for rezonings which would generate over 100 vehicle trips during the 

peak hours of traffic on adjacent roadways.  The applicant submitted a traffic study comparing the 

estimated change in traffic as a result of the proposed rezoning.  The table below compares 

estimated traffic generation under the existing RR, RAA, and RAAA zoning and proposed RA 

zoning.  It estimates future traffic using data from the highest potential traffic generator allowed in 

each zoning district, which in this case is single family housing.  Traffic generation was analyzed 

using the estimated maximum number of dwelling units that could be developed on the property 

under the existing RR, RAA, and RAAA and proposed RA zoning districts, as identified by the 

applicant’s traffic consultant.  The study estimated traffic from 216 homes for the existing zoning and 

210 homes for the proposed RA zoning.  The density figures used by the applicant’s traffic consultant 

do not incorporate reductions for roads or land in the floodplain or covered by wetlands. 

 

 

Existing RR, RAA, & 

RAAA zoning, 

(216 homes) 

Proposed RA zoning, 

(210 homes with PUD) 
Change 

Peak Hour trips 

 

161 (a.m.) 

210 (p.m.) 

154 (a.m.) 

207 (p.m.) 

-7 

-3 

Weekday trips 2,133 2,058 -75 

 

The findings of the submitted traffic study note that the intersection sight distance for the 

proposed new roadway intersection on Bennett Road should be checked and verified by the site 

engineer for compliance with the Ingham County Road Department sight distance standards for 

intersections.  

 

Utilities 

 

Municipal water and sanitary sewer is available in the vicinity of the subject site.  The location and 

capacity of utilities for any proposed development will be reviewed in detail by the Department of 

Public Works and Engineering at the time of a development proposal. 

 

Staff Analysis 

 

The applicant has requested the rezoning of approximately 96.74 acres from RR, RAA, and RAAA to 

RA with conditions.  When evaluating a rezoning request, the Planning Commission should consider 

all uses permitted by right and by special use permit in the current and proposed zoning districts, as 

well as the reasons for rezoning listed on page two of the rezoning application.  

 

With the conditions offered by the applicant, if the rezoning were approved by the Township Board, 

the applicant would only be able to develop the land using the Township’s planned unit development 

(PUD) ordinance and density of any future development project would be limited to 210 units.  The 

condition does not guarantee the developer 210 lots, but will establish a maximum.   These 

conditions run with the land and would apply to future owners if the property were to be sold.  To 

request amendment or removal of the conditions placed on the rezoning any owner would have to 

go back through the rezoning process and receive approval from the Township Board. 



 

Rezoning #19060 (Bennett Road Holding, LLC) 

Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 

Page 9 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

The intent of the PUD ordinance is to permit greater flexibility and more creative design of 

residential areas than is possible under conventional zoning regulations.  The PUD ordinance allows 

a developer to propose a residential project with diverse housing types and different lot dimensions 

and yard setbacks as those prescribed in the underlying zoning district.  Lot size, yards, frontage 

requirements, setbacks, building height, and type and size of dwelling unit restrictions are generally 

waived in a PUD.  In exchange for the flexible standards, a minimum of 50% of the project area, 

excluding wetlands and floodplains, must be preserved as open space. 

 

To estimate potential density of any proposed residential zoning district a factor called maximum 

dwelling units per acre (du/a) is used that considers minimum lot sizes permitted in the zoning 

district and a percent reduction for road rights-of-way.  The number of units produced using this 

calculation is just a guide to help identify potential future density, it does not factor in wetland areas, 

topography, soils, utilities, site layout, or other factors that may limit buildable area.  The following 

offers an estimate of potential density under the current RR, RAA, and RAAA zoning arrangement 

and proposed rezoning to RA: 

 

Development under current zoning 

8 acres of RR zoning x 0.98 maximum dwelling units per acre (du/a) = 8 total lots 

13 acres of RAA zoning x 2.64 maximum dwelling units per acre (du/a) = 34 total lots 

75 acres of RAAA zoning x 1.79 maximum dwelling units per acre (du/a) = 134 total lots 

Total estimated lots under current zoning: 176 lots  

 

Development under proposed RA zoning 

96.74 acres of RA zoning x 3.57 du/a = 345 total lots 

 

Planning Commission Options 

 

The Planning Commission may recommend approval or denial of the request, or it may recommend 

a different zoning designation than proposed by the applicant to the Township Board.  A resolution 

will be provided at a future meeting. 

 

Attachments 

1. Application and supporting materials. 

2. Submitted traffic study. 

3. Rezoning criteria. 

 

 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\REZONINGS (REZ)\2019\REZ 19060 (Bennett Road Holding LLC)\REZ 19060.pc1.docx 
 

 

 































 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Updated 
 

TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT 
 

For the 
 

Proposed Rezoning of 
 

96.74 Acres on Bennett Road 
 
 
 
 
 

Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, MI 
 
 

May, 2019 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 



 

 

 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

                       Page 
 

Project Description        1 
 

Aerial Photo         2 
 
Existing Conditions        3 
 
Land Use         3 
 
Traffic Generation        4 

 
Table 1 – Comparison between Existing and Proposed Zoning  5 
 
Findings         6 
 
Sight Distance         6 
 
Conclusions         6 

  
 



1 
 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
This rezoning request is for a parcel of land located on the north side of Bennett Road between 
Hulett Road and Hagadorn Road in Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan.  The 
purpose of this study is to determine the difference between the potential traffic that could be 
generated by the existing zoning on this parcel, and the potential traffic that could be generated by 
the proposed future zoning on the same parcel. 
 
The entire parcel consists of approximately 96.74 acres, with 75.55 acres currently currently zoned 
One-Family Low-Density Residential (RAAA); approximately 12.91 acres currently zoned One-
Family/Low-Density Residential (RAA); and the balance of approximately 8.28 acres is currently 
zoned One-Family Rural Residential (RR).  The rezoning request for this parcel is a One-Family 
Medium-Density Residential (RA) zoning as a planned unit development (PUD), with a maximum 
lot count of 210 units. 
 
For comparison purposes, the trip generation for the existing zoning was based on the most 
appropriate trip generator that Meridian Township will allow under the One-Family Low-Density 
Residential (RAAA) zoning, One-Family/Low-Density Residential (RAA) and One-Family Rural 
Residential (RR).  The trip generation for the future zoning was determined by the most appropriate 
trip generator use allowed by Meridian Township under the proposed One-Family Medium-
Density Residential (RA) zoning.  
 
As all four (4) zoning categories are residential, the difference in each zoning district is the density 
of residential units.   
 
The traffic analysis consists of the following items: 
 

• Comparison of the proposed trips generated by the existing residential zoning to the 
proposed residential zoning. 

 
• Discussion of any potential sight distance issues. 

 
This study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines set forth in “Evaluating Traffic Impact 
Studies, A Recommended Practice for Michigan Communities,” sponsored by the Tri-County 
Regional Planning Commission and the Michigan Department of Transportation, and the Meridian 
Charter Township Zoning Ordinance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Aerial Photo 

 

 

STUDY 
SITE 



3 
 

 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
Bennett Road is an east-west roadway at the proposed site.  The roadway is paved with four (4) 
foot paved shoulders on each side and there are no sidewalks at the proposed parcel.  Bennett Road 
is under the jurisdiction of the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) with a posted speed limit 
of 45 MPH.  
 

LAND USE 
 
Surrounding land uses consist of residential to the south, Bennett Woods Elementary School to the 
immediate east, the College Fields golf course to the immediate west and the golf course with 
residential homes to the south. 
 
 
 



4 
 

 

TRAFFIC GENERATION 
 
Trip generation rates were derived from the ITE TRIP GENERATION MANUAL (10th edition).  
To determine the land use that would generate the maximum number of vehicle trips under each 
zoning category, the Meridian Charter Township zoning guidelines were utilized to determine the 
density of each residential zoning district.   
 
The 75.55 acres currently zoned One-Family Low-Density Residential (RAAA) has a minimum 
lot size of 20,000 square feet, the maximum number of dwelling units under this zoning that could 
be built are 165 units. The 12.91 acres currently zoned One-Family/Low-Density Residential 
(RAA) has a minimum lot size of 13,500 square feet, the maximum number of dwelling units 
under this zoning that could be built are 42 units. The 8.28 acres currently zoned One-Family Rural 
Residential (RR) has a minimum lot size of 40,000 square feet, the maximum number of dwelling 
units under this zoning that could be built are 9 units. The maximum total number of residential 
units that could be built on the 96.74 acres under the existing zoning is 216 units. 
 
The proposed new zoning for the entire 96.74 acres is One-Family Medium-Density Residential 
(RA) as a planned unit development (PUD), with a request for a maximum lot count of 210 units.  
 
The ITE trip generation rates for Single-Family Detached Housing, Land Use Code 210, were 
selected as representing both the 216 residential units under the existing zoning and the 210 
residential units under the proposed zoning. The ITE description of Single-Family Detached 
Housing is as follows: 
 
Single-family detached housing includes all single-family detached homes on individual lots.  A 
typical site surveyed is a suburban subdivision. 
 
The comparison of trip generation between the existing zoning and the proposed zoning is 
summarized in Table 1.   
 
  



5 
 

 

 
Table 1 

Comparison Between  
Existing and Proposed Zoning 

 

 

 
Existing  Zoning  
(RAAA) (RAA) 

& (RR) 
 

Proposed 
Zoning  (RA) 

with PUD 

Difference 
in Zoning 

ITE Code 

Single-Family 
Detached 
Housing 

(210) 

Single-Family 
Detached 
Housing 

(210)  

Size 
 

216 Units 210 Units  
    
AM Peak Hour Trips 161 154 -7 

In 
Out 

 

40 
121 

38 
116 

-2 
-5 

PM Peak Hour Trips 210 207 -3 
In 
Out 

 

132 
78 

130 
77 

-2 
-1 

Weekday Daily Trips 
 

2,133 2,058 -75 

  
 
 

 
  
 
 



6 
 

 

FINDINGS 
 
The total trips generated by rezoning the 96.74 acres of One-Family Low-Density Residential 
(RAAA), One-Family/Low-Density and One-Family Rural Residential (RR), to One-Family 
Medium-Density Residential (RA) zoning as a planned unit development (PUD) is expected to 
decrease the total vehicle trips from this property.  It is projected that the vehicle trips will decrease 
by 7 trips during the AM peak hour, 3 trips during the PM peak hour, and 75 vehicle trips during 
a 24-hour weekday. 
 
 
SIGHT DISTANCE 
 
A field review of the location for the proposed new roadway for the development on Bennett Road 
revealed that there could be an issue with sight distance for eastbound traffic on Bennett Road.  It 
is recommended that the site engineer provide a centerline profile of Bennett Road which shows 
the existing intersection sight distance, and the safe sight distance, and compare these with the 
Ingham County Road Department sight distance table in their “Rules, Standards and Procedures 
for Driveways, Banners and Parades Upon or Over Ingham County Road Commission Right of 
Way”.  
 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
A summary of the findings of this study are listed as follows: 
 

• The traffic volumes generated by the proposed rezoning of 96.74 acres to One-Family 
Medium-Density Residential (RA) as a planned unit development (PUD), compared to the 
trips generated by the existing 96.74 acres which consist of 75.55 acres of One-Family 
Low-Density Residential (RAAA); 12.91 acres of One-Family/Low Density Residential; 
and 8.28 acres of One-Family Rural Residential (RR), are expected to decrease the total 
vehicle trips from this property. 

 
• The intersection sight distance for the proposed new roadway intersection on Bennett Road 

should be checked and verified by the site engineer.  The sight distance should comply 
with the Ingham County Road Department sight distance standards for intersections. 
 



 

 
Page 2 

Part II        REASONS FOR REZONING REQUEST 
 
Respond only to the items which you intend to support with proof.  Explain your position on the lines 
below, and attach supporting information to this form. 

 
A. Reasons why the present zoning is unreasonable: 

 
1)    There is an error in the boundaries of the Zoning Map, specifically: ______________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________         
 

2)    The conditions of the surrounding area have changed in the following respects: ____________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

         
3)  The current zoning is inconsistent with the Township’s Master Plan, explain: 

____________________________________________________________________________  
         
4)    The Township did not follow the procedures that are required by Michigan laws, when adopting 

the Zoning Ordinance, specifically: ________________________________________________ 
        ___________________________________________________________________________ 

       
5)    The Township did not have a reasonable basis to support the current zoning classification at 

the time it was adopted; and the zoning has exempted the following legitimate uses from the 
area: _______________________________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
6)  The current zoning restrictions on the use of the property do not further the health safety or 

general welfare of the public, explain: ______________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

B. Reasons why the requested zoning is appropriate: 
 

1)  Requested rezoning is consistent with the Township’s Master Plan, explain: 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2)  Requested rezoning is compatible with other existing and proposed uses surrounding the site, 

specifically:___________________________________________________________________  
   

3)  Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on the natural environment, 
explain: _____________________________________________________________________ 

 
4)  Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on traffic circulation, water 

and sewer systems, education, recreation or other public services, 
explain:______________________________________________________________________ 

 
5)  Requested rezoning addresses a proven community need, specifically: ___________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

6)  Requested rezoning results in logical and orderly development in the Township, explain: 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
7)  Requested rezoning will result in better use of Township land, resources and properties and 

therefore more efficient expenditure of Township funds for public improvements and services, 
explain: _____________________________________________________________________ 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
 
  Mackenzie Dean, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  June 5, 2019 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation), amend 

existing special use permit to establish Cedar Classical Academy, a private K-
8 school, in an existing 14,800 square foot church located at 3654 Okemos 
Road. 

 
 
Cedar Endowment Corporation has requested special use permit approval to amend an existing 
special use permit (SUP) to establish Cedar Classical Academy, a private K-8 school, in an existing 
14,800 square foot church (Lansing Chinese Christian Church) located at 3654 Okemos Road.  
Schools are allowed in nonresidential districts subject to SUP approval.  
 
The property is occupied by the Lansing Chinese Christian Church.  The building was formerly 
occupied by Cornerstone Assembly of God Church.  The 8.9 acre subject site is zoned RR (Rural 
Residential).  A SUP (SUP #95151) was granted in 1995 for the construction of a 14,800 square 
foot church with a daycare center located at 3654 Okemos Road.  The church will remain in 
operation with the school operating outside of the church’s regular worship hours.  
 
The applicant has indicated Cedar Classical Academy will operate Monday through Friday from 
8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.  The proposed hours of operation are not expected to conflict with Lansing 
Chinese Christian Church, which are primarily Sundays and some weekday evenings.  Two full-
time staff will be at the school during the hours of operation every day.  Two part-time staff will be 
at the school for approximately 15-20 hours a week.  Staff may arrive earlier or depart later than 
regular school hours.  Cedar Classical Academy has 22 students enrolled for the 2019-2020 school 
year and expects no more than 25 students.  The school intends to begin operation as a K-6 school, 
adding one grade each year until 2022, when the applicant may reassess the SUP to include 
additional grades.  
 
The applicant does not intend to alter the existing building, as the building includes first floor 
classrooms, a fire suppression system, a fire alarm system, ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990) compliant bathrooms, multiple exit doors with security crash bars, and ample parking.  The 
original SUP approval in 1995 was granted with a daycare center, however Lansing Chinese 
Christian Church has agreed to remove the day care use from the special use permit.    
 
Master Plan 
 
The Future Land Use Map from the 2017 Master Plan designates the subject property in the 
Institutional category.  The proposed use is consistent with the future land use Institutional 
category.  



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 2 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
 

 
 
Zoning 
 
The subject site is zoned RR (Rural Residential) which requires a minimum of 200 feet of lot width 
and 40,000 square feet of lot area.  The subject site has 303 feet of lot frontage along Okemos Road 
and 387,684 square feet, or 8.9 acres, of lot area, conforms to the minimum lot width and lot area 
standards of the RR (Rural Residential) zoning district.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 3 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

ZONING MAP 
 

 
 
Physical Features 
 
The approximate 8.9 acre site is located on the east side of Okemos Road, north of Association 
Drive.  The site is developed with a 14,800 square foot church building operated by Lansing 
Chinese Christian Church.  A 1,569 square foot single family dwelling is located along Okemos 
Road, which is used for church storage.  The house was originally constructed in 1942 and 
remodeled in 1958.  The site does not have any special designation on the Township Greenspace 
Plan and is not located in a floodplain.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 4 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Wetland  
 
A 0.69 acre wetland is present on the southwest portion of the subject property.  The previous 
applicant (Cornerstone Outreach Ministries) requested and received approval of a 20 foot variance 
from the wetland setback standard and a 20 foot variance from the wetland natural vegetation 
strip standard to allow the parking area to encroach into the wetland setback.  No activities are 
proposed near the wetland. 
 

WETLAND MAP 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 5 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Streets and Traffic 
 
The approximate 8.9 acre site is located on the east side of Okemos Road.  Access to the site is 
provided from Okemos Road.  A seven foot wide pathway is installed along the Okemos Road 
frontage.  Okemos Road is four-lane roadway with a center turn lane and curb and gutter classified 
as a Principal Arterial Street, which requires a setback of 100 feet from the centerline of the right-
of-way. The applicant is not proposing to create new driveways to the site.  The most recent 
(2010) traffic count information from Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) showed a 
total of 24,641 two-way vehicle trips in a 24 hour period.   
 
A traffic assessment is required for new special uses or an expansion or change of an existing 
special use where increase in intensity would generate between 50 to 99 directional trips during a 
peak hour of traffic.  A peak hour of traffic is the hour of the highest volume of traffic entering and 
existing the site during a.m. or p.m. hours.  The applicant submitted a traffic generation analysis 
prepared by Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. dated May 13, 2019 that provides information on 
traffic generated by the proposed project at the highest capacity of the project in 2021-2022, when 
8th grade in anticipated to begin.  The study looks at existing, background, and future level of 
service (LOS) during the AM (7:30-8:30 a.m.) and PM (4:45-5:45 p.m.) peak hours.  
 
The applicant’s traffic consultant noted that trip generation rates were derived from information 
provided by the applicant based on projected school numbers.  The impact study provided by the 
traffic consultant utilizes data for the 2021-2022 school years, the time frame when 8th grade is 
anticipated to be open.  Application materials indicate there are expected to be 60 students 
enrolled during the 2021-2022 school year.  Those 60 students are part of 25 families, so there is 
expected to be 25 vehicles arriving each morning to drop off students.  Of the 25 vehicles arriving 
during the morning, 40% of them will be staying on site to work or volunteer at the school, which 
equates to 10 vehicles remaining and 15 vehicles leaving.  According to application materials, it is 
anticipated that all 25 vehicles will be leaving in the afternoon.  In addition, it is anticipated that 
there will be two staff members on site all day that are not parents.  The following table 
summarizes the data described above:  
 

Description 
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

In Out Total In Out Total 

Parent (drop-
off/pick-up only)  

15 15 30 15 15 30 

Parent (also school 
staff/volunteer)  

10 0 10 0 10 10 

Staff (non-parent) 2 0 2 0 2 2 

Total  27 15 42 15 27 42 

 



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 6 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

The study shows that the proposed use is expected to generate 42 vehicle trips in the AM peak 
hour and 42 vehicle trips in the PM peak hour.  Weekday total estimates were not included in the 
data provided.  The applicant’s traffic consultant stated that neither a traffic assessment nor a 
traffic impact statement will be required for this project based on projected traffic volumes.  
 
Utilities 
 
The site is served by public water and sanitary sewer.  
 
Staff Analysis 
 
Cedar Endowment Corporation has requested SUP approval to amend an existing SUP to establish 
Cedar Classical Academy, a private K-8 school, in an existing 14,800 square foot church (Lansing 
Chinese Christian Church) located at 3654 Okemos Road.  A SUP is required for the school as a 
nonresidential use in a residential district.  Standards for review of a nonresidential use in a 
residential district are found in Section 86-126, the general special use permit criteria, and in 
Section 86-654, nonresidential structures and uses in residential districts. 
 
A special use permit (SUP #95151) was granted in 1995 for the construction of a 14,800 square 
foot church with a daycare center located at 3654 Okemos Road.  The previous applicant 
(Cornerstone Outreach Ministries) was granted two extensions to the SUP, receiving site plan 
approval in 2000 under Site Plan Review (SPR) #00-06.  Cornerstone Outreach Ministries also 
received SUP approval in 2000 under SUP #00-95151 to allow for the construction of a 3,500 
square foot outdoor pavilion to hold outdoor church services, which was never constructed.  
 
Nonresidential structures and uses are subject to specific standards for location and development 
found in Sections 86-654 (e) and (f), summarized as follows: 
 
1. Preferable location at the edge of a residential district, abutting a business or industrial 

district, or a public open space. 
 
3654 Okemos Road is located in the southern portion of Meridian Township on east of Okemos Road 
and north of Association Drive.  The site abuts one RA (One-Family Medium-Density Residential 
District) zoned single-family residence to the east; offices and professional buildings to its west zoned 
PO (Professional and Office District), a day care center (Rainbow Child Care Center) zoned RR (Rural 
Residential) to its north and to the south offices and professional buildings zoned PO.   
 
2. All means shall be utilized to face any permitted non-residential use on a major street. 
 
The existing structure faces Okemos Road.  
 
3. Motor vehicle entrance and exit should be made from a major street. 
 
Ingress and egress will be from Okemos Road. 
 
 



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 7 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

4.    Site locations are preferred that offer natural or manmade barriers that would lessen the effect 
of intrusion into residential areas. 

 
There are barriers between the site and the only abutting single-family residence to the east, though 
the vegetation is minimal to the south and east of the property.   
 
5. Will not require costly or uneconomic extension of utility service. 
 
The existing building is connected to the public water and sewer systems.  
 
6. The parcel size shall be at least two acres in size. 
 
The site is 8.9 acres in area.  
 
7. No more than 25 percent of the gross site shall be covered by buildings. 

 
Structures on the site, approximately 14,800 square feet, occupy approximately 3.8 percent of the 8.9 
acre site. 
 
8. No building shall be taller than that permitted in the underlying zoning district.   
 
The building is two-stories in height; buildings up to 2.5 stories (35 feet maximum) are permitted. 
 
9. The building’s appearance shall be harmonious and blend appropriately with the surrounding 

residential area. 
 
The church is harmonious with the surrounding residential area.  The applicant does not plan to 
modify the exterior or interior of the building.   
 
10. All signs shall be in accordance with sign regulations for non-residential uses in residential 

districts. 
 
The applicant has not indicated signs will be installed on the site.  Nonresidential structures and uses 
in residential districts are permitted one 25 square foot free-standing sign and one 20 square foot 
wall sign.  Lansing Chinese Christian Church has one freestanding sign and one wall sign.  Any 
additional signs would require approval by the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA).  
 
11.  Off-street parking spaces shall be provided as required by the zoning ordinance. 
 
The applicant intends to use existing church parking.   
 
12.  Any building housing a nonresidential use in a residential district may be no closer than 50 

feet     to any property line.   
  
Structures on the site are closer than 50 feet on the south property line near Gilden Woods Early Care 
and Preschool.  



 
Special Use Permit #19-95151 (Cedar Endowment Corporation)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 8 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the special use permit.  
A resolution will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachments 
 
1. Special use permit application and attachments received by the Township on May 14, 2019. 
2. Site plan prepared by FSE, dated March 26, 2001 (revision date September 1, 2005). 
3. Floor plans prepared by RMD Architects, dated June 6, 2019 and received by the Township on  

June 7, 2019.   
4. Trip Generation Analysis prepared by Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. dated May 13, 2019 

and received by the Township on May 14, 2019. 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\SPECIAL USE PERMITS (SUP)\2019\SUP 19-95151 (Cedar Endowment 
Corporation) \SUP 19-95151.pc1.docx 



























C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W



O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
1
4

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
4
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
4
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
3
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
5
4
0

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
1

8
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
1

8
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
3

6
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
3

6
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
1

8
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
3

6
0

E
G

R
E

S
S

 
C

A
P

A
C

I
T

Y
 
1

8
0



O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
3
0

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W



2
0

'
-
1

0
"

1
6

'
-
8

"
7

'
-
0

"
3

1
'
-
9

 
1

/
2

"
6

'
-
1

0
 
1

/
2

"
7

'
-
1

1
"

4
'
-
6

"
1

5
'
-
9

 
1

/
2

"

1
2

4
'
-
0

"

18'-8 1/2" 3'-9 1/2" 16'-0 1/2" 5'-2 1/2" 4'-7"

10'-11 1/2" 5'-2 1/2"

4'-2"

57'-5 1/2"

2
5

'
-
7

 
1

/
2

"
8

6
'
-
5

 
1

/
2

"

2
2

'
-
1

"

23'-4 1/2"14'-0 1/2"18'-10 1/2"10'-11 1/2"7'-0 1/2"17'-10 1/2"

7
3

'
-
6

"

59'-10 1/2"5'-8"7'-9 1/2"

6
'
-
5

 
1

/
2

"
6

'
-
6

"

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
1
4

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
4
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
4
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
3
0

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
5
4
0

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W



3'-7" 18'-10" 4'-6" 20'-6 1/2" 3'-2 1/2" 4'-1" 5'-7"

9
'
-
1

1
 
1

/
2

"
3

3
'
-
8

"
4

'
-
8

"
3

1
'
-
2

 
1

/
2

"
1

1
'
-
8

 
1

/
2

"
4

'
-
0

"
1

4
'
-
1

"
9

'
-
1

1
 
1

/
2

"

3'-7" 18'-8 1/2" 12'-11 1/2" 11'-7 1/2" 18'-11 1/2"3'-3" 23'-7 1/2"3'-9"

2
2

'
-
4

"

10'-11 1/2" 5'-4 1/2"

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 
-
 
3
0

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W

C
C

1
2

2
1

9

C
I
T

Y
 

CEDAR CLASSICAL ACADEMY

3654 OKEMOS ROAD

OKEMOS, MI 48864

R
M

D

R
E

V
I
E

W







 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
 
  Mackenzie Dean, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  June 6, 2019 
 
Re: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), 

develop a two-story, 36,156 square foot multi-tenant office building located 
at 2814 Eyde Parkway. 

 
 
Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC has submitted a mixed use planned unit development (MUPUD) proposal 
to construct a two-story, 36,156 square foot multi-tenant office building at 2814 Eyde Parkway.  
The 6.32 acre site is zoned PO (Professional and Office), conditioned on development using the 
MUPUD ordinance.   
  

 

 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 2 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

In addition to the MUPUD, a special use permit (SUP) is required for constructing a building totaling 
more than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area.  The SUP (SUP #19091) is being processed 
concurrently with the MUPUD request.  The applicant has requested that the Planning Commission 
make a decision regarding the requests the same night of the public hearing. 
 
Site History 
 
In 2000, the property owner received site plan review approval (SPR #00-14) to construct an 
approximately 21,994 square foot office building at 2859 Eyde Parkway.  In 2001, special use 
permit approval was granted (SUP #01111) to construct two additional office buildings (2814 and 
2827 Eyde Parkway) on the property, for a grand total of approximately 76,000 square feet 
between the three buildings.  Site plan approval (SPR #02-01) was granted for the additional two 
buildings in 2002.  The building at 2827 Eyde Parkway was completed in 2002.  While a building 
permit for 2814 Eyde Parkway was granted in 2004, and foundation work began, the project did 
not proceed and the permit ultimately expired in 2006.   
 
2008 Rezoning 
 
In 2008, 46 (of 81 acres) acres located east of Hagadorn Road, encompassing Hannah Boulevard, 
Eyde Parkway, and Esoteric Way were rezoned (Rezoning #08080).  The rezoning changed the 
zoning on five parcels in that area from RP (Research Park) to PO (Professional and Office) and C-2 
(Commercial) and PO (Professional and Office).  The changes are reflected in the graphic below:  
 

 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 3 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

The rezoning was conditioned on the development of the entire 81 acres in the rezoning area using 
the MUPUD ordinance and a maximum of 1,010 to 1,159 residential units distributed throughout 
and/or on portions of the 81 acres.  Other MUPUD projects in the 81 acre rezoning area to date 
include The Lodges (2009), The Lodges II (2012), the Residence Inn extended stay hotel (2013), 
and Hannah Lofts (2013).  The table below provides details on each project. 
 

Project Units Bedrooms Total Square Feet Acreage 
Lodges I 220 683 301,271 15.71 acres 
Lodges II 144 366 146,318 9.06 acres 
Residence Inn 96 rooms N/A 72,091 2.5 acres 
Hannah Lofts 282 702 378,240 7.9 acres 

 
Master Plan 
 
The Future Land Use Map from the 2017 Master Plan designates the subject property in the 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) category.  

 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 4 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Zoning 
 

The proposed project is located in the PO zoning district.  A MUPUD is permitted in the PO zoning 
district when public water and sewer are available.  All uses permitted by right and by special use 
permit in the underlying PO zoning district are permitted in a MUPUD.  PO zoning requires a 
minimum of 50 feet of lot width and 5,000 square feet of lot area.  The subject site has 107.8 
square feet of lot width and 275,299 square feet of lot area.   

 
ZONING MAP 

 

 
 

Physical Features 
 
The site is currently developed with a 21,994 square foot building occupied by Lansing 
Community College East, which was constructed in 2002.  Though the building at 2814 Eyde 
Parkway was never constructed, previous foundation is present from when development of the 
site began in 2004.  A parking lot and landscaping is also present on the site.  The Flood Insurance 
Rate Map (FIRM) for Meridian Township indicates the property is not located in a floodplain and 
wetlands are not present on the site.  No work is proposed in the floodplain at this time.  The 
floodplain in this area is located to the east of Eyde Parkway and Pioneer Trail.  Wetlands are 
limited to approximately the same area.  



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 5 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

FLOODPLAIN/WETLAND MAP 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 6 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

GREENSPACE PLAN MAP 
 

 
 
The Township Greenspace Plan shows a Fragile Link and Priority Corridor (PCC) southeast of the 
subject site.  A PCC is a network of ecologically significant open spaces.  A Fragile Link is an area 
where a PCC is exceptionally narrow or fragmented.  

 
Streets and Traffic 
 
The project site is located east of Hagadorn Road and the south of Eyde Parkway.  Access to the site 
is provided from two driveways off of Eyde Parkway, a two lane road classified as a Local Street on 
the Street Setbacks and Service Drives Map in the zoning ordinance.  A five foot wide pathway is 
present along the north and south side of Eyde Parkway.  The applicant is not proposing to create new 
access points to the site.  The most recent (2017) traffic count information for Hagadorn Road from 
Ingham County Road Department showed a total of 26,883 two-way vehicle trips in a 24 hour period.  
Traffic counts are not available for Eyde Parkway.  
 
 
 
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 7 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

A traffic impact study is required for MUPUDs which would generate over 100 directional trips during 
a peak hour of traffic on adjacent roadways.  The applicant submitted a traffic impact study prepared 
by Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. (TEA) dated June, 2019 that provides detailed information on 
existing traffic volumes, estimates of traffic generated by the proposed MUPUD, turning movements, 
and level of service (LOS) at surrounding intersections.  The study notes the proposed new office 
building, a tenant for which has not yet been identified, will produce approximately 1,219 trips in a 
weekday, which includes 86 trips in the AM peak hour and 117 trips in the PM peak hour.  The study 
recommends adjustments to the traffic signal timing at the Hagadorn Road/Mt. Hope Road and 
Hagadorn Road/Eyde Parkway intersections to decrease vehicle delay.  
 
Utilities 
 
Municipal water and sanitary sewer are available in the vicinity of the project site.  The location and 
capacity of utilities for the proposed new buildings will be reviewed in detail during site plan review if 
the MUPUD and SUP are approved. 
 
Parking 
 
The Township Code of Ordinances requires a minimum (three spaces) and maximum (four spaces) 
per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area for general office space.  With no indication of the tenant(s) of 
the building, staff has used most intensive land use to estimate required parking for the site, which 
includes both the existing and new office buildings.   Using the stand-alone medical office parking 
category, which requires five parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area, a total of 291 
parking spaces would be required for the project.  The applicant is planning to utilize the 291 existing 
parking spaces on the site. 
 
One bicycle parking space is required for every ten motor vehicle parking spaces required.  There are 
291 parking spaces required; therefore the project must have a minimum of twenty-nine bicycle 
parking spaces.  Nine bicycle parking racks (eighteen bicycle parking spaces) are shown on the 
submitted site plan near the northwestern portion of the site.  .  With eighteen bicycle parking spaces, 
the applicant will be short eleven spaces (six racks).  The Township requires the use of an inverted 
"U" shaped bicycle rack.  The applicant has indicated the six additional racks will be added to the site 
plan instead of seeking a waiver. 
 
The ordinance allows the number of required motor vehicle parking spaces on the site to be reduced 
by one motor vehicle parking space for every two bicycle parking spaces installed on a site, up to a 
maximum of 10 percent of the total number of required motor vehicle parking spaces.  Using this 
formula the required number of motor vehicle parking spaces can be reduced by 25 spaces.   With the 
allowed reduction granted for bicycle parking, the total required motor vehicle parking is reduced to 
282 spaces.   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 8 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Staff Analysis 
 
The applicant has requested to construct a two-story 36,156 square foot office building 
conditioned on using the MUPUD ordinance as required in Rezoning #08080.  In a MUPUD request 
the Planning Commission makes a recommendation on the project and the Township Board makes 
the final decision.  When reviewing the project the Planning Commission should consider the 
appropriateness of the requested waivers, the proposed amenities and related review criteria, and 
the MUPUD design standards as outlined in Section 86-440(f) of the Code of Ordinances.   
 
The MUPUD ordinance generally waives the standard requirements for lot size, yards, frontage 
requirements, setbacks, maximum impervious surface, and type and size of dwelling unit, provided 
the purpose and intent of the ordinance are incorporated into the overall development plan.  The 
MUPUD ordinance is intended to provide flexibility for the Planning Commission and Township 
Board to set appropriate standards during the review process. 
 
The following is a summary of the project’s consistency with the MUPUD ordinance standards.  As 
part of this project analysis, standards for the underlying PO zoning district will be compared to 
what is proposed on the submitted site plan. 
 
Land Use: An office building is an allowed use by right in the PO zoning district.  
 
Density: The conditional rezoning of the property limits residential density of 1,010 – 1,159 units 
distributed throughout and/or on portions of the subject property.  The proposed use of the 
subject site is an office building with no residential units.  
 
Phasing: The applicant has indicated the entire project will be completed in one phase. 
 
Amenities: One or more amenities are required for every MUPUD project and should represent 
multiple categories from the list of amenity categories which are Conservation; Environment; 
Parks, Recreation, and Culture; Social Interaction; and Site and Building Design.  Criteria to 
determine whether a proposed amenity is acceptable for consideration can be found in Section 86-
440(e)(2) of the MUPUD ordinance.  The submitted site plan shows that an electric car charging 
station and public seating area available to the public are proposed as amenities for the project.  
 
Building height: The maximum building height allowed in a MUPUD is 45 feet.  Building elevations 
provided by the applicant indicate the height of the building is 32.8 feet.  
 
Building materials: Generally, building materials in a MUPUD should include, but are not limited to, 
wood, brick, clapboards, beadboard, glass, and stone.  Other materials such as vinyl, aluminum, 
and metal sidings should be avoided.  All buildings should be completed on all sides with 
acceptable materials.  The design of the buildings should relate to and blend with the facades of 
adjacent buildings and complement streetscape improvements in the area.  The proposed building 
materials for the project include a mixture of brick, stone, metal, glass and aluminum.  A sample 
board of the building materials submitted by the applicant will be displayed at the public hearing.   
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 9 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Architectural design: The MUPUD ordinance states that buildings wider than 50 feet shall be 
divided into increments of not more than 50 feet through articulation of the facade.  Scaled 
building elevations have been provided which indicate the buildings as proposed provides the 
required facade articulation.  The MUPUD ordinance also requires that windows cover no less than 
50% of nonresidential street level facades.  The submitted building elevations show windows 
along Eyde Parkway that cover approximately 28% of facade at the street level.  A waiver will be 
required for the window coverage deficiency. 
 
Railings, benches, trash receptacles, or bicycle racks: Accessory items such as railings, benches, 
trash receptacles, or bicycle racks are required to be of commercial quality and complement the 
building design and style.  The site plan indicates the proposed bicycle racks will be the inverted 
“U” shaped style.  Any other site accessories will be subject to the approval of the Director of 
Community Planning and Development.   
 
Trash and recycling: A commercial dumpster, compactor, and/or recycle center are not shown on 
the submitted site plan.  The Township requires any proposed trash or recycling structure to be 
screened by an enclosure. 
 
Parking: The setbacks for a parking area and the number of parking spaces required can be waived 
in a MUPUD.  282 parking spaces are required for the project and the applicant is utilizing the 
existing 291 space parking lot. 
 
Landscaping: Proposed landscaping must generally comply with the provisions of the Code of 
Ordinances.  Landscaping should be designed to preserve existing significant natural features and 
to buffer service areas, parking lots, or dumpsters.  A mix of evergreen and deciduous plants and 
trees are preferred, along with seasonal accent plantings.  A minimum of four feet of landscaped 
area is required around the perimeter of the mixed use building.  While not required as part of the 
MUPUD application, a landscape plan for the project was submitted.  Landscaping will be reviewed 
in detail during site plan review if the MUPUD and SUP are approved. 
 
Lighting: The MUPUD ordinance requires site lighting to comply with the Outdoor Lighting 
Ordinance and limits street lighting intended to provide illumination for pedestrians on the 
sidewalk to no taller than 15 feet in height.  Information on site lighting was not provided, but will 
be reviewed in detail during site plan review if the project proceeds. 
 
Signs: A sign program is required as part of the MUPUD application showing the style, size, 
number, and location of any proposed signs and is approved by the Township Board as part of the 
MUPUD.  The submitted plans show two 51 square foot (10’ tall) monument signs proposed on the 
property, one located near the west driveway and one located near the east driveway.  
Freestanding signs are generally not permitted in a MUPUD.  Exceptions for freestanding signs of 
the monument type may be permitted when a building is set back a minimum of 15 feet from the 
right-of-way (ROW) line with the resulting yard set aside for permanent public open space.  The 
proposed signs meet the 10 foot setback from the property line.  A waiver for the two proposed 
freestanding sign is being requested by the applicant.  
 
 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 10 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Sidewalks: Generally, sidewalks in a MUPUD must be a minimum of five feet in width.  Seven foot 
wide sidewalks are required when a sidewalk is located immediately adjacent to an off-street 
parking area.  The submitted site plan shows five foot wide sidewalks connecting the parking area 
to the office building and public gazebo.  All sidewalks in this area, with the exception of the seven 
foot pathway on the east side of Hagadorn Road, are not part of the Township’s pathway system 
and are privately owned and maintained.  Existing sidewalk along Eyde Parkway has a width of 
five feet.   
 
Waiver requests 
 
The MUPUD ordinance generally waives the standard requirements for lot size, setbacks, type and 
size of dwelling unit, frontage, number of required parking spaces, and impervious surface 
coverage, provided the purpose and intent of the ordinance are incorporated into the overall 
development plan.  Based on the submitted site plan the applicant is requesting the following 
waivers for the 2814 Eyde Parkway project. 
 
Parking setbacks 
 
Where a parking area adjoins the same or any other nonresidential district a landscaped buffer at 
least 15 feet wide must be provided between the parking area and the property line.  To the west 
the surface parking lot is depicted to be zero feet from the western property line.  Parking shown 
on the site plan was previously installed with other development and is continuous, thus cannot 
provide the fifteen foot setback from the property line to the west. 
 
Free-standing signs 
 
The submitted plans show two 51 square foot (10’ tall) monument signs proposed on the property, 
one located near the west driveway and one located near the east driveway. 
 
Staff has indicated the following additional waivers not identified by the applicant:  
 
Fenestration/window coverage 
 
The MUPUD ordinance requires that windows cover no less than 50% of nonresidential street 
level facades.  The submitted building elevations show windows along Eyde Parkway that cover 
approximately 28% of facade at the street level.  With approximately 28% window coverage of the 
façade at the street level, staff has found that the applicant will require a waiver of 22% for the 
deficient window coverage.   
 
Decision request 
 
The applicant has requested the Planning Commission to make a decision on the mixed use 
planned unit development on the same night as the public hearing.  Planning Commission bylaw 
6.4a specifically notes that decisions will not be made on the same night as the public hearing, 
however the Commission may choose to suspend the bylaw if it so chooses.  A motion to suspend 
bylaw 6.4a is provided for consideration. 



 
Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 11 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the mixed use planned 
unit development.  The Planning Commission may choose to suspend bylaw 6.4a to make a 
decision on the request on the same night as the public hearing.  Resolutions to suspend bylaw 6.4a 
and to recommend approval of the MUPUD with conditions are provided. 
 
 Move to suspend Planning Commission Bylaw 6.4a to consider Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19014 on the same night as the public hearing. 
 
 Move to adopt the resolution to recommend approval of Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19014 with conditions. 
 
Attachments 
 
1. MUPUD Application received by the Township on April 16, 2019. 
2. Site plan prepared by Kebs, Inc., dated April 15, 2019 (revision date May 15, 2019) and received 

by the Township on May 15, 2019.  
3. Floor Plans & Building Elevations prepared by Bergmann dated April 15, 2019 and received by 

the Township on May 13, 2019. 
4. Sign Program prepared by Johnson Sign Company received by the Township on May 14, 2019.  
5. Traffic Impact Study prepared by Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. dated June, 2019 and 

received by the Township on June 6, 2019. 
6. Letter from applicant requesting decision at public hearing dated June 6, 2019 and received by 

the Township on June 6, 2019.  
7. Resolution to recommend approval.  
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\MIXED USE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS (MUPUD)\2019\MUPUD 19014 
(Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)\Staff Reports\MUPUD 19014.pc1.docx 

















1

A

2
3

4
5

6
7

B C D E

13
1 

SF
UT

IL
IT

Y

33
66

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 2

34
98

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 3

19
2 

SF
M

EN
S

18
8 

SF
W

OM
EN

S

16
9 

SF
VE

ST
IB

UL
E

76
9 

SF
LO

BB
Y 13
1 

SF
VE

ST
IB

UL
E

46
1 

SF
CO

RR
ID

OR

31
76

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 1

41
10

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 4

47
4 

SF
LO

BB
Y

58
 S

F
M

AC
HI

NE
 R

OO
M

16
1' 

- 9
"

110'-91/2"

D
at

e 
Is

su
ed

:
P

ro
je

ct
 N

um
be

r:

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

um
be

r:

70
50

 W
es

t S
ag

in
aw

 H
w

y.
S

ui
te

 2
00

La
ns

in
g,

 M
I 4

89
17

of
fic

e:
 

51
7.

27
2.

98
35

fa
x:

 
51

7.
27

2.
98

36

w
w

w
.b

er
gm

an
np

c.
co

m

4/15/2019 10:47:00 AM

O
PT

IO
N

 'D
'

04
/12

/19
00

00
0.0

0

A-
10

1
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
FI

R
ST

FL
O

O
R

 P
LA

N

S
C

A
LE

 :
 1

/8
" 

= 
1'

-0
"

F
IR

S
T

 F
LO

O
R

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
N

 -
 1

7,
34

3 
S

F



1

A

2
3

4
5

6
7

B C D E

19
2 

SF
M

EN
S

18
8 

SF
W

OM
EN

S

TE
NA

NT
 7

33
27

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 8

39
50

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 5

40
17

 S
F

TE
NA

NT
 6

35
30

 S
F

CO
M

M
ON

SP
AC

E
16

87
 S

F

D
at

e 
Is

su
ed

:
P

ro
je

ct
 N

um
be

r:

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

um
be

r:

70
50

 W
es

t S
ag

in
aw

 H
w

y.
S

ui
te

 2
00

La
ns

in
g,

 M
I 4

89
17

of
fic

e:
 

51
7.

27
2.

98
35

fa
x:

 
51

7.
27

2.
98

36

w
w

w
.b

er
gm

an
np

c.
co

m

4/15/2019 10:47:01 AM

O
PT

IO
N

 'D
'

04
/12

/19
00

00
0.0

0

A-
10

2
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
SE

C
O

N
D

FL
O

O
R

 P
LA

N

S
C

A
LE

 :
 1

/8
" 

= 
1'

-0
"

O
M

M
 S

E
C

O
N

D
 F

LO
O

R
P

R
E

LI
M

IN
A

R
Y

 P
LA

N
 -

 1
7,

34
3 

S
F



01
- F

IR
ST

 F
LO

O
R

0'
- 0

"

02
- S

EC
O

ND
 F

LO
O

R
14

'-
 0

"

1
2

3
4

5
6

7

T.
O

. D
EC

K
28

'-
 0

"

12
x2

4 
BR

IC
K 

VE
NN

ER

SA
IL

O
R 

CO
UR

SE
 S

TA
CK

BO
ND

 B
RI

CK
 V

EN
EE

R

RU
NN

IN
G

 B
O

ND
 B

RI
CK

 V
EN

EE
R

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 V

EN
EE

R

PO
W

DE
R 

CO
AT

ED
 S

TE
EL

 C
AN

O
PY

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 S

IL
L

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 W

AT
ER

 T
AB

LE

PR
EF

IN
IS

HE
D 

M
ET

AL
 C

O
PI

NG

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

SP
AN

DR
AL

 G
LA

ZI
NG

32
' -

 8
"

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

BR
IC

K 
VE

NE
ER

 D
ET

AI
L

01
- F

IR
ST

 F
LO

O
R

0'
- 0

"

02
- S

EC
O

ND
 F

LO
O

R
14

'-
 0

"

A
B

C
D

E

T.
O

. D
EC

K
28

'-
 0

"

12
x2

4 
BR

IC
K 

VE
NN

ER

SA
IL

O
R 

CO
UR

SE
 S

TA
CK

BO
ND

 B
RI

CK
 V

EN
EE

R

RU
NN

IN
G

 B
O

ND
 B

RI
CK

 V
EN

EE
R

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 S

IL
L

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 W

AT
ER

 T
AB

LE

PR
EF

IN
IS

HE
D 

M
ET

AL
 C

O
PI

NG

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

01
- F

IR
ST

 F
LO

O
R

0'
- 0

"

02
- S

EC
O

ND
 F

LO
O

R
14

'-
 0

"

1
2

3
4

5
6

7

T.
O

. D
EC

K
28

'-
 0

"

12
x2

4 
BR

IC
K 

VE
NN

ER

SA
IL

O
R 

CO
UR

SE
 S

TA
CK

BO
ND

 B
RI

CK
 V

EN
EE

R

RU
NN

IN
G

 B
O

ND
 B

RI
CK

 V
EN

EE
R

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 V

EN
EE

R

PO
W

DE
R 

CO
AT

ED
 S

TE
EL

 C
AN

O
PY

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 S

IL
L

PR
EC

AS
T 

ST
O

NE
 W

AT
ER

 T
AB

LE

PR
EF

IN
IS

HE
D 

M
ET

AL
 C

O
PI

NG

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

AL
UM

IN
UM

 S
TO

RE
FR

O
NT

D
at

e 
Is

su
ed

:
P

ro
je

ct
 N

um
be

r:

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

um
be

r:

70
50

 W
es

t S
ag

in
aw

 H
w

y.
S

ui
te

 2
00

La
ns

in
g,

 M
I 4

89
17

of
fic

e:
 

51
7.

27
2.

98
35

fa
x:

 
51

7.
27

2.
98

36

w
w

w
.b

er
gm

an
np

c.
co

m

4/15/2019 10:47:08 AM

O
PT

IO
N

 'D
'

04
/12

/19
00

00
0.0

0

A-
20

1
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
EX

TE
RI

O
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

S
C

A
LE

 :
 1

/8
" 

= 
1'

-0
"

N
O

R
T

H
 E

LE
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C

A
LE

 :
 1

/8
" 

= 
1'

-0
"

2
W

E
S

T
 / 

E
A

S
T

 E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N

S
C

A
LE

 :
 1

/8
" 

= 
1'

-0
"

3
S

O
U

T
H

 E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N



D
at

e 
Is

su
ed

:
P

ro
je

ct
 N

um
be

r:

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

um
be

r:

70
50

 W
es

t S
ag

in
aw

 H
w

y.
S

ui
te

 2
00

La
ns

in
g,

 M
I 4

89
17

of
fic

e:
 

51
7.

27
2.

98
35

fa
x:

 
51

7.
27

2.
98

36

w
w

w
.b

er
gm

an
np

c.
co

m

4/15/2019 2:37:40 PM

TY
PI

CA
L 

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

04
/15

/19
00
00
0.0

0

A-
20

0
TY

PI
C

AL
 E

XT
ER

IO
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

P
R

E
FI

N
IS

H
E

D
 S

TE
E

L 
C

A
N

O
P

Y

P
R

E
C

A
S

T 
S

IL
L

R
U

N
N

IN
G

 B
O

N
D

 
U

TI
LI

TY
 B

R
IC

K

P
R

E
C

A
S

T 
S

TO
N

E
 C

A
P

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
 M

O
D

U
LA

R
 

B
R

IC
K

S
A

IL
O

R
 C

O
U

R
S

E
 

S
TA

C
K

 B
O

N
D

 B
R

IC
K

P
R

E
FI

N
IS

H
E

D
 M

E
TA

L 
C

O
P

IN
G

P
R

E
FI

N
IS

H
E

D
 M

E
TA

L 
C

O
P

IN
G

P
R

E
C

A
S

T 
S

TO
N

E
 

V
E

N
E

E
R

TY
P

IC
A

L 
E

X
TE

R
IO

R
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S

C
A

LE
 : 

N
TS







 

  
 
 

 
TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

 
For The Proposed 

 
Eyde Office Building 

 
Meridian Charter Township 

 Ingham County, MI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June, 2019 
 

Prepared by: 



 

 

Table of Contents 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................. I 
INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................... 1 

Project Description ...................................................................................................................... 2 
Scope of Work ............................................................................................................................. 2 
Aerial Photo ................................................................................................................................. 3 

EXISTING CONDITIONS ............................................................................................................. 4 
Roadways and Intersections ........................................................................................................ 5 
Land Use ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
Existing Traffic Volumes ............................................................................................................ 7 
Figure 1: Existing Traffic – Peak Hours ...................................................................................... 8 
Level of Service Analysis for Existing Traffic ............................................................................ 9 
Table 1: Existing Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary .................................................... 10 

BACKGROUND CONDITIONS ................................................................................................. 12 
Background Traffic Growth Volumes ....................................................................................... 13 
Background Development Traffic Volumes .............................................................................. 13 
Figure 2: Background Traffic – Peak Hours ............................................................................. 14 
Level of Service Analysis for Background Traffic ................................................................... 15 
Table 2: Background Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary .............................................. 16 

FUTURE CONDITIONS.............................................................................................................. 18 
Site Traffic Generation .............................................................................................................. 19 
Table 3: Vehicle Trip Generation Comparison Summary ......................................................... 20 
Site Traffic Distribution............................................................................................................. 21 
Figure 3: Site Traffic – Peak Hours ........................................................................................... 22 
Figure 4: Future Traffic – Peak Hours....................................................................................... 23 
Level of Service Analysis for Future Traffic ............................................................................. 24 
Table 4: Future Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary ....................................................... 25 
Level of Service Analysis for Future Mitigated Traffic ............................................................ 27 
Table 5: Future Mitigated Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary ....................................... 28 

SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS .......................................................................................................... 29 
Intersection Improvement Considerations ................................................................................. 30 
Conclusions ............................................................................................................................... 31 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION .......................................................................................... 32 



I 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. (TEA) conducted a traffic impact study to determine the 
impact from the new traffic generated by the proposed Eyde Office development in Meridian 
Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan.  This project consists of a two (2) story office 
building with 17,000 square feet per floor.  The site is located on the south side of Eyde Parkway 
between two (2) existing office buildings. The site has two (2) existing driveways with full access 
on Eyde Parkway.  The project is anticipated to be complete within a year. 
 
In conversation with the Meridian Charter Township staff, it was determined that there has been 
little change in traffic volumes in the project area over the past few years.  Therefore, existing 
traffic counts were utilized for the analysis. TEA, Inc. conducted vehicle counts during the 
midweek, of a non-holiday week, in the month of January, 2016, at six (6) intersections in the 
project area.  In addition, traffic counts were taken at the two (2) existiing driveways on Eyde 
Parkway in the month of May, 2019.  The weekday AM and PM peak hours of existing traffic on 
the adjoining road system are 8:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:45 – 5:45 PM, respectively.   
 
For existing traffic conditions, all existing geometrics and traffic control were used.  A level of 
service analysis for existing traffic at the studied intersections during the AM and PM peak hours 
was conducted.  All existing turning movements at the studied intersections operate at an 
acceptable level of service (LOS D or better) during the AM and PM peak hours, except for two 
(2) movements at Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road, as well as the southbound to northbound 
crossover on Hagadorn Road. 
 
Background traffic represents future volumes without the traffic generated by the proposed Eyde 
Office development.  The project is anticipated to be completed within a year, so no background 
traffic growth volumes were included in this report.  There was one new development identified 
by Meridian Charter Township that would have an impact on background development traffic.  
The Hannah Apartments development includes two (2) sites, the first site (north) being located on 
the southwest corner of Eyde Parkway and Hannah Boulevard and the second site (south) is located 
across the street on the south side of Eyde Parkway.  
 
The proposed north site of the Hannah Apartments development will contain two (2) apartment 
buildings and will consist of a total of 182 apartment units.  There are two (2) proposed driveways 
on Eyde Parkway for this site which both provide full access to a parking garage.  The proposed 
south site of the Hannah Apartments development will contain sixty nine (69) townhouse units.  
The south site will have one (1) new driveway with full access on Eyde Parkway.  Data was taken 
from the June, 2016, traffic impact study for the proposed Hannah Apartments which was 
conducted by Traffic Engineering Associate, Inc.   
 
For background traffic conditions, all geometrics and traffic control from existing conditions were 
utilized. All background turning movements at the studied intersections are expected to operate at 
an acceptable level of service (LOS D or better) during the AM and PM peak hours, except for 
two (2) movements at the Hagadorn Road - Mt. Hope Road intersection, as well as the southbound 



 

 

to northbound crossover on Hagadorn Road, and one movement at the Hagadorn Road – Eyde 
Parkway intersection.  
 
The trip generation rates were derived from the ITE TRIP GENERATION MANUAL (10th 
edition). A comparison between the trip generation for a general office building and a medical-
dental office building was conducted.  For this study, the trip generation rates for the Medical-
Dental Office Building were selected as they represent the most conservative estimates for the site. 
Based on the Medical-Dental Office Building (Land Use Code 720) trip generation rates, it is 
projected that the proposed Eyde Office development will generate 86 trips in the AM peak hour, 
117 trips in the PM peak hour, and 1219 during a weekday. 
 
For future traffic conditions, all existing geometrics and traffic control were used.  All future 
turning movements at the studied intersections are anticipated to operate at an acceptable level of 
service (LOS D or better) during the AM and PM peak hours except for two (2) movements at the 
Hagadorn Road - Mt. Hope Road intersection, as well as the southbound to northbound crossover 
on Hagadorn Road, and two (2) movements at the Hagadorn Road – Eyde Parkway intersection.   
 
An analysis was conducted to determine if updating the traffic signal timing at the Hagadorn Road 
and Eyde Parkway intersection, as well as the Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road intersection, 
would reduce delays. Adjusting cycle length and splits at the intersection of Hagadorn Road and 
Eyde Parkway improved the level of service.  Adjusting the splits at the intersection of Hagadorn 
Road and Mt. Hope Road reduced the delays.     
 
When the development is complete and occupied, the Ingham County Road Department should 
consider adjusting the traffic signal timing at the intersection of Mt. Hope Road and Hagadorn 
Road, as well as the signal timing at Hagadorn Road and Eyde Parkway. 
                      



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 



2 
 

 

Project Description 
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the impact from the new traffic generated by the proposed 
Eyde Office development in Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan.  This project 
consists of a two (2) story office building with 17,000 square feet per floor.  The site is located on 
the south side of Eyde Parkway between two (2) existing office buildings. The site has two (2) 
existing driveways with full access on Eyde Parkway.   
 
The study will focus on the impacts to the surrounding roadway system due to the proposed 
Developments.  The project is anticipated to be complete within a year. 
 
 

Scope of Work 
 
The scope of work contained in this report is as follows: 
 

• Analysis of existing traffic conditions on the adjoining street system. 
 
• Analysis of background traffic conditions for the future year volumes without the proposed 

Eyde Office development. 
 
• Projection of future traffic volumes to be generated by the proposed Eyde Office 

development. 
 
• Evaluation of the impact of future traffic with the proposed Eyde Office development. 
 
• Determination of what roadway and traffic control improvements, if any, will be needed to 

accommodate future traffic volumes. 
 
 
 

  



3 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Aerial Photo 
  

 

 

Site 



4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 



5 
 

 

Roadways and Intersections 
 
Roadways 
Hagadorn Road is a four lane divided boulevard roadway in the project area.  There are sidewalks 
on both sides of the roadway and the posted speed limit is 45 MPH.  Hagadorn Road is under the 
jurisdiction of the Ingham County Department of Roads. 
 
Hannah Boulevard is a four lane divided roadway with a grass boulevard.  There are sidewalks on 
both sides of Hannah Boulevard. There is no posted speed limit; therefore, the prima facie speed 
is 25 MPH.  Hannah Boulevard is under the jurisdiction of the Ingham County Department of 
Roads. 
 
Esoteric Way is a two lane roadway with sidewalks on the east side.  There is no posted speed 
limit; therefore, the prima facie speed is 25 MPH.  Esoteric Way is under the jurisdiction of the 
Ingham County Department of Roads. 
 
Eyde Parkway is a two lane roadway with sidewalk on the south and east sides of the roadway, as 
well as a portion of the north side of the roadway in the project area.  There is no posted speed 
limit; therefore, the prima facie speed is 25 MPH.  Eyde Parkway is under the jurisdiction of the 
Ingham County Department of Roads. 
 
 
Intersections 
The intersection of Hagadorn Road and Hannah Boulevard is controlled by a two-phase traffic 
signal.  The north and south approaches on Hagadorn Road are five (5) lanes; two (2) thru lanes, 
one (1) exclusive right turn lane with two (2) outbound lanes.  The east approach on Hannah 
Boulevard is five (5) lanes: one (1) thru lane, one (1) thru-right turn lane, one (1) right turn lane 
and two (2) outbound lanes. The west approach on Service Road is four (4) lanes; one (1) thru 
lane, one (1) thru-right turn lane with two (2) outbound lanes.  There are no left turns allowed at 
this intersection; rather, all left turn movements are made via four (4) Michigan lefts. 
 
The intersection of Hagadorn Road and Eyde Parkway forms a “T” intersection and is controlled 
by traffic signal.  The north approach on Hagadorn Road is five (5) lanes; two (2) thru lanes, one 
(1) exclusive left turn lane, and two (2) outbound lanes.  The south approach on Hagadorn Road 
is four (4) lanes; one (1) thru lane, one (1) thru-right turn lane, and two (2) outbound lanes.  The 
east approach on Eyde Parkway is two (2) lanes; one (1) left-right lane and one (1) outbound lane. 
 
The intersection of Hannah Boulevard and Esoteric Way forms a “T” intersection and is controlled 
by a traffic signal.  The south approach is two (2) lanes with one (1) inbound and one (1) outbound 
lane.  The east and west approach on Hannah Boulevard are two (2) lanes eastbound and two (2) 
lanes westbound with a grass median, the north approach is a private driveway.   
 
The intersection of Hannah Boulevard and Eyde Parkway forms a “T” intersection and is 
controlled by STOP control for northbound Eyde Parkway.  All approaches are two (2) lanes with 
one (1) inbound and one (1) outbound lane. 



6 
 

 

The intersection of Esoteric Way and Eyde Parkway forms a “T” intersection and is controlled by 
STOP control on southbound Esoteric Way.  All approaches are two (2) lanes with one (1) inbound 
and one (1) outbound lane.   
 
The intersection of Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road is controlled by a fully-actuated traffic 
signal with permissive-protective left turn phases in all four directions, and pedestrian push buttons 
in all four approaches. The north approach is six (6) lanes; one (1) exclusive right turn lane, two 
(2) thru lanes, one (1) exclusive left turn lane with two (2) outbound lanes.  The south approach 
on Hagadorn Road and the east and west approaches on Mt. Hope Road are five (5) lanes; one (1) 
exclusive left turn lane, one (1) thru lane, one (1) thru-right lane with two (2) outbound lanes.   

 



7 
 

 

Land Use 
 
The proposed Eyde Office development will be located on the south side of Eyde Parkway, east 
of Esoteric Way.  The surrounding land use is office space and businesses in the immediate area 
with residential and rental buildings nearby.  The Michigan State University campus is located on 
the west side of Hagadorn Road. 
 
 

Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
In conversation with the Meridian Charter Township staff, it was determined that there has been 
little change in traffic volumes in the project area over the past few years.  Therefore, existing 
traffic counts were utilized for the analysis.  TEA, Inc. conducted vehicle turning movement counts 
during the midweek, of a non-holiday week in the month of January, 2016, at the following 
intersections: 
 

• Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road 
• Hagadorn Road and Eyde Parkway 
• Hagadorn Road and Hannah Boulevard 
• Eyde Parkway and Hannah Boulevard 
• Eyde Parkway and Esoteric Way 
• Hannah Boulevard and Esoteric Way 

 
In addition, traffic counts were taken at the two existing office driveways on Eyde Parkway during 
the midweek, of a non-holiday week in the month of May, 2019.  The weekday AM and PM peak 
hours of existing traffic on the adjoining road system are 8:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:45 – 5:45 PM, 
respectively.  The existing peak hour volumes are illustrated in Figure 1. 





9 
 

 

Level of Service Analysis for Existing Traffic 
 
The critical intersections defined for this study were analyzed according to the methodologies 
published in the most recent edition of the Highway Capacity Manual.  The analysis determines 
the “Level of Service” of the intersections and is based on factors such as the number and types of 
lanes, signal timing, traffic volumes, pedestrian activity, etc.  The level of service (LOS) is defined 
by average vehicle delay in seconds created by a traffic control device for a given traffic movement 
or intersection approach.   
 

 
Level of Service 

 
Delay per Vehicle (seconds) 

 
Non-Signalized Signalized 

A < 10 <10 
B 10 to 15 10 to 20 
C 15 to 25 20 to 35 
D 25 to 35 35 to 55 
E 35 to 50 55 to 80 
F > 50 > 80 

 
Levels of Service are expressed in a range from “A” to “F,” with “A” being the highest LOS and 
“F” representing the lowest LOS.  Level of service “D” is considered the minimum acceptable 
LOS in an urban area.  The above table shows the thresholds for Levels of Service “A” through 
“F” for non-signalized and signalized intersections, respectively. 
 
All Level of Service computations contained in this report were based upon the Synchro software 
package which is approved by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). Delay per 
vehicle includes initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, stopped delay, and final 
acceleration delay. 
 
For existing traffic conditions, all existing geometrics and traffic control were used. All existing 
turning movements at the studied intersections operate at an acceptable level of service (LOS D or 
better) during the AM and PM peak hours, except for two (2) movements at Hagadorn Road and 
Mt. Hope Road, as well as the southbound to northbound crossover on Hagadorn Road. The Level 
of Service analysis for existing traffic at the subject intersections during the AM and PM peak 
hours is summarized in Table 1. 

 
 



10 
 

 

Table 1: Existing Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Hagadorn Road 
and Mt. Hope Road 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
66.0 
31.4 
31.3 
47.8 
29.6 
39.2 
35.7 
29.4 
30.8 
40.1 

 
E 
C 
C 
D 
C 
D 
D 
C 
C 
D 

 
60.2 
51.4 
44.9 
32.3 
35.0 
33.8 
88.7 
33.1 
34.0 
45.0 

 
E 
D 
D 
C 
D 
C 
F 
C 
C 
D 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Eyde Parkway 
 

 
WB Left-Right 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
20.4 
19.7 
24.9 
3.8 
18.4 

 

 
C 
B 
C 
A 
B 

 
25.7 
23.0 
37.8 
9.8 
22.7 

 
C 
C 
D 
A 
C 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Hannah 
Boulevard/ Service 
Drive 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru 
WB Right 
NB Thru 
NB Right 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
20.6 
24.5 
8.6 
10.6 
3.1 
9.8 
2.7 
7.8 

 
C 
C 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
28.5 
24.5 
24.3 
13.9 
12.7 
13.2 
2.3 
12.5 

 
C 
C 
C 
B 
B 
B 
A 
B 

 
Hagadorn Road  
SB to NB X Over 
 

 
EB Left 
Intersection Overall 

 
18.9 
3.3 

 

 
C 
A 

 
114.0 
31.5 

 

 
F 
D 

 
Hagadorn Road 
NB to SB X Over 
 

 
WB Left 
Intersection Overall 

 
12.8 
1.1 

 
B 
A 

 
15.1 
1.3 

 
C 
A 

 



11 
 

 

Table 1: Existing Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary (cont.) 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Eyde Parkway and 
Hannah Boulevard 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru 
NB Left-Right 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.0 
0.3 
9.5 
8.9 
3.0 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
0.0 
0.5 
11.4 
9.8 
3.3 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left-Thru 
WB Thru-Right 
SB Left-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.9 
0.0 
9.7 
1.8 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
 

 
1.5 
0.0 
9.8 
1.9 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
Hannah Boulevard 
and Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
8.0 
5.6 
17.5 
16.4 
7.8 
8.5 

 

 
A 
A 
B 
B 
A 
A 

 
14.0 
7.9 
22.1 
16.6 
7.5 
13.4 

 
B 
A 
C 
B 
A 
B 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
West Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.8 
0.0 
9.1 
8.4 
1.0 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
0.2 
0.0 
9.4 
8.7 
2.0 

 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
East Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
3.0 
0.0 
9.4 
8.4 
2.8 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
0.2 
0.4 
8.9 
8.7 
1.8 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
Note:    Delay = Average vehicle delay in seconds  
LOS = Level of Service 

 



12 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND CONDITIONS  



13 
 

 

Background Traffic Growth Volumes  
 
Background traffic represents future volumes without the traffic generated by the proposed Eyde 
Office development.  The project is anticipated to be completed within a year, so no background 
traffic growth volumes were included in this report.   
 

Background Development Traffic Volumes 
 
There was one new development identified by Meridian Charter Township that would have an 
impact on background development traffic.  The Hannah Apartments development includes two 
(2) sites, the first site (north) being located on the southwest corner of Eyde Parkway and Hannah 
Boulevard and the second site (south) is located across the street on the south side of Eyde 
Parkway.  
 
The proposed north site of the Hannah Apartments development will contain two (2) apartment 
buildings and will consist of a total of 182 apartment units.  There are two (2) proposed driveways 
on Eyde Parkway for this site which both provide full access to a parking garage.  The proposed 
south site of the Hannah Apartments development will contain sixty nine (69) townhouse units.  
The south site will have one (1) new driveway with full access on Eyde Parkway.   
 
Data was taken from the June, 2016, traffic impact study for the proposed Hannah Apartments 
which was conducted by Traffic Engineering Associate, Inc.  Adding the Hannah Apartments 
traffic to the existing traffic volumes yields the total background traffic volumes, which are shown 
in Figure 2. 
 
 
 





15 
 

 

Level of Service Analysis for Background Traffic 
 
For background traffic conditions, all geometrics and traffic control from existing conditions were 
utilized. All background turning movements at the studied intersections are expected to operate at 
an acceptable level of service (LOS D or better) during the AM and PM peak hours, except for 
two (2) movements at the Hagadorn Road - Mt. Hope Road intersection, as well as the southbound 
to northbound crossover on Hagadorn Road, and one movement at the Hagadorn Road – Eyde 
Parkway intersection.  The level of service analysis for background traffic at the subject 
intersections during the AM and PM peak hours is summarized in Table 2. 
 
 
 
 



16 
 

 

Table 2: Background Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Hagadorn Road 
and Mt. Hope Road 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
66.2 
31.4 
31.2 
48.0 
30.1 
39.4 
36.1 
29.5 
31.1 
40.2 

 
E 
C 
C 
D 
C 
D 
D 
C 
C 
D 

 
63.6 
51.4 
44.1 
32.5 
36.8 
34.5 
124.3 
33.8 
34.8 
49.0 

 
E 
D 
D 
C 
D 
C 
F 
C 
C 
D 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Eyde Parkway 
 

 
WB Left-Right 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
20.6 
21.5 
25.6 
4.2 
19.8 

 

 
C 
C 
C 
A 
B 

 
26.7 
31.9 
57.3 
11.9 
28.4 

 
C 
C 
E 
B 
C 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Hannah 
Boulevard/ Service 
Drive 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru 
WB Right 
NB Thru 
NB Right 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
21.0 
24.8 
10.7 
11.0 
3.6 
10.1 
3.6 
8.2 

 
C 
C 
B 
B 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
30.4 
26.1 
26.8 
14.0 
13.5 
13.6 
2.3 
13.3 

 
C 
C 
C 
B 
B 
B 
A 
B 

 
Hagadorn Road  
SB to NB X Over 
 

 
EB Left 
Intersection Overall 

 
19.6 
3.4 

 

 
C 
A 

 
133.0 
36.6 

 
F 
E 

 
Hagadorn Road 
NB to SB X Over 
 

 
WB Left 
Intersection  Overall 

 
12.9 
1.1 

 
B 
A 

 
15.6 
1.3 

 
C 
A 

 



17 
 

 

Table 2: Background Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary (cont.) 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Eyde Parkway and 
Hannah Boulevard 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru 
NB Left-Right 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.0 
0.3 
10.2 
8.9 
4.7 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
0.0 
0.5 
13.3 
9.8 
4.6 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left-Thru 
WB Thru-Right 
SB Left-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.8 
0.0 
10.3 
1.5 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
 

 
1.0 
0.0 
10.7 
1.4 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 

 
Hannah Boulevard 
and Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
8.0 
5.7 
18.0 
16.5 
7.8 
10.4 

 

 
A 
A 
B 
B 
A 
B 

 
14.0 
8.3 
23.4 
16.7 
7.5 
11.7 

 
B 
A 
C 
B 
A 
B 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
West Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.6 
0.0 
9.6 
8.8 
0.6 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
0.1 
0.0 
11.0 
9.2 
0.9 

 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
East Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
2.0 
0.0 
9.9 
8.7 
1.5 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
0.1 
0.1 
9.9 
9.4 
0.7 

 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
Note:    Delay = Average vehicle delay in seconds  
LOS = Level of Service  



18 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

FUTURE CONDITIONS 
  



19 
 

 

Site Traffic Generation 
 
The trip generation rates were derived from the ITE TRIP GENERATION MANUAL (10th 
edition). A comparison between the trip generation for a general office building and a medical-
dental office building was conducted.  The higher generated vehicle trips were utilized for this 
study.   
 
The ITE trip generation rates for General Office Building (Land Use Code 710) were selected as 
representing the 34,000 square feet in the Eyde Office development.  The ITE description is as 
follows: 
 
A general office building houses multiple tenants; it is a location where affairs of businesses, 
commercial or industrial organizations, or professional persons or firms are conducted. An office 
building or buildings may contain a mixture of tenants including professional services, insurance 
companies, investment brokers, and tenant services, such as a bank or savings and loan institution, 
a restaurant, or cafeteria and service retail facilities. 
 
Based on the General Office Building (Land Use Code 710) trip generation rates, it is projected 
that the proposed Eyde Office development will generate 58 trips in the AM peak hour, 41 trips in 
the PM peak hour, and 373 during a weekday. 
 
The ITE trip generation rates for Medical-Dental Office Building (Land Use Code 720) were also 
selected as representing the 34,000 square feet in the Eyde Office development.  The ITE 
description is as follows: 
 
A medical-dental office building is a facility that provides diagnoses and outpatient care on a 
routine basis but is unable to provide prolonged in-house medical and surgical care. One or more 
private physicians or dentists generally operate this type of facility. 
 
Based on the Medical-Dental Office Building (Land Use Code 720) trip generation rates, it is 
projected that the proposed Eyde Office development will generate 86 trips in the AM peak hour, 
117 trips in the PM peak hour, and 1219 during a weekday. 
 
For this study, the trip generation rates for the Medical-Dental Office Building were selected as 
they represent the most conservative estimates for the site.  The comparison of the projected traffic 
to be generated by the proposed Eyde Office development is summarized in Table 3.  
 
 
 
 
 
  



20 
 

 

 

Table 3: Vehicle Trip Generation Comparison Summary 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
Size 

AM Peak Hour 
 

PM Peak Hour Weekday 
24-Hour Land Use In Out Total In Out Total 

General Office 
Building (ITE Code 
710) 

34,000 
sq. ft. 50 8 58 7 34 41 373 

 
Size 

AM Peak Hour 
 

PM Peak Hour Weekday 
24-Hour Land Use In Out Total In Out Total 

Medical-Dental 
Office Building 
(ITE Code 720) 

34,000 
sq. ft. 67 19 86 33 84 117 1,219 



21 
 

 

Site Traffic Distribution 
 
The distribution of traffic volumes to be generated by the proposed Eyde Office development 
during the future AM and PM peak hours is illustrated in Figure 3.   
 
Traffic distribution was based on existing traffic patterns on the surrounding roadways.  Typically, 
an office building has people entering in the morning and exiting in the evening; therefore, the 
traffic entering the roadway system during the morning and exiting during the evening generated 
the distribution for this study.   
 

Direction of Approach 
and Departure 

AM Peak Hour 
Distribution 

PM Peak Hour 
Distribution 

To/From the SOUTH 
on Hagadorn Road 25% 24% 

To/From the NORTH 
on Hagadorn Road 28% 32% 

To/From the WEST 
on Service Drive 8% 8% 

To/From the WEST  
On Mt. Hope Road 15% 14% 

To/From the EAST on 
Mt. Hope Road 24% 22% 

 
 
Traffic was then further distributed by driveway.  Given the location of the proposed office 
building between the two driveways, the traffic was split evenly between the driveways.  Adding 
the site generated traffic volumes to the background volumes yielded the total future traffic 
volumes.  Total traffic volumes for the future AM and PM peak hours are illustrated in Figure 4.   
 
 







24 
 

 

Level of Service Analysis for Future Traffic 
 
For future traffic conditions, all existing geometrics and traffic control were used.  All future 
turning movements at the studied intersections are anticipated to operate at an acceptable level of 
service (LOS D or better) during the AM and PM peak hours except for two (2) movements at the 
Hagadorn Road - Mt. Hope Road intersection, as well as the southbound to northbound crossover 
on Hagadorn Road, and two (2) movements at the Hagadorn Road – Eyde Parkway intersection.  
The level of service analysis for future AM and PM peak hour traffic is summarized in Table 4.   
 



25 
 

 

Table 4: Future Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Hagadorn Road 
and Mt. Hope Road 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
68.9 
31.4 
30.4 
49.8 
31.2 
40.1 
38.1 
29.6 
31.2 
41.3 

 
E 
C 
C 
D 
C 
D 
D 
C 
C 
D 

 
64.7 
51.4 
43.6 
32.7 
38.2 
34.8 
166.2 
34.5 
35.8 
53.8 

 
E 
D 
D 
C 
D 
C 
F 
C 
D 
D 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Eyde Parkway 
 

 
WB Left-Right 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
22.3 
32.3 
26.0 
4.5 
28.6 

 

 
C 
C 
C 
A 
C 

 
33.2 
84.5 
70.2 
13.5 
62.6 

 
C 
F 
E 
B 
E 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Hannah 
Boulevard/ Service 
Drive 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru 
WB Right 
NB Thru 
NB Right 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
20.7 
24.8 
11.0 
11.0 
3.6 
10.2 
3.6 
8.2 

 
C 
C 
B 
B 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
30.7 
26.4 
26.8 
14.6 
13.5 
13.7 
2.2 
13.3 

 
C 
C 
C 
B 
B 
B 
A 
B 

 
Hagadorn Road  
SB to NB X Over 
 

 
EB Left 
Intersection Overall 

 
19.7 
3.4 

 

 
C 
A 

 
147.3 
39.6 

 
F 
E 

 
Hagadorn Road 
NB to SB X Over 
 

 
WB Left 
Intersection  Overall 

 
13.1 
1.1 

 
B 
A 

 
15.8 
1.3 

 
C 
A 

 



26 
 

 

Table 4: Future Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary (cont) 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Eyde Parkway and 
Hannah Boulevard 
 

 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru 
NB Left-Right 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.0 
0.3 
10.2 
8.9 
4.7 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
0.0 
0.5 
13.3 
9.8 
4.6 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left-Thru 
WB Thru-Right 
SB Left-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.5 
0.0 
11.1 
1.1 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
 

 
0.1 
0.0 
11.7 
1.2 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 

 
Hannah Boulevard 
and Esoteric Way 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
8.0 
5.7 
18.0 
16.5 
7.8 
10.4 

 

 
A 
A 
B 
B 
A 
B 

 
14.0 
8.3 
23.4 
16.7 
7.5 
14.5 

 
B 
A 
C 
B 
A 
B 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
West Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
0.3 
0.0 
10.7 
8.8 
0.7 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
0.0 
0.0 
12.9 
9.6 
2.4 

 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Eyde Parkway and 
East Driveway 

 
EB Left-Thru-Right 
WB Left-Thru-Right 
NB Left-Thru-Right 
SB Left-Thru-Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
1.3 
0.0 
10.0 
8.7 
1.7 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
0.1 
0.1 
12.1 
9.4 
2.4 

 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 

 
Note:    Delay = Average vehicle delay in seconds  
LOS = Level of Service 

 
 
 



27 
 

 

Level of Service Analysis for Future Mitigated Traffic 
 
The intersection of Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road is expected to have the eastbound left and 
southbound left movements operating at LOS E and F, respectively. Additionally, the level of 
service for the northbound thru-right movement and southbound left at the Hagadorn Road - Eyde 
Parkway intersection are projected to operate at a LOS F and E, respectively, during the PM peak 
hour.  An analysis was conducted to determine if updating the traffic signal timings would improve 
this level of service.   
 
Adjusting the splits at the intersection of Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road reduced the left turn 
delays.  The southbound left turn movement is still projected to operate at LOS F, but is expected 
to experience approximately half the delay time. Adjusting cycle length and splits at the 
intersection of Hagadorn Road and Eyde Parkway improved the level of service.  The level of 
service analysis for future mitigated traffic at the two (2) intersections during the AM and PM peak 
hours is summarized in Table 5. 
  



28 
 

 

Table 5: Future Mitigated Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary 
 

Location Movement 

Weekday 
AM Peak Hour 

Weekday 
PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS Delay LOS 
 
Hagadorn Road 
and Mt. Hope Road 
 

 
EB Left 
EB Thru-Right 
WB Left 
WB Thru-Right 
NB Left 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
SB Right 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
52.3 
26.4 
33.1 
53.5 
34.0 
41.9 
44.2 
34.3 
36.7 
42.5 

 
D 
C 
C 
D 
C 
D 
D 
C 
D 
D 

 
53.0 
51.4 
47.1 
46.9 
41.3 
54.5 
84.8 
34.5 
35.8 
50.3 

 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
F 
C 
D 
D 

 
Hagadorn Road 
and Eyde Parkway 
 

 
WB Left-Right 
NB Thru-Right 
SB Left 
SB Thru 
Intersection Overall 
 

 
22.3 
32.3 
26.0 
4.5 
28.6 

 

 
C 
C 
C 
A 
C 

 
49.7 
44.2 
51.7 
13.8 
43.0 

 
D 
D 
D 
B 
D 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  



29 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS 
 
 
 
 
 

  



30 
 

 

Intersection Improvement Considerations 
 
Hagadorn Road and Mt. Hope Road 
For mitigation purposes, the traffic signal at this intersection was analyzed to determine a more 
efficient timing plan to decrease the vehicle delays.  The timing splits were adjusted and the delay 
was reduced for the eastbound and southbound left turn movements. With the modified traffic 
signal timing plan, the southbound left turn movement from Hagadorn Road to eastbound Mt. 
Hope Road is expected to operate at a LOS F under future modified conditions; however, there is 
a significant decrease in the vehicle delay.   
 
Hagadorn Road and Eyde Parkway  
For mitigation purposes, the traffic signal at this intersection was analyzed to determine a more 
efficient timing plan to decrease the vehicle delays.  The cycle length and the timing splits were 
optimized.  With the modified traffic signal timing plan, all movements are projected to operate at 
LOS D or better under future conditions.   
 
 
 

  



31 
 

 

Conclusions 
 
The findings of this report are as follows: 

 
• When the project is complete and occupied, the Ingham County Road Department should 

consider adjusting the traffic signal timing at the intersection of Hagadorn Road at Mt. 
Hope Road to decrease vehicle delay. 

 
• When the project is complete and occupied, the Ingham County Road Department should 

consider adjusting the traffic signal timing at the intersection of Hagadorn Road at Eyde 
Parkway to decrease vehicle delay. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 6, 2019 

 

 

Meridian Township Planning Commission 
 
For Public Hearing June 10, 2019 
 
RE:  Eyde Parkway 

 

To Whom it May Concern, 

 

I am representing Mr. Samuel C. Eyde and Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC., regarding a 
mixed use planned unit proposal (MUPUD) of Eyde Parkway.  Our proposal will be before the 
Planning Commission at the public hearing on June 10, 2019.  We are requesting the 
commissioners make a decision and approve the MUPUD and special use permit (SUP) on the 
date the proposal is presented. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Samantha Eyde 
Associate Attorney 
Grewal Law PLLC 



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Mixed Use Planned Unit Development #19014 
 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC) 
 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 10th 
day of June, 2019, at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                             
 
  _________________________________________________________________                                                            
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                              
 
 The following resolution was offered by _____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 
 

WHEREAS, Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC has submitted a request to establish a mixed use 
planned unit development (MUPUD) on 6.32 acres located east of Hagadorn Road and south of Eyde 
Parkway; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed mixed use planned unit development includes the construction of a 
two-story, 36,156 square foot multi-tenant office building; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on June 10, 
2019, and has reviewed staff material forwarded under the cover memorandum dated June 6, 2019; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned PO (Professional and Office), which 
allows for a mixed use planned unit development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the mixed use planned unit development meets the conditions established in 
Rezoning #08080 which requires development of the site using the MUPUD ordinance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed mixed use planned unit development has been designed to be 
harmonious and appropriate with the other land uses surrounding the site; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed mixed use planned unit development meets the minimum MUPUD 
design standards as outlined in Section 86-440(f) of the Code of Ordinances; and 

 
WHEREAS, the requested waivers for parking lot setbacks and freestanding signs are 

appropriate and necessary to facilitate development of the property consistent with the intent of 
the MUPUD ordinance; and 
 

WHEREAS, the number and type of amenities provided in the mixed use planned unit 
development are consistent with the requirements, guidelines, and criteria stated in Section 86-
440(e) of the Code of Ordinances; and 

 
WHEREAS, municipal water and sanitary sewer is available to serve the subject site. 
 
 

 



Resolution to Recommend Approval 
MUPUD #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC) 
Page 2 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 
#19014, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Approval is in accordance with the site plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated April 15, 2019 (revision 

date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019. 
 

2. Approval is in accordance with the floor plans prepared by Bergmann Associates dated April 15, 
2019 and received by the Township on May 13, 2019. 
 

3. Approval is in accordance with the building elevations prepared by Bergmann Associates dated 
April 15, 2019 and received by the Township on May 13, 2019. 
 

4. Approval of the mixed use planned unit development is contingent on the approval of Special 
Use Permit #19091. 

 
5. The waivers requested for freestanding signs and window coverage are recommended for 

approval as depicted on the submitted site plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated April 15, 2019 
(revision date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019. 
 

6. The applicant shall provide the six additional required bicycle racks or come back to the 
Planning Commission and Township Board to request a waiver. 
 

7. Approval is subject to the applicant obtaining all necessary permits, licenses, and approvals 
from the Ingham County Road Department, Ingham County Drain Commissioner, Michigan 
Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), and the Township, as applicable.  
Copies of all permits and approval letters shall be submitted to the Department of Community 
Planning and Development. 
 

8. The utility, grading, and storm drainage plans for the site are subject to the approval of the 
Director of Public Works and Engineering and Ingham County Drain Commissioner and shall be 
completed in accordance with the Township Engineering Design and Construction Standards. 
 

9. No grading or land clearing shall take place on the site until the site plan has been approved by 
the Director of Community Planning and Development and grading and soil erosion and 
sedimentation control (SESC) permits have been issued for the project. 
 

10. All utility service distribution lines shall be installed underground. 
 

11. Approval is subject to the applicant either receiving a building permit for the 585 square foot 
garage building in the southeast corner of the site or removing the structure from the property.  

 
12. Any future building additions or revisions to the site layout will require amendments to Mixed 

Use Planned Unit Development #19014. 
 

13. The final design of the trash and recycling facilities and related enclosures shall be subject to 
the approval of the Director of Community Planning and Development. 

 
14. Site accessories such as railings, benches, exterior lighting fixtures, and bicycle racks shall be of 

commercial quality and complement the building design.  Final design and location shall be 
subject to the approval of the Director of Community Planning and Development. 



Resolution to Recommend Approval 
MUPUD #19014 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC) 
Page 3 
 

 
15. Landscaping shall comply with the provisions of the Code of Ordinances, including the 

standards outlined in Section 86-440(f)(4) and other applicable sections of the Ordinance 
pertaining to landscaping. 
 

16. Site and building lighting shall comply with Article VII of Chapter 38 of the Code of Ordinances 
and shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Community Planning and Development. 

 
17. All mechanical, heating, ventilation, air conditioning, and similar systems shall be screened from 

view by an opaque structure or landscape materials (if at street level) selected to complement 
the building.  Such screening is subject to the approval by the Director of Community Planning 
and Development. 

 
ADOPTED: YEAS: _______________________________________________________________________  
 
   _______________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                             
  NAYS: _______________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a 
true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 10th day of June, 2019. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       John Scott-Craig 
       Planning Commission Chair 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\MIXED USE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS (MUPUD)\2019\MUPUD 19014 (Louis J. 
Eyde Family, LLC)\MUPUD 19014 resolution PC approval.pc1.docx 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
 
  Mackenzie Dean, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  June 6, 2019 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC), request to develop a 

two-story office building greater than 25,000 square feet located at 2814 Eyde 
Parkway. 

 
 
Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC has submitted a mixed use planned unit development (MUPUD) proposal 
for a project located at 2827 Eyde Parkway, to be addressed as 2814 Eyde Parkway.  The applicant 
is requesting to construct a two-story, 36,156 square foot office building located at 2814 Eyde 
Parkway.  The 6.32 acre subject site is zoned PO (Professional and Office) conditioned on 
development using the mixed use planned unit development ordinance.  
 
The construction of any building or group of buildings with a combined gross floor area greater than 
25,000 square feet requires a special use permit due to the significant impact such development may 
have upon adjacent property owners, neighborhoods, and public infrastructure.  The Code of 
Ordinances requires the special use permit to ensure that public utilities, roads, and other 
infrastructure systems are or will be adequate to support the proposed development. 
 
The special use permit is being processed concurrently with the MUPUD request.  The staff report for 
MUPUD #19014 should be referenced for a more complete overview of the project.  
 
Staff Analysis 
 
The special use permit review criteria found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances should be 
used when evaluating the proposed special use permit.  The Planning Commission makes a 
recommendation on the special use permit request and the Township Board has final approval.  
 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the special use permit.  The 
Planning Commission may choose to suspend bylaw 6.4a to make a decision on the request on the same 
night as the public hearing.  Resolutions to suspend bylaw 6.4a and to recommend approval of the SUP 
with conditions are provided. 
 
 Move to suspend Planning Commission Bylaw 6.4a to consider Special Use Permit #19091 

on the same night as the public hearing.  
 

 Move to adopt the resolution to recommend approval of Special Use Permit #19091 with 
conditions. 

 
 
 
 



 
Special Use Permit #19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)  
Planning Commission (June 10, 2019) 
Page 2 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

Attachments 
 
1. Special use permit application received by the Township on April 18, 2019. 
2. Resolution to recommend approval.  
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\SPECIAL USE PERMITS (SUP)\2019\SUP 19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)\Staff 
Reports\SUP 19091.pc1.docx 

 











RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Special Use Permit #19091 
 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC) 
 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 10th 
day of June, 2019, at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                             
 
  _________________________________________________________________                                                            
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                              
 
 The following resolution was offered by _____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 
 

WHEREAS, Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC has submitted a request to construct a project identified 
as 2814 Eyde Parkway on 6.32 acres located east of Hagadorn Road and south of Eyde Parkway; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed special use permit includes the construction of a two-story, 36,156 
square foot multi-tenant office building; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on June 10, 

2019, and has reviewed staff material forwarded under the cover memorandum dated June 6, 2019; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, a special use permit is required for constructing a group of buildings totaling more 

than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned PO (Professional and Office), which 
permits the construction of buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in floor area by special use 
permit; and 

 
WHEREAS, the special use permit meets the conditions established in Rezoning #08080 for 

residential density; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 
special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and 

 
WHEREAS, municipal water and sanitary sewer is available to serve the subject site. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Special Use Permit #19091, subject to 
the following conditions: 
 
1. Approval is in accordance with the site plan and landscape plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated 

April 15, 2019 (revision date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019. 
 

2. Approval is in accordance with the building elevations and floor plans prepared by Bergmann 
Associates dated April 15, 2019 and received by the Township on May 13, 2019. 



Resolution to Recommend Approval 
SUP #19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC) 
Page 2 
 

 
3. Approval of the special use permit is subject to all conditions placed on Mixed Use Planned Unit 

Development #19014 by the Township. 
 

4. Approval is subject to the applicant either receiving a building permit for the 585 square foot 
garage building in the southeast corner of the site or removing the structure from the property.  
 

5. Approval is subject to the conditions established in Rezoning #08080. 
 

6. Any future building additions will require an amendment to the special use permit. 
 
ADOPTED: YEAS: _______________________________________________________________________  
 
   _______________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                             
  NAYS: _______________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a 
true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 10th day of June, 2019. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       John Scott-Craig 
       Planning Commission Chair 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\SPECIAL USE PERMITS (SUP)\2019\SUP 19091 (Louis J. Eyde Family, LLC)\SUP 19091 
resolution PC approval.pc1.docx 



 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
 
  Justin Quagliata, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  June 7, 2019 
 
Re: Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034 (Meridian Township Parks 

and Recreation Department), establish Marketplace on the Green/Farmers’ 
Market on the south side of Central Park Drive, west of Marsh Road. 

 
 
At its meeting on May 20, 2019 the Planning Commission held a public hearing for a request to 
establish a commercial planned unit development (C-PUD) on a currently undeveloped parcel 
identified by Parcel Number 15-300-031.  The development plans include constructing a 14,650 
square foot pavilion with 40 vendor spaces and a 480 square foot office/restroom building.  At the 
meeting the Planning Commission agreed to consider a resolution to recommend approval of the 
C-PUD request at its next meeting. 
 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the C-
PUD.  A resolution to recommend approval is attached. 
 

 Motion to adopt the attached resolution to recommend approval of C-PUD #19034. 
 
Attachment 
1. Resolution to recommend approval. 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\COMMERCIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (CPUD)\2019\CPUD 19034 (Parks 
Department)\CPUD 19034.pc2.docx 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Commercial Planned Unit Development #19034 
 (Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department) 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 10th 
day of June, 2019, at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                             
 
  _________________________________________________________________                                                            
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________                                                              
 
 The following resolution was offered by _____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department has submitted a 
request to establish a commercial planned unit development (C-PUD) on a currently undeveloped 
parcel identified by Parcel Number 15-300-031; and 
 

WHEREAS, the development plans include constructing a 14,650 square foot pavilion with 40 
vendor spaces and a 480 square foot office/restroom building; and 
 

WHEREAS, the 2.43 acre subject site is appropriately zoned C-3 (Commercial), which allows 
for a commercial planned unit development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on May 20, 
2019 and has reviewed staff material forwarded under a cover memorandum dated May 17, 2019; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the commercial planned unit development ordinance is intended to provide 
reasonable flexibility for development of commercial sites to ensure the continuing economic 
viability of the Township’s commercial areas; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed commercial planned unit development will be harmonious and 
appropriate with the existing and intended character of adjacent commercial developments 
surrounding the subject site; and 
 

WHEREAS, the requested waivers for parking lot landscape buffers are necessary to 
facilitate development of the site due to constraints related to the nature of the proposed land use; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the number and type of amenities provided in the commercial planned unit 

development are consistent with the requirements, guidelines, and criteria stated in Section 86-
444(e)(2) of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed commercial planned unit development will be adequately served 
by public water and sanitary sewer; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with Objectives A and D of Goal 3 of the 2017 
Master Plan to upgrade commercial areas; and 



Resolution to Approve 
C-PUD #19034 (Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department) 
Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with Goal 2 of the 2019 Township Action Plan 
to complete the relocation of the Farmers’ Market to the “Marketplace on the Green” at the 
Meridian Mall. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Commercial Planned Unit Development 
#19034, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Approval is in accordance with the submitted site plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated April 9, 
2019 (revision date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019. 

 
2. Approval is in accordance with the amenities plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated April 9, 2019 

(revision date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019.  
 

3. The waivers requested for parking lot landscape buffers are recommended for approval as 
depicted on the Coversheet, Dimension, and Amenities Plan prepared by Kebs, Inc. dated April 
9, 2019 (revision date May 15, 2019) and received by the Township on May 15, 2019. 

 
4. Site accessories such as benches, trash and recycling receptacles, and bicycle racks shall be of 

commercial quality and complementary with the building design and style.  Proposed site 
accessories shall be subject to approval by the Director of Community Planning and 
Development.  

 
5. Site and building lighting shall comply with Article VII in Chapter 38 of the Code of Ordinances 

and are subject to the approval of the Director of Community Planning and Development. 
 

6. All mechanical, heating, ventilation, air conditioning, and similar systems shall be screened from 
view by an opaque structure or landscape material selected to complement the building.  Such 
screening is subject to approval by the Director of Community Planning and Development. 

 
7. The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits, licenses, and approvals from the Ingham 

County Drain Commissioner, Ingham County Road Department, and the Township.  Copies of all 
permits and approval letters shall be submitted to the Department of Community Planning and 
Development. 

 
8. The utility, grading, and storm drainage plans for the site are subject to the approval of the 

Director of Public Works and Engineering and Ingham County Drain Commissioner and shall be 
completed in accordance with the Township Engineering Design and Construction Standards. 

 
9. Any future building addition or expansion will require a modification to Commercial Planned 

Unit Development #19034. 
 
ADOPTED: YEAS: _______________________________________________________________________  
 
   _______________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                             
  NAYS: _______________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 



Resolution to Approve 
C-PUD #19034 (Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department) 
Page 3 
 

 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a 
true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 10th day of June, 2019. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       John Scott-Craig 
       Planning Commission Chair 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\COMMERCIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (CPUD)\2019\CPUD 19034 (Parks 
Department)\CPUD 19034 resolution PC.doc 

 



 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Peter Menser, Principal Planner 
 
  Mackenzie Dean, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  June 4, 2019 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #19031 & 19071 (Okemos Retail Management, LLC), work 

in the floodplain to develop a five tenant shopping center with a drive-
through window at 2085 Grand River. 

 
 
The Planning Commission held public hearings for special use permits (SUP) #19031 and #19071 
at its meeting on May 13, 2019.  During the hearings, the Planning Commission expressed concerns 
related to on-site traffic circulation and site ingress and egress resulting from the drive-through 
window.  The applicant’s traffic engineer will be in attendance at the June 10, 2019 meeting to 
further explain the request and to answer any additional questions from the Planning Commission. 
 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
special use permits.   Resolutions will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachment 
1. Submitted Detroit Free Press article regarding Chipotle drive-through window. 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\SPECIAL USE PERMITS (SUP)\2019\SUP 19031 (Okemos Retail Mgmt LLC) - drive-
thru\Staff Reports\SUP 19031 & 19071.pc2.docx 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



��������� ��	
��
�����	������	

�����
���	������
	�����	��������������	������ ���
�!��"""#����
#��$�����%��������	�$�����	�	������������&���	
��
��$��	������	

�����
	�����	�������	������ ��&'�������� ���()*+,-./012)+3)4.567+89.22+10+0/)7+.7+:1)92.7;+<).;-1=*.1-+>9.?)@1-9A+/.5BA/CDEFGHCIJFEKLMHNIOPQROHSPIIHTPIEE UVWXYZ[\]̂_̀aâbcdĉef̂ghîajk̂lman̂ôpqrFOIrHstsuHqvwvHxyHzFLHu{MH|}u~�+7)*+,-./012)+3)4.567+89.22+0/)7.7;+7)41+*))B+.7+:1)92.7;+<).;-1=+*.22+-6?)+6+>9.?)@1-9A�+�������������������������������"���	
��
�����	������	

�
����	�����������
����������������%�	������
	�����	�����"	

���������	��������	���	��	����������������	
��
���#�������"���	������ �
	�� 
�
����$�����%� �������������
	�������	�������

#����������������	������%��%� �

�����	������	�	��
����	�	���	������������������	�����%�����%� �
	���	�� 
����� ���������	
��
���#�������	��������	�	���
��������������������	��#�������"������ �����	��
�������������''������%�����������������	
������#����� ��� ��%���"����
��������	
��
������ �������	��� 
�
	�� 
�
�����"������	��������������"� 
�������
�������������"���¡���
����	����	��������
$������#�¢����	������"������	���������	��� 
�����	���	��
 �����	��������
 $� ����
���
����������
�������	���£����	

�������#���������������	��������#����������	
��
���	�����	�������
����"�����������	��"���
	�������������� ����������¤#���
	�� ��������������������
�������#��������	��"����� �����	������������	�������¥ �������������"���"�
�������	��£�"
����¦��������
	�#�� �	�������
����������
�%�������������	��������� ���������� 	
�	���	�§��	$���������� ����	���
������	����������
���������������	������� ���������
�	��	���������
�	������� ����������¤#���
	�� ���������������� ����#�����
��	�����%������������
	�����	�����
����	���������	�������� ���$���������������� ���������	������������	
��
������	��#������ ������� ���������!̈��#$#����
#$#


	June 10 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Agenda
	May 13 2019 Planning Commission Minutes DRAFT
	May 20 2019 Planning Commission Minutes DRAFT
	Communications received list 6-10-19
	All communications 6-10-19
	1 Haarish Tekchandani RE MUPUD 19024
	2 Rachael Young RE MUPUD 19024
	3 Chuck Maniaci RE MUPUD 19024
	4 Bob & Connie Nelson RE MUPUD 19024
	5 Yangfan attach medical marijuana dispensary density
	5 Yangfan Liu RE medical marihuana
	6 Chelsea Yao RE medical marihuana
	7 Haarish Tekchandani RE medical marihuana
	8 Mike Nevells RE MUPUD 19024
	9 Holly Zhu RE medical marihuana
	10 Tim Potter RE MUPUD 19024
	11 Scott Weaver RE MUPUD 19024
	12 Dianne Knepshield Deans RE MUPUD 19024
	13 Don Romain RE MUPUD 19024
	14 Marna Wilson RE MUPUD 19024
	15 Yingxin Zhou RE medical marihuana
	16 Lev Raphael RE MUPUD 19024
	17 Candy Parker RE REZ 19060
	18 Tom & Lora Pence RE MUPUD 19024
	19 Loren & Jessica Darling RE SUP 19-95151
	20 Scott Fairmont RE REZ 19060
	21 Jeff Jacobsen & Lisa Duffey RE REZ 19060
	22 Jessica Darling RE SUP 19-95151
	23 James & Carla Galligan RE REZ 19060
	24 Alex & Chetta Johnson RE SUP 19-95151
	25 Anu RE REZ 19060
	26 Yingxin Zhou RE medical marihuana
	27 Patrick Murphy RE REZ 19060
	28 Janet Lawatsch RE REZ 19060
	29 Dongman Choi & Hyeon Park RE REZ 19060
	30 Jim Rundquist RE REZ 19060
	31 Terry & Dawn Gawel RE SUP 19-95151
	32 Gerry & Connie Broski RE REZ 19060
	33 Tom & Martha Rand RE REZ 19060
	34 Champion Woods Condominium Association Board RE REZ 19060
	35 Zhiheng Bi & Xiamei Xu RE REZ 19060
	36 Matthew & Emery Dingee RE SUP 19-95151
	37 Debra & David Gift RE REZ 19060
	38 Timothy Peng RE SUP 19-95151
	39 Emma Setterington RE SUP 19-95151
	40 Jk Mir RE REZ 19060
	41 Joyce Wiesinger RE REZ 19060
	42 Earl Wiesinger RE REZ 19060
	43 Yingxin Zhou RE REZ 19060
	44 Yue Cui RE REZ 19060
	45 Scott & Gwen Hummel RE SUP 19-95151

	REZ 19060.pc1 with attachments
	REZ 19060.pc1
	REZ 19060 Rezoning Application
	REZ 19060 traffic study REVISED
	Updated
	TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT
	96.74 Acres on Bennett Road
	Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, MI
	Prepared by:
	Table of Contents
	Page
	PROJECT DESCRIPTION
	EXISTING CONDITIONS
	LAND USE
	A field review of the location for the proposed new roadway for the development on Bennett Road revealed that there could be an issue with sight distance for eastbound traffic on Bennett Road.  It is recommended that the site engineer provide a center...

	REZONING criteria

	SUP 19-95151.pc1 with attachments
	SUP 19-95151.pc1
	SUP 19-95151.pc1 with attachments
	SUP 19-95151 application with attachments
	SPR #00-06
	SUP 19-95151 Trip Generation Analysis


	MUPUD 19014.pc1 with attachments
	MUPUD 19014.pc1
	attachments
	MUPUD 19014 Application
	Site Plans 5-15-19
	Eyde Building 6 Architectural
	19-0415 Typ Exterior Elevation
	2827 Eyde Parkway Sign Design - received 5-14
	2827 Eyde Parkway Sign Site Plan - received 5-14
	Report Final
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	INTRODUCTION
	Project Description
	Scope of Work
	Aerial Photo

	EXISTING CONDITIONS
	Roadways and Intersections
	Land Use
	Existing Traffic Volumes
	Level of Service Analysis for Existing Traffic
	Table 1: Existing Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary

	BACKGROUND CONDITIONS
	Background Traffic Growth Volumes
	Background Development Traffic Volumes
	Level of Service Analysis for Background Traffic
	Table 2: Background Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary

	FUTURE CONDITIONS
	Site Traffic Generation
	Table 3: Vehicle Trip Generation Comparison Summary
	Site Traffic Distribution
	Level of Service Analysis for Future Traffic
	Table 4: Future Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary
	Level of Service Analysis for Future Mitigated Traffic
	Table 5: Future Mitigated Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Summary

	SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS
	Intersection Improvement Considerations
	Conclusions


	Planning Commission Letter


	SUP 19091.pc1 with attachments
	SUP 19091.pc1
	SUP 19091 Application
	SUP 19091 resolution PC approval.pc1

	CPUD 19034.pc2 with attachment
	CPUD 19034.pc2
	CPUD 19034 resolution PC

	SUP 19031 & 19071.pc2 with attachments
	SUP 19031 & 19071.pc2
	submitted Chipotle article




